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AXBEGR (35M) AFE2 T DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

DaChan Food (Asia) Limited has been listed on the Stock
Exchange since 2007. It is a leading fully integrated animal
protein product provider whose products range from feeds,
poultry and advanced nutritional formulas for animals to
processed foods. DaChan Food adopts a highly vertically
integrated business model, integrating feed production, chicken
hatching and slaughtering, chicken meat processing and
processed food production into a unified operating platform. The
Group has invested in 13 provinces and cities, including Liaoning,
Tianjin, and Anhui, with nearly 30 factories and over 8,000
employees in total. The Group processes approximately 100
million chickens annually, helping tens of thousands of farmers
to prosper through chicken breeding, with operating income over
RMB®6.5 billion. The Group has successfully developed into a
leading enterprise in the chicken meat, processed food and feed
markets in the PRC market.

DaChan Food's feeds business sells under the brands “Dr.
Nupak” (ffis2i#E+), “Green Knight” (4%85+) and “SOS". It has
rich experience in feeds production, successfully joined the ranks
of China’s leading feeds producers, and is one of the largest
feeds production enterprises in Asia. The Group has 13 large-
scale feeds production bases in mainland China, with many of its

feeds company selected as national high-tech enterprises.
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Most of DaChan Food's chicken meat and processed foods are
sold under the brand “Sisters’ Kitchen” (fE£kEFRE) (www.jmcf.
com.cn). It is the exclusive chicken supplier for the 2008 Beijing
Olympic Games and was awarded the National Key Leading
Enterprise in Agricultural Industrialisation, with four chicken
meat production facilities and seven processed food production
facilities. DaChan Food is a well-known supplier of processed
chicken meat in the PRC. It is one of the designated suppliers of
chicken meat to fast food chains such as “Dicos” ({5 1) and
“Wallace” (Z2# 1), as well as the designated exporter of quality
chicken meat products in the PRC to “Ito Yokado" ((REEF%E
%) in Japan and 7-Eleven convenience store chains in Japan.
With the export of our products to Japan, Singapore and other
countries as well as Hong Kong, China, the Group’s market share
is increasing year by year, creating huge social and economic
benefits.

== = (Y4 53R Annual Report 2024
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In 2009, the Group officially initiated the “transparent source”
project, a food safety management system providing full
traceability from farm to table throughout, enabling consumers
to trace product information such as the name of the farmers,
the locations of the farms of origin, the animal feeds consumed,
and the factories where the foods were processed. Food safety
and quality are of the utmost importance, and DaChan Food has
earned numerous industry awards and recognitions thanks to its

high standard of quality control.

In 2021, the Company continued its upward development by
investing more than RMB1 billion to initiate the Bengbu DaChan
Phase Il Project in Bengbu, Anhui Province and expand the
breeding of chickens, feed, slaughter, cooked food and automatic
cold storage projects, etc., which was put into operation in 2023.
With “integrity” and “modesty” in mind, DaChan Food is always
forward-looking to provide consumers with safe and secure meat
and animal protein products, and it is an environmentally-friendly
enterprise with excellent quality, food safety and high hygiene
standards.
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BREREF (AR T Basic profit per share (RMB) 0.06 0.05 25.1%
AELRERITR%) Return on total assets (%) 2.17% 1.99% 9.1%
Tz B3R (%) Return on equity (%) 3.47% 3.17% 9.6%
*BEEm R *Gearing ratio 23.3% 22.3% 4.9%
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Turnover by Business Segment

44.1% 26.4% 36.2% 28.5%
° ° ° °

2024 2023
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29.5% 35.3%
® ©n5 Meat @ 2FEE Feeds to External Customers () MI&® Processed Foods
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Strengthening the Food Brand,

Driving Integration of Production and Sales

K Em (3EM) APR2A T DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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Chairman’s Statement

Dear Stakeholders,

Thank you for your relentless support towards Dachan Food!

In 2024, the turbulence and uncertainty of the global landscape
has elevated dramatically. Against the background of escalating
geopolitical conflicts, intensified great power competition as
well as an obvious trend towards deglobalisation in trade, the
world was in a persistent low growth interval. With insufficient
domestic effective demand and overcapacity in some industries,
certain enterprises suffered from difficulties in operation and
residents’ confidence in consumption was weak. China has
successively introduced a number of policies to boost market

confidence with a view to drive consumption recovery.

In recent years, there has been an imbalance in the development
pace of the supply and demand of the white feather broiler
industry in China, leading to a relative overcapacity on the supply
side. Oversupply caused intensified competition within the
industry, severely squeezing the profit along the entire industrial
chain. In the face of increasing involution of the competitive
environment, the Company took the initiative to restructure
its business model, focus on downstream food processing,
increase the scale of deep food processing while downscale
the upstream breeding operation to gradually reduce the risk of
price fluctuations of the white feather broiler market. Adhering
to the customer-oriented approach as always, the Company has
been developing differentiated products and processed products
through deep understanding of the needs of value customers,
strengthening both its product and sales competitiveness as well

as putting great efforts in raising the value of each chicken.

—Z Y F$R Annual Report 2024
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KREBE (M) APFR/2A T DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

This was the fourth year for the Company to concentrate its
efforts in China and food processing transformation. From the
disposal of its Southeast Asian feeds business to the parent
company in 2021 to commencement of the Bengbu food
processing facilities for one-stop food production chain in the
third quarter of 2023, the Company has continued to focus its
resources on the strategic adjustments of food development.
Benefiting from this core strategy, when the domestic broiler
market was depressed, the Company's overall results has
become more robust because of the risk hedging between the
meat segment and the foods segment. In 2024, the operating
income of the foods segment grew by 11% year-on-year despite
the highly challenging competitive environment, accounting for
44% of the Company's total operating income and 71% of its
gross profit, making it the Company’s most important source of

profitability and growth driver.

TAKING THE FOODS SEGMENT AS THE
LEAD AND DRIVING THE CONTINUOUS
GROWTH OF THE WHOLE CHAIN OF
BUSINESS

In recent years, in order to cushion the impact of cyclical
fluctuations in the livestock and poultry market on profitability,
large-scale rearing and breeding enterprises have increased
their investment in food processing in the downstream of the
industrial chain, which has led to increasingly fierce competition
in the food business. The PRC market is enormous, and paying
focused attention is the only way out for small and medium
enterprises. Following the changes in the living habit, higher
demands on food safety, tastiness and convenience, and the
increase in market scenarios, numerous opportunities will be

brought to the Company.
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Chairman’s Statement

SPECIALIZING SALES CHANNELS WITH DIVERSIFIED PRODUCTS

With in-depth development in domestic meat and food
product market for over a decade, we believe that the
Company has a leading edge in the industry regarding
channel setup and team building, etc. We will strengthen
our investment in research and development of food sales
channels, continue to promote channel specialization, and
design products with different price ranges according to
different consumption scenarios, in order to cope with
the ever-changing consumption trend in the existing
market. We will continuously optimise our product mix
through ongoing transformation and upgrade to satisfy
the emerging needs of the market and consumers, which
includes developing healthier and tastier fully-cooked
products that meet quality standards, as well as promoting
antibiotics-free, additive-free and clean label measures
along the supply chain.

CONTINUING INVESTMENT IN THE FOOD BUSINESS AND
PRIORITISING RESOURCES TO EXPAND AND STRENGTHEN THE

PROCESSED FOOD OPERATIONS

We will continue to expand our food production capacity
and increase our investment intensity in equipment and
skills in the food supply chain, research and development
and digital operation, so as to further strengthen our
dominant position in the food processing industry. Through
comprehensive assessment of the external market and
competitive condition combined with an objective analysis
of the Company's strengths and weaknesses, we decided
to build our core competitiveness by focusing on two
regions: the one-stop domestic food production competitive
advantage in the Yangtze River Delta region with Bengbu,
Anhui Province as the core, and the one-stop exported food
production competitive advantage in northeast China region

with Dalian as the core.
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BEING CUSTOMER DEMAND-ORIENTED, RECONSTRUCTING
THE INTEGRATED SUPPLY CHAIN AND REDUCING THE RISK OF

MARKET FLUCTUATIONS

By closely monitoring the changes in the catering and
consumer markets, the Company, driven by customer
demands, restructured a supply chain system of
downstream food processing, midstream broiler
slaughtering and upstream breeding with a model of more
downstream food production and sales and less upstream
breeding, in order to respond flexibly to the uncertainties in
the external market.

KEEPING SUFFICIENT CASH AND MAKING PROGRESS
WHILE MAINTAINING STABILITY

In the face of the critical and complicated external
environment, we insisted that it is crucial to keep sufficient
cash and not to pursue blindly on upscaling upstream
breeding, so as to strive to remain invincible in the

increasingly fierce elimination of the industry.

Through business model transformation, structural
adjustment, inventory reduction, refined management,
cost reduction and efficiency improvement as well as more
robust financial operations, the Company has achieved a
cash inflow from operations of over three times the net
profit before taxation and a safe financial gearing ratio in
2024, which provides a reliable capital guarantee for the

subsequent expansion of processed food capacity.
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Chairman’s Statement

DIGITALISED MANAGEMENT AND AUTOMATED
PRODUCTION

We operate in a traditional industry that is labor-intensive.
With the decline in the birth rate and the aging trend
of China, the demographic dividend has disappeared.
In response to this change, the Company continued to
increase its investment in automation and digitalization, and
advanced production processes and automated processing
equipment has been extensively applied to the new one-
stop meat and food production line in Bengbu. Moreover,
the Company launched an ERP upgrade project in the
fourth quarter of this year. In the future, we will continue
to optimize data analysis and decision support with more
powerful system functions to ultimately achieve intelligent

digital management.

PRACTISING ESG CONCEPTS AND PURSUING LONG-
TERM SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

We have always attached great importance to
environmental, social and corporate governance, and our
sustainable development strategy is integrated to our
corporate culture and operation plans in order to achieve
the Company’s sustainable business development and
further enhance its value.

Through a three-tier management, execution and
supervision mechanism at all levels of the Board, the
Executive Committee and the management, ESG, in
particular corporate governance has become an operating
philosophy in all aspects of the Company. In July 2024, the
Company was awarded an A grade in the Wind ESG rating.
The middle-office function supported by the ESG system
provides the front-end business departments with strong

enabling support and a reliable risk control barrier.

—Z Y F$R Annual Report 2024
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In 2025, the international political and economic
environment and the domestic economic situation are still
fraught with uncertainties. In the face of the complex and
volatile external environment, the Company’s business
strategy remains focused on seeking progress while
maintaining stability and continuing in the building of long-
term relative competitiveness: concentrating resources
on the food product development and accelerating the
growth pace of food product so as to drive the overall
development of one-stop solutions; continuing to promote
the diversification of feeds products and channels in order
to counter the risk of the hog cycle and the changes in
the market landscape; continuing to adjust the business
model of meat products, focusing on the differentiation of
products and enhancement of products’ value to lower the

impact of market fluctuations on operating results.

As an enterprise dedicated to meeting consumers’ demand
for high-quality food product, we will continue to improve
product quality and the service level. We are confident and
determined to overcome the challenges in the external
environment and continue to further cultivate in China's
food market. We will continue to uphold the concept of
honesty and integrity in our operations, provide consumers
with safe and healthy food products, further strengthen
our corporate governance system, proactively assume
our corporate social responsibility, and withstand the
uncertainties of the external environment with sustainable

and high-quality development.

M ESAIHIEFE - Thank you for all your support.
e Chairman

2R James Chun-Hsien Wei

BB Hong Kong

~“E-RF=A March 2025

12 KFES (Z5M) A2 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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STRATEGIC DIRECTION

In 2024, the international political, economic, technological,
cultural and security landscape continued to undergo profound
changes with the ongoing Russo-Ukrainian conflict, instability in
the Middle East and the shift of developed countries’ policies
towards trade protectionism, which overlapped with uncertainties
in the monetary policy of the US Federal Reserve, leading
to rising global systemic risks. While the Chinese economy
maintained its recovery momentum, it still faced challenges such
as insufficient domestic effective demand, overcapacity in certain

industries as well as weak social expectation.

In 2024, the domestic volume of white feather broiler reached a
new historical high, but the growth has narrowed greatly when
compared with that of the previous year. The whole industry
may enter a low growth cycle, and the industrial competition
has changed from the competition in new markets to the more
intense competition in existing markets. At the same time,
the problems of insufficient market demand and the relative
overcapacity on the supply side have become increasingly
prominent as oversupply caused prices of feather chickens and
chicken meat to fall by more than 10% year-on-year, leading
to severe losses in the white feather broiler breeding and
slaughtering segments. Small-scale enterprises faltered in the
intense market competition and were successively eliminated,
while leading enterprises accelerated their resource integration
and scale-up through their overall strength, the industry entered

a stage of deep adjustments.

—Z = Q4 F 3R Annual Report 2024
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ABEGH (35M) APFE2 ) DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

Under the complex and dynamic external environment as well
as the industry landscape of oversupply, the Group maintained
its strategic focus and did not blindly pursue the scale-up of
the upstream of industrial chain but focused on the field of
downstream food processing instead, and insisted on taking
the processed food segment as the lead to drive the synergistic
development of the whole industrial chain. In 2024, domestic
catering revenue in China grew by 5.3% year-on-year, and the
trend towards chain operation in catering has become more
pronounced. By virtue of the experiences accumulated from
years of in-depth development in the catering market, as well
as an leading edge on channel layout, product research and
development, services for major customers, etc., the Group
kept abreast of the market development trend towards chain
operation in catering, spared no efforts in the development
of chain catering customers, and achieved significant results.
In 2024, the Group's food sales income from major chain
catering customers realized a rapid growth of 43% year-on-year,
becoming an important driver for the growth of the processed
food business.



y

BEEENWEDS

RE-_ZT_RF - MEBUAERIARERLE
BRI EE NS @RFE2REBENEX
Hx - BAKETE @ BTGB IEELERE
BRI RHOTERRERAEMR  EXAERE
AENBIHERK - MERERFRRAT
AR (e REEBERERBREENETSEE
KEEAEET - REEFOZETENE -
ARRFEBARBRATBHEBRERRARE
5B TEHSHHHKRER « LR RIRE - 12
THEE - AREDEMS T RESE(LS
HmBER - YBAMEERN - BREEE
BEFPRHE 2o SHNEE RIERSRE
E o R - WRZTE - AmIEEL
—“ESEBRERT - BIHEERFE - Bae
feEa - BHERERE  RREEWEX 1
SRABIEBNERET I EGEREES

S 45 ol jgR

TE_NEFEAESEEERARBARE
5,834,604F T - BRAFEEATFE9.1% « IR
FE(REFI B ARKSS,831F T » BREFRH
EHN25.1% - BEWARLL TEMNEZRER
INE FIRLE IR A RIERA24.0% + A&
WAL A 15.9% © il - RE\BEBSARE
TRENKRREY - AZWAEERNDFRL
DRIERE10.7%F19.2% °

Management Discussion and Analysis

Looking ahead to 2025, geopolitical conflicts and uncertainties
in the economic policies of the United States will still be the
major factors affecting the global economy. As for the domestic
economy, while the conflict between structural overcapacity
and insufficient demand have not been fundamentally resolved
and the pressure of industrial restructuring remains relatively
high, with the gradual implementation of government policies
and measures to boost domestic demands and promote the
development of private economy, the economic fundamentals
will rebound and the long-term positive momentum will not
change. The Company will continue to take the foods segment
as the lead to drive the growth in Group's results and keep
looking for new sources of growth; the Company will also take
the feeds segment as the foundation to increase the sales
volume and simultaneously diversify its market risks by the
diversification of products and channels, while optimizing the
operating model of meat products, focusing on the development
of valued customers, raising the value of each chicken and
strengthening the cash flow management. With the synergy of
scale-up of food production, diversification of feeds and meat
product value-adding working in tandem, the Company has
been progressing steadily on digital and smart transformation
as well as optimization of supply chain management to improve
its operational efficiency and enhance its overall industrial

competitiveness and risk resistance.
BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2024, the operating income of the Group amounted to
RMB5,834,604 thousand, representing a decrease of 9.1%
over the corresponding period of last year. Profit attributable to
shareholders amounted to RMB58,831 thousand, representing an
increase of 25.1% over the corresponding period of last year. The
main reasons for the year-on-year decline in operating income
were a 24.0% year-on-year decrease in the operating income
of the feeds business for external sales and a 15.9% year-on-
year decrease in the operating income of the meat product
business. However, the food products business sustained a
momentum of robust growth, with the operating income and the
gross profit increasing by 10.7% and 9.2% respectively over the

corresponding period of last year.

—Z = Q4 F 3R Annual Report 2024
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In the fourth quarter, the operating income of the Group
amounted to RMB1,517,786 thousand, representing a decrease
of 4.2% over the corresponding period of last year. Profit
attributable to shareholders amounted to RMB21,921 thousand,
achieving a turnaround over the corresponding period of last year
and increasing by 212.0%.

In 2024, the processed foods business, feeds business and meat
product business accounted for 44.1%, 29.5% and 26.4% of the
Group’s total operating income, and 71.2%, 19.6% and 9.2%
of its total gross profit, respectively. Processed foods were the
Group's largest source of operating income and profit. Taking the
processed foods segment as the lead to drive the continuous

growth of the Group's results had been effective.

LA PROCESSED FOODS
—EB-EF —T-= ERBE DL
2024 2023 % change
KEWANRETT) Turnover (RMB’000)
—HE A — Mainland China 2,256,289 2,063,168 9.4
—HA - Export 315,562 259,802 21.5
A&t Total 2,571,851 2,322,970 10.7
EMAREFT) Gross profit (RMB'000)
— B A — Mainland China 466,351 423,389 10.1
—HA — Export 55,670 54,497 2.2
&5t Total 522,021 477,886 9.2
EFE(%) Gross profit margin (%)
—RERH — Mainland China 20.7 20.5
—HA — Export 17.6 21.0
&t Total 20.3 20.6

TENENIRMS
RER10.7%HM9.2% » F

ESYNES )
MEEMIR RS

In 2024, the operating income and gross profit of processed

foods increased by 10.7% and 9.2% respectively year-on-year.

FWABEERNEEF RS R RE.7 %M
5.5% °
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The operating income and gross profit of processed foods in the
fourth quarter increased by 8.7% and 5.5% respectively over the

corresponding period of last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The domestic catering market in China has been recovering
relatively slow with a significant trend of consumption
downgrade, which has put some pressure on the rapid growth of
the foods business. The domestic food sales team continuously
invested more resources in major chain catering customers and
worked closely with strategic customers in product research
and development as well as supply chain. At the same time,
the Group has also focused its resources on continuously
increasing the promotion of membership stores, supermarket
chains, community convenience stores, e-commerce platforms
and other retail channels to increase customer stickiness
through consumer-side brand exposure. The Group has been
increasing its investment in research and development and
deeply discovering customer demands so as to explore new
production technologies and expand its product range, striving to
create more successful products. The Group also leveraged the
steady progression of digital transformation to improve supply
chain efficiency and to better serve the needs of customers. In
2024, the operating income and gross profit of the domestic food
business increased by 9.4% and 10.1% respectively year-on-
year.

For the export market, the food export sales team continued to
further cultivate the Japanese market, continuously expanded
into new product categories, new channels and new customers.
At the same time, it also increased its efforts in developing
export markets in addition to Japan to mitigate the risks of
over-concentration in export markets. The food export sales
team leveraged the advantages of new product development,
strived to develop products that better meet the demands of
international markets, and improved product quality and safety
to satisfy the needs of consumers in different countries and
regions. In 2024, the operating income and gross profit of the
food exports increased by 21.5% and 2.2% respectively year-on-
year.

As consumer awareness towards healthy diet increases and food
safety standards become more stringent, the market demand for
high-quality processed foods will continue to grow. In the future,
the Company will further expand its food production capacity,
adopt more advanced production technology and equipment,
develop differentiated, high-quality and cost-effective products,
accelerate the progress on the scale-up of food production, so
as to further strengthen its market competitiveness in the food
industry.

—Z = Q4 F 3R Annual Report 2024
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BEHELCGREEEF) LivEsTocK FEEDS (FROM EXTERNAL CUSTOMERS)
—ECMEF —EC=F WRESL
2024 2023 % change
KEWAANRETFT) Turnover (RMB'000) 1,720,637 2,263,279 24.0
EMARETT) Gross profit (RMB’000) 143,933 153,597 6.3
EFE (%) Gross profit margin (%) 8.4 6.8
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In 2024, the operating income of the feeds business decreased
by 24% year-on-year and the gross profit decreased by 6.3%
year-on-year. In the fourth quarter, the operating income of the
feeds business decreased by 19.2% over the corresponding
period of last year and the gross profit decreased by 15.1% over

the corresponding period of last year.

From 2023 to the first half of 2024, continuous losses incurred
from the breeding operation for more than a year accelerated
the reduction of excess production capacity and the industry
integration of the domestic pig breeding. Small-scale farms such
as free-range farmers and family farms suffered heavy losses.
Facing difficulties in cash flow, they were forced to reduce their
stocks or even cease to breed, resulting in a year-on-year decline
in the Company's pig feeds sales. In the face of a shrinking
existing customer base, the feeds team actively adjusted its
operation strategy, strengthened cooperation with medium and
large-scale hog breeding farms to maintain its market share
through the OEM model. Moreover, it also continued to increase
efforts in the research and development of ruminant feeds and
small-category feeds products as well as channel development,
actively expanded markets and customers beyond pig feeds and
diversified product categories to mitigate market risks through
diversification. At the same time, the Group speeded up the
pace of integration of the middle office functions, strengthened
product research and development, raw material procurement,
production technology, quality control, technical services and
other cross-functional collaborations, promoted the diversification
of the use of raw materials, took multiple measures
simultaneously for cost reduction and efficiency improvement
and increased the relative competitiveness of products and

services.
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A MEeAT PRODUCTS
—EClEF —EC=F ERBED
2024 2023 % change
KEWA(ARETFT) Turnover (RMB’000) 1,542,116 1.832,717 -15.9
EMARE T Gross profit (RMB’000) 67,453 31,207 116.1
FEFE(%) Gross profit margin (%) 4.4 1.7
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In 2024, the operating income of the meat product business
decreased by 15.9% year-on-year while the gross profit
increased by 116.1% year-on-year. In the fourth quarter, the
operating income of the meat product business decreased by
2.3% over the corresponding period of last year, while the gross
profit achieved a turnaround over the corresponding period of
last year and increased by 178.1%.

Due to the limited recovery of the domestic market
consumption, the white feather broiler industry as a whole was
in an oversupply in 2024. Among the segments in the industrial
chain, apart from breeders which could still make a profit, both
of broiler breeding and slaughtering business suffered from
losses. In response to the unfavorable market situation, the
meat product team accelerated the pace of business model
transformation from production and supply oriented to terminal
customer demand-driven breeding and slaughtering model,
increasing the flexibility of its supply chain and enhancing relative
competitiveness. In the upstream of the industrial chain, the
meat product team adjusted the cooperation mode with contract
farmers, so that the cost of the Company’s feather chickens
can be as close to the market as possible, establishing a good
ecosystem of benefit and risk sharing between the contract
farmers and the Company. In the midstream of the industrial
chain, the meat product team reduced production and processing
fees as well as indirect fees by automated production and lean
management, and continued to promote cost reduction and
efficiency improvement. In the downstream of the industrial
chain, the meat product team focused on the development of
fine processing and differentiated products and continuously
increased the value of each chicken. By working together with
the foods business, actively developing customers such as
membership stores and supermarket chains which value product
quality, eliminating price-sensitive customers, and optimizing
its sales channels, the Company has continuously enhanced
its brand value. Through the aforementioned comprehensive
adjustment and transformation, the performance of the meat
products business improved significantly in 2024.

—Z = Q4 F 3R Annual Report 2024
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FINANCIAL REVIEW:

1)

2)

OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND OPERATING EXPENSES

In 2024, the Group recorded other operating income of
RMB24,930 thousand (2023: RMB25,192 thousand) which
mainly comprised of interest income and government
subsidies. The decrease in other operating income was

mainly due to the decrease in interest income.

In 2024, other net losses of the Group amounted to
RMB1,833 thousand (2023: net gain of RMB317 thousand).
Other net losses mainly includes net loss on the disposal of
assets.

Distribution costs accounted for 6.11% of total turnover
(2023: 5.26%).

Administrative expenses accounted for 4.86% of turnover
(2023: 3.88%).

LiQuipIiTy, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's cash and bank
deposit balances amounted to RMB469,747 thousand,
representing a decrease of RMB57,193 thousand
from 2023. In 2024, the Group's net cash generated
from operations amounted to RMB306,153 thousand,
representing a decrease of RMB101,099 thousand from
2023. The Group's interest-bearing borrowings increased
by RMB37,158 thousand to RMB567,237 thousand (2023:
RMB530,079 thousand). As at 31 December 2024, the
interest-bearing borrowings to equity ratio was 23.3%
(2023: 22.3%). Current ratio was maintained at a healthy
level of 1.55 times (2023: 1.56 times).
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

In 2024, the Group's capital expenditure on the acquisition
of properties, machinery and equipment amounted to
RMB335,465 thousand which was primarily paid from

internal resources and bank borrowings.
EXCHANGE RATE

The Group's business transactions are mainly denominated
in RMB and USD. During the year under review, RMB
against USD depreciated by 1.47%.

INTEREST

In 2024, the Group's interest expense amounted to
RMB23,168 thousand (2023: RMB17,738 thousand),
representing an increase of 30.6% from 2023. The increase
in interest expenses was mainly due to the increase in
the average outstanding borrowings and that part of the
interest was capitalized during the corresponding period of

last year.

Di1vIDENDS

To reserve the resources for the Group's business
development, the Board decides not to distribute any
dividend for the year 2024 (2023: no distribution).

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no security
against bank facilities.
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8) CAPITAL COMMITMENT

As at 31 December 2024, the capital expenditure of the
Group contracted for but not provided in the financial
statements was RMB45,114 thousand (2023: RMB70,827
thousand) and the capital expenditure authorised but
not contracted for was RMB93,814 thousand (2023:
RMB227,107 thousand).

EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION AND
TRAINING

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 8,324
employees (31 December 2023: 7,972). The Group has paid
remuneration to its staff with reference to the industry practice,
the financial performance of the Group and the employee’s
work performance in order to form a team of professional
staff and management to fulfil the development needs of the
Company. The Group places great emphasis on the training and
development of employees and regards excellent employees
as the Group's core competitiveness. With a view to constantly
enhancing their job skills and industry knowledge, the Group has
offered various training programs to its members of management
and other employees. The Group implemented these programs
not only to enhance the quality of its staff, but also to give best
chances for development of their personal career. The Group
regularly reviews compensation and benefit policies according
to industry benchmarks, financial results as well as the individual
performance of employees so as to offer fair and competitive
compensation packages to the employees. Other fringe benefits
including insurance, medical benefits and provident fund are also
provided to retain loyal employees.
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DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei (£ &), also known as Wei, Chun-
hsien, aged 67, has been appointed as an executive Director
of the Company, the chairman of the board of directors of the
Company, and a member and the chairman of the executive
committee of the Company with effect from 1 March 2021,
and has assumed an additional position of Chief Executive
Officer of the Company with effect from 1 September 2022. Mr.
James Chun-Hsien Wei is an independent director of Taiwan
Ta Ya Electric Wire & Cable Company Limited, which shares
are listed on Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation (“Taiwan
Stock Exchange”), a director of ShyaHsin Packaging Co., Ltd., a
director of KSF Beverage Holding Co., Ltd. and a director of Taixu
& DaChan Foods Co., Limited, and a senior advisor to Blackstone
Private Equity Group. Mr. James Chun- Hsien Wei served as
the chief executive officer of the Tingyi (Caymans Islands)
Holding Corp (“Tingyi Holding”), which shares are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Hong Kong Stock
Exchange”) from 2015 to 2020, and the chief executive officer
of food business of Tingyi Holding from 2013 to 2014. Prior to
joining Tingyi Holding, Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei was a senior
advisor to CVC Capital Asia Pacific in 2012. From 2009 to 2011,
he was the executive board member and the president of the
Asian region of Beiersdorf Aktiengesellschaft Group. From 2003
to 2009, he served as the senior vice president of Asia Pacific
region of Avon Products Inc., where he was responsible for the
operations in 10 markets, including Japan, Taiwan, Australia, the
Philippines and India. Before that, Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei
spent 19 years at Procter & Gamble, where he was promoted
to become the vice president and general manager of Greater
China region, overseeing the company’s health and beauty care
business in that region.

Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei holds a bachelor's degree in
Electrical Engineering from National Taiwan University and a
master's degree in Business Administration from the University

of Chicago Booth School of Business in the United States.
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Mr. Han Chia-Yin (§83 &), aged 64, has been appointed as
an executive Director of the Company and a member of the
executive committee of the Company since 27 October 2011. He
was the Chief Executive Officer of the Company from 1 March
2012 to 1 April 2016. He also serves as a director of Great Wall
Enterprise Co., Ltd. ("GWE"), a company incorporated in Taiwan,
with its shares listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange, and it is
the indirect controlling shareholder of the Company. He was the
general manager of the Great Wall Group Food Service Division
and held a number of positions in several associations of the food
industry in Taiwan. He is also a director of Impreza Investments
Limited, Great Wall Dalian Investment Co., Ltd., Dongbei Agri
Corporation, Great Wall Kuang-Ming Investment (BVI) Co., Ltd.,
Miyasun Great Wall (BVI) Co., Ltd., Great Wall Northeast Asia
Corporation, Taixu & DaChan Foods Co., Limited and Great Wall
Food (Dalian) Co., Limited (KB & dn (Ri&) AR A F).

Mr. Han Chia-Yin graduated from Feng Chia University in Taiwan
with a bachelor’s degree in Information Engineering & Computer
Science and obtained a master’s degree in Computer Science
from the University of New Haven in USA. He is a younger
brother of Mr. Han Chia-Yau, Mr. Harn Jia-Chen and Mr. Han Jia-

Hwan and an uncle of Mr. Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chao Tien-Shin (X £), aged 78, has been a non-executive
Director of the Company since 2007. He has served as a director
of GWE since 2007. He is also the chairman and a director of

CTS Investment Corporation and Zhi Fu Investment Corporation.

Mr. Chao Tien-Shin graduated from Tamkang University (T
KE) with a bachelor's degree in irrigation engineering. He has
extensive business management experience in information
technology industry and traditional industries, such as food and

services.

Mr. Han Chia-Yau (¥3XF), aged 75, has been a non-executive
Director of the Company and a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company since 2007. Mr. Han Chia-Yau
joined GWE in 1991 and he was the vice chairman of the board
of directors of GWE from 1995 to 2001. Since 2001, he has
been the chairman of GWE. He is also a director of TTET Union

Corporation, which shares are listed on the Taiwan Exchange.

Mr. Han Chia-Yau obtained a bachelor’'s degree from Chung
Yuan Christian University (7 R32 T &%) and a master's degree
in Computer Science from the University of Connecticut in 1973
and 1978 respectively. He is an older brother of Mr. Harn Jia-
Chen, Mr. Han Jia-Hwan and Mr. Han Chia-Yin and an uncle of

Mr. Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han.
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Mr. Harn Jia-Chen (3%J=), aged 70, has been re-designated
as a non-executive Director of the Company with effect from
1 March 2020. He has been a member of the nomination
committee of the Company since 2007, and has been a member
of the remuneration committee of the Company with effect
from 1 January 2019. During the period from 1 January 2019
to 29 February 2020, Mr. Harn Jia-Chen was re-designated as
an executive Director of the Company, and was appointed as
the chairman of the board of directors of the Company and the
chairman of the executive committee of the Company. Since
1984, he has been the vice chairman of the board of directors
of GWE. Since 1995, he has been the chairman of the board
of directors of Great Wall Food (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (Kik & & <
#) B R A7)), a subsidiary of GWE engaged in flour production.
Since 1999, he has been the chairman of the board of directors
of DaChan Wanda (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (K& (K&) AR A F).
Since 2003, he has been the chairman of the board of directors
of DaChan Showa Food (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (KRR R 5 CKE)
BIRAF]). From May 2006 to April 2015, he was the president
of Taiwan Asset Enterprise Association of Tianjin (K&H =&
RN EDEWE). Since May 2015, he has been the honorary
president of Taiwan Asset Enterprise Association of Tianjin. From
April 2007 to May 2010, he was elected as the vice-chairman
of the Association of Taiwan Investment Enterprises on the
Mainland (ZBZEZRPIEE LB EE). From May 2010 to
April 2015, he was elected as the standing vice president of the
Association of Taiwan Investment Enterprises on the Mainland.
Since May 2015, he has been the consultant of the Association
of Taiwan Investment Enterprises on the Mainland. He is also a
director of DaChan Wanda (HK) Limited, Hwabei Agri Corporation
and Union Manufacturing Limited.

Mr. Harn Jia-Chen obtained his master’s degree in business
administration from the University of New Haven in 1986. He
is an older brother of Mr. Han Jia-Hwan, Mr. Han Chia-Yin,
a younger brother of Mr. Han Chia-Yau and an uncle of Mr.

Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han.
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Mr. Han Jia-Hwan (32X E), aged 69, has been re-designated
as a non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 1
January 2019. He has also been a member of the nomination
committee of the Company since 2007. From 2007 to 2018, Mr.
Han Jia-Hwan had been an executive Director of the Company,
the chairman of the board of directors of the Company, a
member of the remuneration committee and nomination
committee and the chairman of the executive committee of the
Company. He is also the chairman of Taixu & DaChan Foods
Co., Limited, a director of Taixu & DaChan Foods Holdings Co.,
Limited and Great Wall Agritech (Liaoning) Company Limited
(BVI). Mr. Han Jia-Hwan has over 30 years of experience in
feeds and food production business in the Asia Pacific region. In
recognition of his contributions to the agricultural industry, Mr.
Han Jia-Hwan was elected as one of the Taiwan Ten Outstanding
Young Persons (& &+ K& HEF) in 1994,

Mr. Han Jia-Hwan received his bachelor’'s degree in business
administration from National Cheng-chi University (B3 BUA KR
&) and a master’s degree in business administration from the
University of Chicago in 1977 and 1983 respectively. He is a
younger brother of Mr. Han Chia-Yau, Mr. Harn Jia-Chen, an older
brother of Mr. Han Chia-Yin and the father of Mr. Jonathan Fang-
Tsu Han.
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Mr. Wei Anning (Ff%£), aged 62, has been re-designated as
a non-executive Director of the Company since 1 March 2021.
During the period from 31 October 2014 to 29 February 2020,
Mr. Wei Anning was appointed as an independent non- executive
Director of the Company, and he served as a member of the audit
committee and the nomination committee of the Company, and
the chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company,
thereafter he remained to be a member of the nomination
committee and the remuneration committee of the Company
until T March 2020. Mr. Wei Anning was then re-designated as
an executive Director of the Company, and was appointed as the
chairman of the board of directors of the Company, the chairman
and a member of the executive committee of the Company
from 1 March 2020 to 28 February 2021. Mr. Wei Anning is an
executive director and the general manager of Shanghai Gueva
Investment Management Limited (E/SFRIEREERBRAF),
an independent director of Bondex Supply Chain Management
Co., Ltd. (BREHEHEEEERMNBIRAF]), which shares are
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange and Bestore Co., Ltd. (R
T E T M9 B R A A]), which shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange. He was an agricultural economist of the Department
of Agricultural and Natural Resources of the World Bank, a
manager of food & agribusiness research of the Rabobank
Group (Northeast Division), and the chief executive officer (China
Region) and president (Shanghai Branch) of Fortis Bank S.A./N.V.
He was also an independent director of Fortune Fund Management
Co., Ltd. CEBEE£EIEBRAF)) the executive vice president of
Sichuan New Hope Group ()I|#7#% 2% ), the president of
Shandong Liuhe Group (LU 7<F%E), the chairman of the board
of directors of Chinwhiz Agribusiness Co., Ltd. (ILFIE AR Z &£
BB R /A7) and an independent director of Ningbo Tech-Bank
Co., Ltd. (B RFBIMHBBMRAF]), which shares are listed on
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, Orient Securities Company Limited
(R EHAD BR AT, which shares are listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange and Hong Kong Stock Exchange, Jiahe Foods
Industry Corporation Limited ((ER R fm L E&H AR AR, which
shares are listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange and a director of
Yantai Changyu Pioneer Wine Company Limited (& R 5 &
BB %17 B PR /A R]), which shares are listed on Shenzhen Stock
Exchange and JiangSu Financial Leasing Corporation Limited ()T
e A ERD AR AT, which shares are listed on Shanghai
Stock Exchange. Mr. Wei Anning has in-depth understanding and
rich experience in the integration of finance and the agricultural
and livestock food industry, the development of agricultural
and livestock food industry, the operation and management of

agricultural and livestock food corporations.
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Mr. Wei Anning obtained his bachelor’'s degree in Economics in
Nankai University in 1982, his master’'s degrees in Economics
in Peking University in 1986 and in Williams College in the
United States in 1991 and his doctorate degree in Agricultural
Economics in University of lllinois at Urbana-Champaign in the
United States in 1997.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ting Yu-Shan (7T L), aged 74, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director of the Company, the
chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of
the audit committee, the remuneration committee and the
nomination committee of the Company with effect from 2
March 2020. Mr. Ting Yu-Shan has been re-designated from the
chairman of the remuneration committee to the chairman of
the audit committee of the Company with effect from 30 June
2023. Mr. Ting Yu-Shan has served as an independent director
and the chairman of the audit committee and the remuneration
committee of GWE since 2016. Mr. Ting Yu-Shan qualified as a
certified public accountant in Taiwan in 1985. Mr. Ting Yu-Shan
has extensive experience in areas such as financial advisory and
accounting. He served as an accountant of Prosperity United
Firm, Certified Public Accountants in Taiwan (& /&2 ¥MA &
sHRIEE5FT) from 1986 to 1998, and an accountant of KPMG
Taiwan (B &% EEFE S S5TEIEH5A) from 1999 to 2008.

Mr. Ting Yu-Shan holds a bachelor’'s degree in accounting from

Soochow University and a master’'s degree in accounting from

Soochow University.
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Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan (E3 %), also known as Andrew L.Y. Hsia, aged 74,
has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the
Company and served as a member of the remuneration committee,
the audit committee and the nomination committee of the Company
since 1 March 2021. Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan has been appointed as the
chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company with
effect from 30 June 2023. Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan is a director of WALSIN
LIHWA CORPORATION, which shares are listed on the Taiwan Stock
Exchange, and the vice president and the spokesperson of Phu My

Hung Holdings Group.

Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan holds a bachelor’'s degree of law from Fu
Jen Catholic University, a master’'s degree of diplomacy from
National Chengchi University and a master’s degree of law from

the University of Oxford in the United Kingdom.

Ms. Lee Tsai, Yu-Ling (¥ £%%), also known as Jaclyn Y.L.
Tsai, aged 69, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company and as a member of the audit
committee, the nomination committee and the remuneration
committee and the chairlady of the nomination Committee of
the Company with effect from 30 June 2023. Ms. Lee Tsai, Yu-
Ling is currently a director of JESS-LINK PRODUCTS CO., LTD.,
which shares are listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange, a director
of CHENBRO MICOM CQO., LTD., which shares are listed on the
Taiwan Stock Exchange, the co-founder of Lee, Tsai & Partners
Attorneys-at-Law, the honorary chairwoman of Taiwan FinTech
Association, the honorary chairwoman of Taiwan Women on
Boards Association and an executive director of Monte Jade
Science & Technology Association etc. Ms. Lee Tsai, Yu-Ling
served as an independent director of Asia Pacific Telecom Co.,
Ltd., which shares are listed on Taiwan Stock Exchange, the
general counsel of IBM's Greater China Group and a director of
Chlitina Holding Limited.

Ms. Lee Tsai, Yu-Ling graduated from National Taiwan University
with a degree in laws and was admitted as a lawyer in 1984.



SILFREE 80 BT _=F A=+
BREZTARARBIIENTES - WEFT
EZEZES  REZESRFTWEESKE -
SIEREERARRABLEERERFEE
BHEEHE  BRMEEE R RE
Bk BEXHKERERAR(HERONAER
FTEm B EERETEZEEREAURLE
BIMBREROEBER AR (ERMHR LEE
HRGFEMBUES - LT ESER
HEENGBEIFESCHESRENER -
FRASBMERERHE BVBCARNSEE
ERMMRMBIRRRRANBLEETEEZYR
RAEFTERS -

SILRAEFBRIBUARBRITRBLE
i~ B BUAASERERMFTAR LTSN -
ESETEYLH CWN= i = VAPV S E e S
S LM IR BERERIE LB -

EENGNEERABRBRE

Directors and Senior Management Profile

Mr. Kao Koong-Lian (S ¥L5%), aged 80, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive director of the Company and as
a member of the audit committee, the nomination committee
and the remuneration committee of the Company with effect
from 30 June 2023. Mr. Kao Koong-Lian is currently the chair
professor of business management at the Department of
Business Administration of Soochow University in Taipei, the
honorary president of Straits Economic & Cultural Interchange
Association, an independent director and a convenor of the
audit committee of Shane Global Holding Inc., which shares
are listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange and an independent
director of Swancor Advanced Materials Co., Ltd., which shares
are listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Kao Koong-Lian was
the vice chairman and general secretary of the Straits Exchange
Foundation, the chair professor of the Department of Business
Administration of Chung Yuan Christian University, a professor
of the Institute of Business Administration of National Chengchi
University and a professor and the head of the Department of

Business Administration of Soochow University.

Mr. Kao Koong-Lian holds a bachelor's degree in banking from
the National Chengchi University, a master’s degree in business
administration from the National Chengchi University, a master’s
degree in economics from the University of Connecticut and a

PhD in business administration from Louisiana State University.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT TEAM

Mr. Lan Yung Hsu (85 /B), aged 54, has been the Chief
Financial Officer of the Company with effect from 1 June
2022. Mr. Lan Yung Hsu served as the Planning Specialist and
Finance Specialist of GWE from August 1996 to May 2000,
the Chief Financial Officer and the Head of Human Resources
Department and Administration Department of Great Wall Food
(Dalian) Co., Ltd. (KX R M@ (K:&) BMPRAF), a subsidiary of the
Company, from June 2000 to July 2003, the Head of Finance and
Information Department of the Company from August 2003 to
December 2003, and the Chief Financial Officer and the Head of
Human Resources and Administration of Great Wall Food (Tianjin)
Co., Ltd.(KEk B & (K2) AR A 7)), a subsidiary of GWE engaged
in flour production, from January 2004 to March 2008. Mr. Lan
Yung Hsu served as the Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer of the Flour and Catering Service Business Group (the
“Business Group”) in Mainland China of GWE from April 2008
to April 2022, responsible for the overall financial management,
capital planning, investment planning and auditing of the
Business Group. Mr. Lan Yung Hsu has extensive experience in

the field of finance.

Mr. Lan Yung Hsu obtained a bachelor’'s degree in Commerce
from Taiwan Ocean University(&/&/8)FX2) and a master's
degree in Management from Da-Yeh University(KZEKE) in
1994 and 1996, respectively.
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Mr. Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han (¥3518), aged 42, joined the
Company in 2012 and was consecutively responsible for finance,
strategic planning of the Group, operation management of the
feeds business and the meat and food business. Mr. Jonathan
Fang-Tsu Han had been promoted to the vice president of
the Company since 1 April 2017. He had also served as the
deputy director of Finance Resources Group of the Company
since 8 August 2018. Mr. Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han had been re-
designated as Special Assistant to the Chairman of the Company
since 1 January 2019. He also had been the head of International
business group Il of the Company since 1 March 2020. Mr.
Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han had resigned as Special Assistant to the
Chairman of the Company and the head of International business
group Il of the Company and re-designated as Special Assistant
to the chairman of GWE since 1 July 2020. Mr. Jonathan
Fang-Tsu Han has been re-designated as Special Assistant to
the Chairman of the Company since 1 February 2023. He is
a member of the executive committee of the Company. Mr.
Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han has extensive experience in operation

analysis and strategic management.

Mr. Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han graduated from Simon Graduate
School of Business (BFIEZx) at the University of Rochester
of the United States in 2012 and obtained a bachelor’s degree in
Computer Science from Northwestern University of the United
States in 2003. He is the son of Mr. Han Jia-Hwan and the
nephew of Mr. Han Chia- Yau, Mr. Harn Jia-Chen and Mr. Han
Chia-Yin.
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INTRODUCTION

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are pleased to
present the corporate governance report for the year ended 31

December 2024 as follows.

The board of Directors of the Company (“Board”) is committed
to enhancing the Group’s corporate governance standards by
improving corporate transparency through effective channels of
information disclosure. The Board believes that good corporate
governance is beneficial for maintaining close and trustful
relations with its employees, business partners, shareholders

and investors.

The Company has adopted a corporate governance code
prepared based on the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) of
the latest corporate governance code (the “Code”) as set out in
Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)
as the guidelines for corporate governance of the Company, and

has taken steps to comply with the Code wherever appropriate.

Terms used in this report shall have the same meaning as
those defined in the Listing Rules unless the context otherwise

requires.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
has complied with the Code Provisions with the following

exceptions:
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Under Code Provision C.2.1, the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed

by the same individual.

In year 2024, Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei performs both of the
roles as the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer. The Board
considers that this structure would not impair the balance of
power and authority between the Board and the management
of the Company. The Board comprises two executive Directors
(including Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei), five non-executive
Directors and four independent non-executive Directors and
therefore has a fairly strong independence in its composition and
they meet regularly to discuss issues relating to the operation
of the Company in order to provide adequate safeguards and
protect the interests of the Company and its shareholders. In
addition, after taking into account the past experience of Mr.
James Chun-Hsien Wei, the Board is of the opinion that vesting
the roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer in
Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei could facilitate the execution of the
Group’s business strategies and enhance the effectiveness of
its operation. Hence, the aforesaid deviation is appropriate and in

the best interest of the Company at the present stage.
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Under Code Provision C.6.1, the company secretary should
be an employee of the Company and have the day-to-day
knowledge of the Company’s affairs.

Ms. Cho Yi Ping (“Ms. Cho"), a partner of the Company’s
Hong Kong legal advisers, has been appointed as the company
secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) with effect
from 8 August 2016.

The Company has assigned a member of the senior
management, Ms. Feng Yuxia, the head of legal department of
the Company as the contact person with Ms. Cho. Ms. Cho is
a practicing solicitor of Hong Kong with understanding of the
Listing Rules. Her qualifications meet the requirements of the
Listing Rules in terms of a company secretary of a listed issuer.
Further, whenever necessary, the contact person assigned will
promptly deliver information regarding the performance, financial
positions and other major development and affairs of the Group
to Ms. Cho. Having in place a mechanism that enables Ms.
Cho to get hold of the Group’s development promptly without
material delay and with her expertise and experience, the Board
is confident that having Ms. Cho as the Company Secretary is
beneficial to the Group’'s compliance with the relevant board

procedures, applicable laws, rules and regulations.

COMPLIANCE WITH DEED OF NON-
COMPETITION

The Company has received a confirmation (the “Confirmation”)
from Great Wall Enterprise Co., Ltd ("GWE") signed by it on
24 January 2025 confirming that for the period from 1 January
2024 to 31 December 2024 and up to the date of signing the
Confirmation by the relevant covenantor, it has fully complied
with the deed of non-competition executed by GWE in favour
of the Company dated 14 September 2007 (the “Deed of Non-
Competition”) (as varied by two deeds of variation executed by
GWE and the Company dated 25 June 2010 and 18 December
2012 respectively).
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
Confirmation and all of them are satisfied that the Deed of Non-
Competition has been complied with during the period under

review.
DIRECTORS

THE BOARD

The Board, led by the Chairman, steers the Company’s business
direction. It is responsible for formulating the Company’s long-
term strategies, setting business development goals, assessing
results of management policies, monitoring the management'’s
performance, and ensuring effective implementation of risk

management measures on a regular basis.

The Directors meet regularly to review the Group's financial
and operational performance and to discuss and formulate
future development plans. Regular Board meetings are
attended by Directors in person or through electronic means of

communication.
BoARD COMPOSITION

During the period from 1 January 2024 and up to the date of
this report, there were 11 Directors, all being industry veterans,
responsible to the shareholders for formulating the overall
business development targets and long-term company strategies,
assessing results of management policies and monitoring

performance of the management.

During the period from 1 January 2024 and up to the date of this
report, the Board comprised the following Directors:
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Executive Directors

Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei (Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer)

Mr. Han Chia-Yin

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Han Chia-Yau

Mr. Han Jia-Hwan

Mr. Harn Jia-Chen

Mr. Chao Tien-Shin

Mr. Wei Anning

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Ting Yu-Shan

Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan

Ms. Lee Tsai, Yu-Ling

Mr. Kao, Koong-Lian

An updated list of the Directors by category identifying their
role and function is at all times available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. The list specifies whether a
Director is an independent non-executive Director and expresses
the respective membership of each Director in each board
committee.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material or relevant relationship(s)) among members of the
Board and between the Chairman and the chief executive, with
the exception that Mr. Han Chia-Yau, Mr. Harn Jia-Chen, Mr.
Han Jia-Hwan and Mr. Han Chia-Yin are brothers, and that the

Chairman is also the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
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The Company identifies the independent non-executive Directors
in all corporate communications which disclose the names of
Directors.

Details of the biographies of the Directors are given under the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management Profile” of

this annual report on pages 23.

The independent non-executive Directors play an important role
on the Board. Accounting for more than one-third of the Board
members, they are experienced professionals in their respective
fields. They are responsible for ensuring that the Board maintains
high standards of financial and other mandatory reporting as well
as providing adequate checks and balances for safeguarding
the interest of shareholders of the Company and the Group as a
whole. Throughout the year of 2024, the Board at all times met
the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive Directors with
at least one of them possessing appropriate professional
qualifications on accounting or related financial management
expertise, and the number of independent non-executive
Directors has represented at least one-third of the Board.
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The Company has established proper mechanisms to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board. For
example, Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei, who chairs the Board,
has no relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material or relevant relationship(s)) with other members
of the Board. The Nomination Committee will assess the
independence of candidates to be nominated as the Company’s
independent non-executive directors by considering their time
commitments to the Company as well as their professional
qualifications. In addition, sufficient number of independent
non-executive Directors are maintained so that views from
different perspectives are available to the Board. External
independent professional advice would be rendered from time
to time if the Board is in need of such advice. In particular, the
Company has appointed external professional as the Company’s
consultant to review its ESG policy and the effectiveness of its

implementation.

The Company’'s mechanisms have been reviewed and
considered as effective at present. The Board would review the
implementation and effectiveness of such mechanisms on an

annual basis.
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NUMBER OF MEETINGS ATTENDED/ ELIGIBLE TO ATTEND IN 2024

During the year of 2024, the Board held 4 regular meetings at

approximately quarterly intervals.

As regards to general meetings, the Company held the annual

general meeting on 28 June 2024.

MEFHESESS SR ESRELLEN A table of summary in regard to the Directors’ participation at the
RATIRRASHMESHTITE : various board meetings and board committee meetings and the
Company’s general meetings is set out below:
ExeeEd BNZES HHzES REZ88 BITZER REAE
Board Audit  Remuneration Nomination Executive General
Meetings Committee Committee Committee Committee Meeting(s)
WS Executive Directors
BRERE Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei 414 TER TER @R 12/12 N
N/A N/A N/A
BRERL Mr. Han Chia-Yin 44 TER TER TER 12/12 N
N/A N/A N/A
FHTES Non-executive Directors
BRRAE Mr. Harn Jia-Chen 24 TR 112 0 TER 01
N/A N/A
BRERE Mr. Han Jia-Hwan 3/4 TER TR 01 TEH 0N
N/A N/A N/A
BXFRE Mr. Han Chia-Yau 414 TER 22 TER TER 0N
N/A N/A N/A
BRERE Mr. Chao Tien-Shin 4/4 iR TER TER iR on
N/A N/A N/A N/A
RZERE Mr. Wei Anning 44 TER NER TER TER 01
N/A N/A N/A N/A
BUBITES Independent Non-executive Directors
TEWLESE Mr. Ting Yu-Shan 444 44 22 17 TEA i
N/A
BUERAE Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan 44 4/4 22 17 TEfA 17
N/A
BIRUT Ms. Lee Tsai, Yu-Ling 34 3/4 112 17 TEfA 01
N/A
BAELE Mr. Kao, Koong-Lian 34 34 202 0 TER /1
N/A

—Z = Q4 F 3R Annual Report 2024

41



42

TEERRE
Corporate Governance Report

THEEFSEZNENERNERETARD
TAHRAEZEESRRH  MEAMESSSH W
B)HBMA—RRERMNNEERFRAE
$ o

FEMARETEXMHERMAER - TRk
AREMERE  YEIREEFEERAH
BTIZEge=kaR B HASR(EXEM
SEMERINTETZRES - AERES
ERAREHENESEXMN  HERFLE
> U< ERETAR R RN E R MBI
o RS A REEAERIASHESERE
WA AMERE

EEehEEENCEEREREIEEER
LA B E RTINS - BRBARAFERE - §&
RBZERROEFSREERE - ATRBITER
EVRERENBEVIEXER - BABARA]
FRPE o

FEEEEERRARRIZERZES ([&#
“ZEg])  FHEZEE ((FHEES))

#ZBe((Rx%Eg| EREXZES -
FMZREeRHEMEEREENEIESERE
gl emcgaTE  TRLZENMER
Tz o LitPrE GRS HARKE ZER K
AR IR B A A DB SER 2 RTE
BREFROINEIMMIRENRHEER
EIEFATAER & IR AR A IR

EHZREGHLHE -

ABEGH (35M) APFE2 ) DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors
at least 14 days before the meeting, while reasonable notice is

generally given for other board meetings (if any).

Agenda and accompanying board papers together with all
appropriate, complete and reliable information are sent to all
Directors in a timely manner, and at least 3 days before the
intended date of each Board or board committee meeting, except
agreed otherwise among the members, to ensure that they
have sufficient time to review the board papers and adequately
prepare for the meeting, to keep the Directors apprised of the
latest developments and financial position of the Company and
to enable them to include any matter in the agenda and to make

informed decisions.

The Board and each Director, upon reasonable request, have
access to independent professional advice to assist them in
performing their duties to the Company, at the Company's
expense. When needed and upon making request to the Board,
Directors may obtain independent professional advice at the

Company’s expense in carrying out their duties.

Minutes of all the meetings of the Board, the audit committee
of the Company (the “Audit Committee"”), the remuneration
committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”)
and the nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”, together with the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and other committee(s) of the Board,
the “Board Committees”) of the Company are kept by the
appointed secretary. All of the above minutes record the matters
considered and the discussions and decisions reached by the
relevant members in sufficient detail, including any concerns
raised by Directors or dissenting views expressed. Any Director
may inspect the minutes at any reasonable time on reasonable
notice.
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Draft minutes are normally circulated to Directors or members of
the relevant committee for comment within a reasonable time
after each meeting and the final versions thereof are sent to all
Directors or committee members for their record.

The Company has maintained appropriate insurance cover in

respect of legal action against its Directors.
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

In year 2024, Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei (who has been an
executive Director and the Chairman) also holds the position of

Chief Executive Officer.

Despite Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei performs both of the roles
as the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer, the Company
considers that such an arrangement does not impair the balance
of power and authority between the Board and the management
of the Company. As the Chairman, Mr. James Chun-Hsien
Wei leads the Board which collectively formulates the
Company’s long-term strategies and monitor the management’s
performance. As the Chief Executive Officer, Mr. James Chun-
Hsien Wei is responsible for the day-to-day management of
business, the important decisions of which are discussed among
and determined by the members of the Executive Committee
collectively. Further, more than one-third of the Board members
are independent non-executive Directors and the Board consists
of 11 members, all of whom has no relationship with Mr. James
Chun-Hsien Wei. Therefore, it is the Company’s opinion that
such an arrangement does not compromise the overall interests

of the Company and its shareholders.
The core duties of the Chairman include (among others):

o overseeing the development of the long-term strategies,

objectives and policies for the Company;
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ensuring, with the assistance of the management, that the
Directors receive adequate, accurate, clear, complete and
reliable information in a timely manner and are appropriately

briefed on issues to be discussed at Board meetings;

providing leadership for the Board;

ensuring that the Board works effectively, performs its
responsibilities, and discusses all key and appropriate
issues in a timely manner, with good corporate governance

practices and procedures;

taking primary responsibility for ensuring that good
corporate governance practices and procedures are in

place;

ensuring, (where appropriate) with delegation to Company
Secretary or a designated Director, that the agenda for each
Board meeting is drawn up and approving the same, taking
into account matters proposed by other Directors;

encouraging all Directors to fully and actively contribute to
the Board's affairs and taking the lead to ensure that it acts
in the best interests of the Company;

encouraging Directors with different views to voice their
concerns, allowing sufficient time for discussion of issues
and ensuring that Board's decisions fairly reflect Board's

consensus;

promoting a culture of openness and debate by facilitating
the effective contribution of Directors, in particular, non-
executive Directors, and ensuring the constructive relations

between executive and non-executive Directors;

holding meeting(s) at least annually with the independent
non-executive Directors without the presence of other
Directors. The Board regarded such meeting(s) as opinion
exchange gathering whereby a broad range of strategic and
performance matters were openly discussed,;
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o ensuring appropriate steps are taken to provide effective
communication with shareholders and that views of

shareholders are communicated to the Board as a whole;

o attending the annual general meeting of the Company
and arranging for the chairmen of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
(as appropriate) or in the absence of the chairmen of such
committees, another member of same committee or failing
this, his duly appointed delegate, to be available to answer
guestions at the annual general meeting of the Company;
and

o deciding whether a resolution at a general meeting of the
Company relating purely to a procedural or administrative
matter should be excluded from the requirement for voting
by poll.

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF MEMBERS OF THE

BoARD

The Company has entered into service contracts with or issued
letters of appointment to its Directors setting out the key terms
and conditions of their appointments.

Under article 108 of the Company’s Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the
time being shall retire from office by rotation and every Director,
including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every 3 years while those
retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election. Any Director
who has not been subject to retirement by rotation in the 3 years
preceding the annual general meeting shall retire by rotation at
such annual general meeting. Any further Directors so to retire
shall be those who have been longest in office since their last re-
election or appointment and so that as between persons who
became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day those
to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves)
be determined by lot.
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In accordance with the said provision of the Articles of Association
of the Company and the Code Provision B.2.2, one-third of the
Directors (namely Mr. Han Jia-Hwan, Mr. Harn Jia-Chen, Mr.
Chao Tien-Shin, Mr. Han Chia-Yau, Ms. Lee Tsai, Yu Ling and
Mr. Kao, Koong-Lian) retired from office by rotation and were re-
elected as Directors at the last annual general meeting of the
Company (“AGM") held on 28 June 2024.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has requested and received an annual written
confirmation from each independent non-executive Directors of
his/her independence to the Company. There was no change
of circumstances and each of the independent non-executive
Directors could satisfy the independence requirements as set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company has assessed the
independence and considers all of the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent based on the independence criteria
in accordance with the requirements in the Listing Rules, their
non-involvement in the daily operation and management of the
Group and the absence of any relationships which will interfere

with the exercise of their independent judgment.

The Company confirms that as at the date of this annual report,
the years of service of all independent non-executive Directors
are less than 9.
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Non-executive Directors
The current term of appointment for the non-executive Directors

(including independent non-executive Directors) are as follows:

Term of Appointment
1E57

BRREEE
Mr. Harn Jia-Chen

BERFEAE
Mr. Han Chia-Yau

BERRERL

Mr. Han Jia-Hwan

HRESE
Mr. Chao Tien-Shin

TEIL%kE
Mr. Ting Yu-Shan

Mz Bt
Mr. Wei Anning

BEVERE
Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan

BRI T
Ms. Lee Tsai, Yu-Ling

=HLEREE
Mr. Kao, Koong-Lian

BE-ZE-_MERA+\BRE T+ FRERFRSLER
From 28 June 2024 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2027

BE-E_NMEXA-tN\BRE_ZE_+FRERAFASLHE
From 28 June 2024 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2027

BE-ZE-MFERA+/\BRE T+ FRERFRSLER
From 28 June 2024 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2027

BE-E-_NMEXA-tN\BRE_S_+FRERAFASLHE
From 28 June 2024 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2027

BE-E - =FRNAtNHEBE_Z - "FREBFASER
From 29 June 2023 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2026

B —F A+t NARBRE T -_AFHRERFRELHE
From 29 June 2022 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2025

BE-E-=FRA+NBARBRE T AFHRERAFRSLER
From 29 June 2023 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2026

BZZ-MFEAAZ T N\BREZS+ERFTAFRELHE
From 28 June 2024 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2027

BE-ZE-_MFERA+/\BRE T+ FRERFRSLER
From 28 June 2024 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2027
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NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Board has established the Nomination Committee to provide
a framework and set the standards for the appointment of high
quality Directors who should have the capacity and ability to lead
the Company towards achieving sustainable development. It
considers matters regarding the nomination and/or appointment

or re-appointment of director(s).

Details of the Nomination Committee are set out in the sub-

section headed “Nomination Committee” below.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

The management of the Company works closely with the newly
appointed Director(s) (if any) both immediately before and after
his/her appointment to acquaint the newly appointed Director(s)
with the duties and responsibilities as a Director and the

business operation of the Company.

A package compiled and reviewed by the Company’'s legal
advisors setting out such duties and responsibilities under the
Listing Rules, Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of Laws
of Hong Kong) and other related law and relevant regulatory
requirements of Hong Kong is provided to each newly appointed
Director. The Company also provides information relating
to the operations and business of the Group to each newly
appointed Director. The Directors are updated with the latest
developments in laws, rules and regulations relating to the duties
and responsibilities of directors from time to time. Guidelines for
directors issued by the Company Registry of Hong Kong have
been forwarded to each Director for his/her information and

ready reference.
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The Board views that the non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) are well-aware of their
functions and have been actively performing their functions
including but not limited to exercising their independent
judgment at the Board meetings, taking the lead where
potential conflicts of interest arise, scrutinizing the Company's
performance in achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives,
monitoring performance report and providing constructive and
informed advice on the business strategy, policy, performance,
accountability, resources, key appointments, standards of
conduct and management of the Company. They regularly review
the financial information, monitor the operational performance of
the Company and serve on the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee.

The Directors have disclosed to the Company at the time of their
respective appointments, and in a timely manner for any change,
the number and nature of offices held in public companies or
organisations and other significant commitments. They have
also informed the Company of the identity of any other public
companies or organisations they serve and the time involved in

these public companies or organisations.

All Directors have devoted their time and attention to the affairs
of the Company with their hands-on knowledge and expertise
in the areas and operation in which he/she is in charge with.

- ITEEREREN2REMBARMNE
RBE EFHFREFEES  BRAGRE
EREEeE RRTE2RE=(BERTE

The contribution made by the Directors to the affairs of the
Company is measured in terms of time as well as quality of

the attention and the ability of the Directors with reference to

F . BUFRTESREMIENTES) OF his/her necessary knowledge and expertise. The attendance
BLH - WHRZBESTINFERRED of Board meetings, general meeting(s) and Board Committee
BR - -EEN2HRERENENEE HERA meetings indicates the constant participation of all Directors,
HEE - including executive, independent non-executive and other non-

executive Directors and ensures the better understanding of the
views of shareholders by all Directors. The extent of participation
and contribution should be viewed both quantitatively and

qualitatively.
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To fulfil their duties properly, where they consider it as necessary
to obtain additional information other than that is provided by
the management, the Directors made inquiries during the Board
meetings and Board Committee meetings. The queries raised by

Directors have received a prompt and full response.

INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

The Directors are continually updated with legal and regulatory
developments, and the business and market changes to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills so as to facilitate
the discharge of their responsibilities through various Board
meetings, resolutions, memos and Board papers. According to
the records maintained by the Company, the Directors received
training (arranged and funded by the Company) in the following
areas: updates on rules and regulations relating to listed
companies, corporate governance, ethics and code of conduct,
operation and management of listed companies, finance and
industry in compliance with the requirement of the Code on
continuous professional development during the period from 1
January 2024 to 31 December 2024. During the year, the training

undertaken by each Directors are summarized as follows:

ETEE/ E-learning/
g/ Attend seminars/
EZ BEME = Directors Read materials briefings
BTES Executive Directors
ERBRAE Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei v
BRAEKE Mr. Han Chia-Yin \
FHTES Non-executive Directors
BRERE v v Mr. Han Jia-Hwan v v
RRTRAE v v Mr. Han Chia-Yau v v
BERELE v v Mr. Ham Jia-Chen v v
HRERE \ ! Mr. Chao Tien-Shin \ v
HRERE v v Mr. Wei Anning v v

ABEGH (35M) APFE2 ) DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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ET 88/ E-learning/

HERHE/ Attend seminars/
£ BIEM R BHNe Directors Read materials briefings
BUFHTES Independent Non-executive Directors
TEILESE v V Mr. Ting Yu-Shan v V
BVER4E v v Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan \ v
BERUL v v Ms. Lee Tsai, Yu-Ling v v
SELE v v Mr. Kao, Koong-Lian v v
WHR BRG] SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS GUIDELINES

EEGERMIGR L LT R BIMERCIAHE
(EMBEBTAZESETESFRH ZREST
A (BFESRIDFAERERRZITRT
A URBABESENESFRS

KREEERELARENE  BEER RN
BHE-_Z_NF+-_A=+—HILZEEF

THEFR H 0B EFRETRIFTE
REERARAR B EBERETESFZHNT

BEN T -_NF+ZA=+—BREAEELRD
RIS HRE RS S A A F R EFE88E8IHE °

B/t REBE IHHAD B RETR
PRIEBRERENLRETRRRZEEE
5 HEAA T EREARERLSERERT
A BEHE A AN R EE S A R AR H S K
EE  EFAARFAMBARIERARZE
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The Board has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transaction on terms no less exacting than the required
standard as set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") as set out in

Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiries have been made with all Directors and they
have confirmed that throughout the year ended 31 December
2024, they complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code and the Company's code of conduct regarding

directors’ securities transactions.

The Directors’ interests in shares of the Company as at 31
December 2024 are set out on pages 88 to 89 of this annual

report.

The Board has also established written guidelines on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code for the relevant employee,
including any employee or a director or employee of a subsidiary
or holding company of the Company who, because of his/her
office or employment, is likely to possess inside information
in relation to the Company or its securities, in respect of their

dealings in the Company's securities.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

MANAGEMENT FUNCTIONS

The Board delegates its powers and authorities from time to
time to the Board Committees in order to ensure the operational
efficiency and specific issues are being handled by relevant
expertise. All Board Committees are provided with accurate and
sufficient information in timely manner so as to enable the Board
Committees to make informed decisions for the benefit of the

Company and sufficient resources to discharge their duties.

The functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to the
management have been set out in the Director's Memorandum
In Discharging Director’s Duties (the “Director's Memorandum™)
adopted by the Board on 23 March 2012. The Board has
reviewed the said memorandum on periodically basis to ensure
that it remains appropriate. The policy for segregation of duties
and responsibilities between the Board and the permitted
delegates has been clearly defined and provided in the Director’s

Memorandum as internal guidelines of the Company.

The types of decisions which are to be taken by the Board
include those relating to (among others):

o corporate and capital structure;

o corporate strategy;

o significant policies affecting the Company as a whole;
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o material changes to policies adopted by the Board;

o business plan including major production and marketing
plans, budgets and publication of announcements;

o key financial matters;
o change to the structure, size and composition of the Board;

o appointment, removal or reappointment of Board members,

senior management and auditors;
o remuneration of Directors and senior management; and
including

o communication with key stakeholders,
shareholders and regulatory bodies.

Each Director has a copy of the Director's Memorandum and

clearly understood the above delegation policy of the Company.

For aspects of management and administration functions
delegated to the management, the Board has given clear
directions as to the management’s power, particularly as
to where management should report back and obtain prior
Board approval before making decisions or entering into any
commitments on behalf of the Company.

BoARD COMMITTEES

In 2024, the Board had 4 Board Committees including the
Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee, the Executive
Committee and the Nomination Committee, all with specific
terms of reference, to oversee particular aspects of the Group's
affairs.

—Z = Q4 F 3R Annual Report 2024
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AZEZZF c ERRESRENERESE Attendance of the relevant members of the Board Committee at
BeemmMLREReaENT the meetings of the committees in 2024 is as follows:
HTZEEER ENZEEEE FWEEEEE REZESER
Executive Audit Remuneration Nomination
Committee Committee Committee Committee
Meeting(s) Meeting(s) Meeting(s) Meeting(s)
HTES Executive Directors
BEBRAE(TFER  Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei 1212 AR NA TNER NIA NER NIA
BREHIE) (Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer)
BRERAE Mr. Han Chia-Yin 1212 TERA N/A TER N/A TER NA
FHTES Non-Executive Directors
BRRILE Mr. Harn Jia-Chen B NIA AR NIA 12 i
BRELE Mr. Han Jia-Hwan ER NIA NER NA AR NIA 0/1
BRFRE Mr. Han Chia-Yau EA NA EA NA 22 TEA NIA
BRERE Mr. Chao Tien-Shin EA NA EA NA TER NA TEA NIA
HZELE Mr. Wei Anning NER NIA B NIA AR NIA NER NIA
BuFHTES Independent Non-Executive
Directors
TELEE Mr. Ting Yu-Shan NER NA 4/4 2/2 1
BUERHE Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan EA NIA 4/4 22 17N
BEIBRut Ms. Lee Tsai, Yu-Ling ERA NIA 3/4 12 1N
BIELE Mr. Kao, Koong-Lian NMER NIA 3/4 2/2 1N
BBER Chief Financial Officer
EXBEAE Mr. Lan Yung Hsu 12012 B NIA B NA AR NIA
FESRIBE Special Assistant to the Chairman
BRAKE Mr. Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han 1212 AEA NA B NA AR NIA

54 K&& (M) &MR2A S DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 14 September
2007. During the period from 1 January 2024 and up to the date
of this report, the Nomination Committee was chaired by Ms.
Lee Tsai, Yu-Ling (an independent non-executive Director) with
other 5 members, including Mr. Han Jia-Hwan (a non-executive
Director), Mr. Harn Jia-Chen (a non-executive Director), Mr. Ting
Yu-Shan (an independent non-executive Director), Mr. Hsia Li-Yan
(an independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Kao, Koong-Lian
(an independent non-executive Director), the majority of whom

are independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee is governed by its terms of reference
adopted on 9 August 2013, which are closely aligned with the
relevant Code Provisions requirements and are available at both
the Company’s website www.dfa3999.com and HKEx's website

www.hkex.com.hk.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include the

following (among others):

o to review the structure, size and diversity of the Board
at least annually and to make recommendations to the
Board regarding any proposed changes to implement the

Company’s corporate strategy;

o to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and to select or to make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for

directorships;

—Z = Q4 F 3R Annual Report 2024
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° to assess the independence of the independent non-

executive Directors;

° to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and succession planning for

Directors; and

° to review the Board Diversity Policy (details of the Board
Diversity Policy are set out in the sub-section headed

“Diversity” below).

Throughout the year ended 2024, 1 Nomination Committee
meeting was held on 1 November 2024, to which the following

tasks were performed by the Nomination Committee:

o reviewed the current Board structure, diversity and
composition (including the skills, knowledge and

experience);

o assessed the independence of all independent non-

executive Directors;

° reviewed the diversity of the Board taking into account a

number of factors as set out in the Board Diversity Policy;

o reviewed the effectiveness of the board’s independence

mechanism;

° reviewed the effectiveness of the implementation of the
Board Diversity Policy; and

o reviewed the necessary time for the Directors to discharge

their duties and responsibilities.

The Nomination Committee has been advised that it may seek
independent professional advice at the expense of the Company

wherever necessary.
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Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (“Nomination
Policy”) on 13 December 2018 which sets out the principles
and procedures for selection and nomination of members to the
Board, to ensure the Board has a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of
the Company's business.

The Nomination Committee shall nominate suitable candidates
to the Board for it to consider and make recommendations to
shareholders for election as directors of the Company at general
meetings or appoint as directors to fill casual vacancies (as the

case maybe).

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the
Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate:

o Reputation for integrity;

o Accomplishment and experience in the principal business

of the Company;

o Commitment in respect of available time and relevant

interest;

o Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,

knowledge and length of service; and

o Independence (in respect of independent non-executive

Directors).
These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be

exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the

discretion to nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.
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Nomination Committee shall convene a meeting and invite the
candidate(s) to attend the meeting for consideration and enquiry

by members of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee will continually review the
Nomination Policy and reserves the right to update, amend,

modify and/or cancel the Nomination Policy.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

During the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024
and up to the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee
was chaired by Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan (an independent non-executive
Director) with other 5 members, including Mr. Harn Jia-Chen
(a non-executive Director), Mr. Han Chia-Yau (a non-executive
Director), Mr. Ting Yu-Shan (an independent non-executive
Director), Ms. Lee Tsai, Yu-Ling (an independent non-executive
Director) and Mr. Kao, Koong-Lian (an independent non-executive
Director), the majority of whom are independent non-executive

Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is governed by its terms of
reference adopted and amended on 23 March 2012 and 8 March
2024 respectively, which are closely aligned with the relevant
Code Provisions requirements. The terms of reference are made
available on the Company’s website www.dfa3999.com and

HKEx's website www.hkex.com.hk.

The Remuneration Committee was established on 14 September
2007 pursuant to Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules. It meets from
time to time to make recommendations to the Board on the
Company'’s policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors
and senior management, and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing policy on such
remuneration. The Remuneration Committee also reviews and
approves the performance-based remuneration by reference
to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board from
time to time, and determines, with delegated responsibility, the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and

senior management.
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Throughout the year ended 2024, 2 Remuneration Committee
meetings were held on 8 March 2024 and 1 November 2024
respectively, to which the following tasks were performed by the

Remuneration Committee:

o reviewed a report prepared by the management regarding
the human resources and remuneration policy and
workforce optimization measures of the Company in 2024,

° considered, discussed and reviewed the amendment on

the terms of reference of the remuneration committee; and

o considered and discussed the directors’ attendance fees of

the Company.

The management provides administrative support and
implements the approved remuneration packages and
other human resources related decisions approved by the

Remuneration Committee.

—Z = Q4 F 3R Annual Report 2024
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Emolument Policy and Long-Term Incentive Plan

To attract and retain talent and calibre, the Company provides
a competitive remuneration package to its executive Directors
and senior management. This comprises base monthly salary,
guaranteed cash benefits and allowances, special allowances,
bonuses, and is paid half-yearly or yearly relative to performance
delivered through plans and objectives which have pre-

determined criteria and standards.

The fees and any other reimbursement or emolument payable
to the Directors by band and senior management are set out in

notes 8 and 9 to the financial statements.

It is the Company’s policy to ensure that remuneration is
fair and appropriate and aligns with the goals, objectives and
performance of the Company and its subsidiaries. It is also the
Company'’s policy to ensure that remuneration levels should be
fair and sufficient to attract and retain people of high caliber to
oversee the Company's business and development.
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AupIT COMMITTEE

During the period from 1 January 2024 and up to the date of this
report, the Audit Committee was chaired by Mr. Ting Yu-Shan
with other 3 members including Mr. Hsia Li-Yan, Ms. Lee Tsai,
Yu-Ling and Mr. Kao, Koong-Lian, all of whom are independent

non-executive Directors.

Mr. Ting Yu-Shan is the chairman of the Audit Committee and
was qualified as a certified public accountant in Taiwan in 1985.
He has extensive experience in areas such as financial advisory
and accounting. Details of Mr. Ting Yu-Shan’s biography are set
out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management

Profile” in this annual report.

The Audit Committee usually meets 4 times a year to review the
Company’s quarterly, interim and annual results and the integrity
of the Group's financial statements. The Audit Committee is
accountable to the Board and assists the Board in meeting its
responsibilities in ensuring an effective and adequate system is
in place for internal controls and for meeting its external financial
reporting obligations and compliance with other legal and
regulatory requirements. The Audit Committee also reviews and
monitors the scope and effectiveness of the work of external

auditors.

The Audit Committee is governed by its terms of reference
adopted and amended on 23 March 2012 and 30 October 2015
respectively, which are closely aligned with the relevant Code
Provisions requirements. The terms of reference are made
available on the Company’s website www.dfa3999.com and
HKEx's website www.hkex.com.hk.
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The Audit Committee meetings are normally attended by the
Company's Chief Financial Officer. When meetings concern
the routine finance control, the head of the internal control
department of the Company also attends the meeting to report
on the problems identified during the internal control audits and
recommendation of methods to alleviate and solve the problems
identified. The external auditor is often present on discussion of
the audit of financial results and audit planning.

Throughout the year ended 2024, the Audit Committee held 4
meetings on 8 March 2024, 8 May 2024, 8 August 2024 and 1
November 2024 respectively, during which the following matters

were reviewed and considered by the Audit Committee:

o the auditing work performed by external auditor;

o the internal control reports submitted by the internal audit
department of the Company and the effectiveness of the
systems of internal control and risk management of the

Group;

° the report on taxation related matters of the Company (if

any);

o the completeness and accuracy of the 2023 annual and

2024 quarterly and interim financial statements;

o the developments in accounting standards (if any) and the
effect on the Company;

o review internal control measures and defects (if any);

o the audit fees payable to external auditor, the scope and
timetable of the audit for year 2024;
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o the recommendations to the Board, for the approval by
shareholders, for the reappointment of Messrs. KPMG as

the external auditor, which the Board agreed and accepted;

o the aggregate value, pricing policy and other terms of
the continuing connected transactions carried out by the

Company;

o the facility arrangement(s) by the Company and its

subsidiary;

o the renewal of the continuing connected transactions

between the Company and GWE;

o the renewal of the continuing connected transactions

between the Company and Marubeni;

o the renewal of the continuing connected transactions

between the Company and Marubeni PRC;

o the facility arrangement by the Company and Taipei Fubon
Bank; and

o the appointment of consultant for the ESG report of the

Company.

The Audit Committee has been advised that it may seek
independent professional advice at the expense of the Company
wherever necessary. The Audit Committee is also supported
by the staff of the internal audit department and the external

auditor.
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Board established the Executive Committee on 14
September 2007 with specific written terms of reference. The
Board has delegated responsibilities to the Executive Committee
for making certain decisions for the management of the

Company.

The Executive Committee is bound by its terms of reference,
which have been revised by the Board on 12 March 2010,16
December 2016 and 22 March 2019. The English version of the
terms of reference is available on the Company's website at

www.dfa3999.com.

In accordance with its terms of reference, members of the
Executive Committee shall be appointed by the Board from
amongst the executive Directors and senior management of the
Company only. The Executive Committee shall consist of no
more than 7 members, which include the executive Directors,
the chief operation officer or the chief financial officer of the

Company and other senior management of the Company.
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During the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 and
S HHMITER up to the date of this report, the Executive Committee comprised
the following members:
HITES Executive Director
BEERBRLE Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei
(FEFEEHTE) (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
BERERA Mr. Han Chia-Yin
BKRE Chief Financial Officer
EEOKB A Mr. Lan Yung Hsu

FERERIBhEE Special Assistant to the Chairman

EEMAELE Mr. Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han
WITZREEN_ENFRITNIE  EFE The work completed by the Executive Committee during 2024
EEENATEE included consideration of the following matters:

o HEFEREREBNBBENEE B TE o approving any routine matters or matters concerning day-
fEZEH : to-day operation of the Group;

FIEASERNEELEEABEERIRE o formulating for the Board's review the Group's overall

EREARBR HESSHEM corporate governance policy and investor relation policy;
BEREESSHAE A RRFELER o implementing the annual business plan, operating and
g BERBEATHEE : & capital expenditure budgets of the Company as approved

by the Board; and
EEESS I ENEKRTEI KRS .

implementing the strategic plans and long-term objectives
as approved by the Board.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had net assets of
approximately RMB2,430 million and the Company recorded a
profit attributable to equity holders of the parent of approximately
RMB59 million for the year ended 31 December 2024.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board aims to present a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment in annual and interim reports, inside information
announcements and other financial disclosures required under

the Listing Rules and other statutory requirements.

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibility for the
preparation of the accounts for each financial period which give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the

results and cash flows for that period.

The statement by the external auditor of the Company regarding
its reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the
Group is set out in the “Independent Auditor's Report” on page
104.

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that
the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future and hence decide that it is
appropriate to prepare the financial statements set out on pages
113 to 264 on a going concern basis. The Board is not aware of
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as

a going concern.
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The bases on which the Company generates or preserves value
over the longer term and the strategy for delivering its objectives
are explained in the “Management Discussion and Analysis"” set

out in pages 13 to 22 in this annual report.

The management provides the Board with sufficient explanation
and information, such as the Group’s major business activities
and key financial information, to enable the Board to make an
informed assessment of the financial information and other

information of the Company put before the Board for approval.

The management also provides all Directors with monthly
updates giving them a balanced and understandable assessment
of the Company’s performance, position and prospects in
sufficient detail to enable the Board as a whole and each Director
to discharge their duties under Rule 3.08 and Chapter 13 of the
Listing Rules.

RiSK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the Group's risk
management and internal control systems and oversees the said
system and is responsible for reviewing their effectiveness. The
Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight and
corporate governance roles in the Group’s financial, operational,
compliance, risk management and internal controls, and the

resourcing of the finance and internal audit functions.

In addition to the Board's oversight responsibilities, the Company
has also developed a risk management process and internal
control systems to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks (including ESG risks) and to resolve material internal control

defects (if any).
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The management establishes a specified management system
for the risks of the Company. Members of the internal audit
department of the Company report to the management on a
regular basis to review and assess risks and discuss solutions to
address material internal control defects (if any), including any
improvement relevant to a given year. Results of such reports
and discussions are organized with ratings of each risk and
written response plans. The risk assessment is reviewed by
the management and presented to the Audit Committee or the
Board for their review.

Appropriate policies and controls have been designed and
established to ensure that assets are safeguarded against
improper use or disposal, relevant rules and regulations are
adhered to and complied with, reliable financial and accounting
records are maintained in accordance with relevant accounting
standards and regulatory reporting requirements, and key risks
that may impact on the Group’s performance are appropriately
identified and managed. The systems and internal controls can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss, as they are designed to manage,
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business

objectives.

The management is responsible for supervising enterprise risk
management works and reviewing significant aspects of risk
management of the Group. The operating units of the Group,
as risk bearer, identify, evaluate, mitigate and monitor their own
risks, and report such risk management activities to the risk
management and compliance department on a quarterly basis.
The risk management and compliance department assesses and
presents regular reports to the management at each regularly

scheduled meeting.
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The internal audit department of the Group reports to the
Audit Committee or the Board at the meeting(s) of the Audit
Committee or the Board, the results of their works during the
preceding period pertaining to the adequacy and effectiveness
of internal controls, including but not limited to, indicating any
failures in implementing any internal control systems or material
weaknesses in those systems. The Board has reviewed the risk
management and internal control systems and the effectiveness
of such systems for the year 2024 and considers such systems

effective and adequate.

For the procedures relating to the handling and publishment
of inside information, the management of the Company is
responsible for assessing the potential impact of any significant
urgent situations on the share price of the Company and its
transaction volume, and reports to the Board so that the Board
determines whether such information is considered as inside
information and is required to disclose as soon as practicable in

accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

The Company has employed its own internal auditors to perform
regular and systematic reviews of the Group’s internal control
system. The reviews provide reasonable assurance that the
internal control system continues to operate satisfactorily and

effectively within the Group and the Company.

Each year, the Audit Committee reviews the findings made
by the external auditor in respect of issues encountered by it
in preparation of the audit report, which often covers issues
relating to internal control. The Audit Committee also reviews
the risk management and internal control report submitted by
the Company's internal audit department. The Audit Committee
will then review the actions performed or the plans to be
carried out by the management in addressing the issues.
The issues identified and the corresponding remedial plans
and recommendations are then submitted to the Board for

consideration.
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For the year of 2024, no critical internal control issues have been
identified.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company is committed to ensuring compliance with
regulatory requirements under the Listing Rules, applicable
laws and regulations in handling connected transactions.
Accordingly, the Company implemented various internal control
mechanisms to identify and monitor connected transactions to
ensure that connected transactions are conducted under normal
commercial terms or on terms that are fair and reasonable
and properly disclosed and (if necessary) approved by the
independent shareholders in accordance with the Listing Rules.
The connected persons will be required to abstain from voting in
the general meetings. Details of the connected transactions of
the Company during the year are set out in the section headed

“Report of the Directors” of this annual report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year under review, the remuneration paid for services

BRI REAT provided by the Company's external auditor is roughly as follows:
£58 Amount
(AR®F ) RMB’000
EZIRTE 3,700 Audit services 3,700
EEZARTE Non-audit services
- ESGHE AR 413 - ESG Consultation Service 413
- B ARES 120 - Other services 120

ABEGH (35M) APFE2 ) DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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DIVERSITY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (“Board
Diversity Policy”) on 9 August 2013 which sets out its approach
to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order to
enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance. With
a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development,
the Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives and its sustainable development. In designing the
Board’'s composition, Board diversity has been considered from
a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments
will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of

diversity on the Board.

The Board Diversity Policy provides measurable objectives
for selection of Board candidates from diversity perspectives
(including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service).

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity
Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy and will discuss any revisions that may be
required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for

consideration and approval.
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At present, the Board consists of 10 male Directors and 1
female Director, the Nomination Committee considers that the
current composition of the Board is characterized by diversity
after taking into account the business model of the Group
and specific industrial characteristics, whether considered in
terms of educational and professional background and industry
experience. The Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge
and skills, including knowledge and experience in the areas
of feeds production, food production, food and beverage
services, information technology, aviculture, medicine, financial
consultancy, auditing and accounting. They obtained degrees in
various majors including business administration, engineering,

computer science, accounting and economics.

As of 31 December 2024, approximately 48.8% of the
Company’s workforce (including senior management) is female.
The Company considers that the current composition of the
workforce is characterized by diversity taking into account
the business model of the Group and specific industrial
characteristics. The Company will continue to strive to enhance
female representation and achieve an appropriate balance of
gender diversity with reference to the shareholders’ expectation
and international and local recommended best practices. At

present, the Board has not set any measurable objectives.

The Company recognizes the importance of female
representation in the Board and strives to achieve an appropriate
balance of gender diversity to meet the shareholders’ expectation
as well as the international recommended best practices. Gender
diversity has been achieved by having one female director on
the Board which meets the minimum requirement of the Listing
Rules. In striving to maintain gender diversity, the Board will
continue to have at least one female director on the Board. In
respect of succession planning, the Nomination Committee will
deploy multiple channels to identify suitable director candidates,
including referrals from Directors, shareholders, management,
advisors of the Company and external executive search firms as
and when appropriate.
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Except for the composition of the Board, the Company will
ensure that there is gender diversity when recruiting employees
at management level as well as staff at mid-level. The Company
is committed to provide a promising career path for female
employees to reach the Company’s senior management level
even become potential candidates to the Board in near future.
All-rounded trainings to female employees will be provided in
near future so that they are adaptable to the Company’s different

position, being operation role or management role etc.

WHISTLE - BLOWING AND ANTI -
CORRUPTION POLICIES

The Company is committed to upholding the highest standards of
openness, integrity and accountability, and encourages a“speak
up” culture. A whistleblowing policy (the “Whistleblowing
Policy”) and an Anti-fraud and Whistleblowing Mechanism
System (the “System”) have been implemented in 2022 for
employees of the Group at all levels and other stakeholders (such
as customers, suppliers and those who deal with the Company)
to voice concerns, in confidence with the audit committee and its
authorised persons about improprieties in matters related to the
Group. The Whistleblowing Policy and the System is available on

the Company's website.

The Company’s anti-fraud policies, procedures and relevant
measures were effectively communicated or trained within
the Company in various forms (through Employee Handbook,
release of company rules and regulations, publicity or local area
network etc.), so as to ensure that its employees receive training
in relevant laws, regulations and professional ethics to help
them understanding the concepts behind the code of conduct
and distinguishing legal from illegal, and honest from dishonest
behaviours.

The whistleblowing and anti-corruption practices and policies are

fundamental to good corporate governance.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The position of Company Secretary is held by Ms. Cho Yi Ping,
a practicing solicitor of Hong Kong who is not an employee of
the Company. The Company Secretary can contact the Company
through the head of legal department of the Company, Ms. Feng
Yuxia. The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board and
reports to the Chairman from time to time. All Directors have
access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary to
ensure that board procedures, and all applicable laws, rules and

regulations are followed.

Being the Company Secretary, Ms. Cho Yi Ping has to take no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the
year 2024. She has fulfilled the requirement during the year

under review.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

The Company endeavors to uphold a high level of corporate
transparency. Keeping shareholders, investors, analysts, bankers
and other stakeholders informed of our corporate strategies and
business operations has been one of the key objectives of our

investor relations team.

The general meetings of the Company provide the best
opportunity for communication between the Board and the
shareholders, where under article 64A of the Articles of
Association of the Company, shareholders have the right to
speak. The Company complied with the required notice periods
for general meetings under the Code Provisions, the applicable

laws, rules and regulations.
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Also, separate resolutions for each substantially separate issue
were proposed at the AGM.

The chairpersons of the Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and the Audit Committee or, in their absence, other
members of the respective committees and, where applicable,
the independent Board committee, are available to answer

questions at the general meetings of the Company.

The representatives of the external auditor of the Company,
Messrs. KPMG also attended the AGM held on 28 June 2024 to
answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation
and content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and
auditor independence.

VortING BY PoLL

The Company expresses in each relevant corporate
communication that the shareholders shall vote by poll so as
to allow the shareholders to have one vote for every share of
the Company held. The chairman of the meeting would explain
the voting procedure and answer any questions from the
shareholders regarding voting by poll in the general meetings.
The poll voting results of the general meetings were published
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company
respectively on the same day after the general meetings were
held.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS TO CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY

GENERAL MEETING

Under article 64 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
extraordinary general meetings shall be convened on the
requisition of one or more shareholders of the Company
holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, 10% or more
of the voting rights, on a one vote per share basis, in the share
capital of the Company, and that they shall be entitled to add
resolutions to such meeting’s agenda. Shareholders’ requisition
shall be made in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary
for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition. The relevant extraordinary general
meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be

reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND PROCEDURES FOR

PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT GENERAL MEETINGS

Based on the requirement of the Code, a Shareholders’
Communication Policy was formulated and adopted on 23 March
2012 and thereafter amended on 23 March 2022 in order to
ensure the shareholders are provided with ready, equal and
timely access to balanced and understandable information about
the Company. The Board has taken appropriate steps to provide
effective communication with shareholders. The effectiveness
of shareholders’ communication under the Shareholders’
Communication Policy will be reviewed by the Board on an
annual basis.
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All published information, including all the statutory
announcements, press releases and event calendars, is promptly
posted on the Group's website www.dfa3999.com. Investors
can also make enquiries to the Board or senior management by
contacting the Company either through the Company Investor
Relations Department on telephone number (86)-10-59047569
or by email at investors@dachan.com.cn or directly by raising
questions or proposals at general meetings of the Company. The
Company’s team dedicated to investor relations takes a proactive
approach to communicate with existing and potential investors
in a timely manner by making regular face-to-face meetings and
conference calls with investors.

The Company considers the latest Shareholders Communication
Policy to be effective and has been implemented smoothly
throughout the year ended 31 December 2024. Shareholders’
voices were heard either from general meetings or from the
Company Investor Relations Department; where concerns have
been addressed and resolved satisfactorily in time. For example,
both virtual and physical meetings have been arranged to allow
shareholders or potential investors to attend meetings scheduled
by the Company. As a channel to further promote effective
communication, dedicated officers from Company Investor
Relations were assigned to handle inquiries and feedback from

shareholders.
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DiviDEND PoLICY

On 13 December 2018, the Company has adopted its dividend
policy (“Dividend Policy”). The Dividend Policy is as follows:

The general policy for distribution of dividend is that the Company
shall enable the shareholders to enjoy the profits of the Company
whilst ensure adequate reserve for future development of the

Company.

The following factors will be taken into account by the Board
when declaring dividend or recommending distribution of
dividend:

the Company's actual and expected financial performance;

o retained earnings and distributable reserves of the

Company and each of the members of the Group;

o the Group’s expected working capital requirements, capital

expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

° the Group's cash flow situation, the Group's debts to equity
ratio and any restrictions on financial ratios that may be

imposed by the loan agreements with financial institutions;

o general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group's
business and other internal or external factors that may
have an impact on the business or financial performance

and position of the Company; and
o any other factors that the Board deem appropriate.
Declaration and distribution of dividend by the Company will be

subject to Articles of Association of the Company and all laws

and regulations applicable to the Company.
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The Company will continually review the Dividend Policy and
reserve the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update,
amend, modify and/or cancel the Dividend Policy, and the
Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Company in respect of its future dividend
and/or in no way obligate the Company to declare a dividend at

any time or from time to time.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year under review, no amendment to the
Memorandum of Association and Articles of Association of the
Company has been made.

CONCLUSION

Going forward, the Company will continue to work diligently to

maintain the highest level of corporate transparency possible.
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The Board submits the annual report together with the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are investment
holding and operation of a highly vertically integrated business
encompassing feeds production, chicken meat processing and
supply of processed foods through its subsidiaries.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

REVIEW OF THE GROUP’S BUSINESS AND PERFORMANCE

Details of the fair review (including an analysis using key financial
performance indicators) and the possible future development
trend of the Group’s business are set out in the sections
headed “Financial Highlights”, “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis"” of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Food safety is the most significant risk faced by the Group’'s
business. In this regard, the Group has always been focusing on
building and perfecting a traceable platform, and adhering to the
principle of 100-1=0. The Group lists food safety as one of the
key tasks of the ESG team and establishes a three-level defense
line for quality control so as to minimize the potential adverse
impact of food safety incidents that may occur in the operation of
the Group.

Exchange rate fluctuation is also a market risk which the Group
seeks to actively handle. The Group has adjusted the currency of
borrowings as and when appropriate to minimise unnecessary

loss arising from change of currency.

The market risk brought about by the cyclical fluctuations of the
white feather meat chicken industry has had a certain impact on the
profit stability and business of the Group. In this regard, the Group
will continue to increase the pace of expansion of its food products
businesses in order to offset the adverse impact of fluctuations in
the market conditions for meat products through stable growth in

profits of food products.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year, the Group was not aware of any violation of the
relevant laws and regulations which may have significant impact

on it.
DETAILS OF SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

Since 31 December 2024, the Board was not aware of any

significant event affecting the Group.
ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

Promoting the sustainable development is a social responsibility
incumbent upon the Group. The Group has always been
committed to resources conservation and emission reduction
and has replaced coal-fired boilers with clean energy boilers by
batches since 2015.

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

“Integrity, Modesty and Foresight” are the core values of the
Group. The Group maintains a good cooperation relationship and
establishes a prospective cooperation model with its suppliers
and customers by persistently acting with integrity and with a
humble attitude.

The employees of the Group are principally engaged in feed
and animal nutrition segment, poultry and value meat segment,
global food segment and various supporting segments and
are responsible for relevant duties respectively in sales and
marketing management, product manufacturing, product
planning and marketing, administrative and human resources,
financial and operation analysis, audit and legal risk management
and control, material procurement and logistics management,
information technology technical support, product research and

development, quality and safety management and so on.
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The Group has been upholding the following principles when

selecting, training, employing and retaining talents:

1. recruiting and selecting individuals who are suitable for
the Company's corporate culture and job positions based
on working plans and key performance indicators of such

position;

2. designing specific training courses and launching
corresponding training plans according to different
positions and ranks of employees to continuously enhance
employee’'s management and professional skills and to
provide a reservoir of outstanding talents for the Group;

3. designing and implementing different performance
appraisal systems and conducting suitable post adjustment
and job rotation based on different job natures to place
talents in suitable positions and optimise their performance;

4. determining employees’ remuneration levels based on their
experience and performance as well as the market salaries
and implementing performance bonus incentive programs
for employees in different positions and also selecting
important talents every year for appropriate rewards.

There is no significant dispute between the Group and its
employees. The Group commits to build an effective and
efficient team and enable its employees to share the results of
its operation.

SUBSIDIARIES

A list of subsidiaries together with their places of operations
and incorporation and particulars of their issued share capital/
registered capital are set out in note 14 to the financial
statements.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
and the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at
that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 113 to
264.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
RMB58,831 thousand (2023: profit of approximately RMB47,024
thousand) have been transferred to reserves. Other movements
in reserves of the Group and of the Company are set out on
page 233 of the annual report and note 26(d) to the financial
statements.

To reserve the resources for the Group's business development,
the Board decides not to distribute any final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: no dividend).

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set
out in consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 117
to 118.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the

year are set out in note 26(c) to the financial statements.
PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata

basis to the existing shareholders.
DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
RMB340,000.
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FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in fixed assets during the year are set out
in note 13 to the financial statements.

BANK LOANS AND OVERDRAFT

Particulars of bank loans and overdrafts of the Group as at
31 December 2024 are set out in note 23 to the financial

statements.

LISTING OF SHARES

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 4 October 2007.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company (the “Directors”, and each a
"Director”) for the period from 1 January 2024 and up to the date

of this report (inclusive) are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei (Chairman)
Mr. Han Chia-Yin

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Han Chia-Yau

Mr. Han Jia-Hwan

Mr. Harn Jia-Chen

Mr. Chao Tien-Shin

Mr. Wei Anning

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Ting Yu-Shan

Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan

Ms. Lee Tsai, Yu-Ling

Mr. Kao, Koong-Lian
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company, whereas each of the non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company.

The term of appointment of each Director is subject to the
Articles of Association of the Company (the “Articles”) and/or the
Listing Rules and/or the laws of the Cayman Islands and may be
terminated by the Company or the Director pursuant to the service
contract or the letter of appointment (as the case may be).

In accordance with article 108 of the Articles, at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being,
or, if their number is not 3 or a multiple of 3, then the number
nearest to but not less than one third, shall retire from office
by rotation and, under the corporate governance code of the
Company, every Director, including those appointed for a specific
term, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every 3 years. All retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.

Accordingly, Mr. Wei Anning, Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei, Mr.
Han Chia-Yin and Mr. Ting Yu-Shan shall retire from office by
rotation at the conclusion of the forthcoming AGM.

All of the abovenamed Directors, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM
has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

As requested by the Company, each of the independent non-
executive Directors has confirmed his/her independence to the
Company. Each of the independent non-executive Directors could
satisfy the independence requirements as set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and the Company considers all the independent

non-executive Directors to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management

of the Group are set out in pages 23 to 33 of this annual report.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR
MANAGEMENT AND THE FIVE HIGHEST-
PAID INDIVIDUALS

The emoluments of Directors, senior management and the
five highest-paid individuals are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the

financial statements.
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as those disclosed in “Connected Transactions” of this
section and "Related Party Transactions” in note 28 to the
financial statement, none of the Directors or their connected
entity or their associates had a material interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract
of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries, holding companies or fellow

subsidiaries was a party during the year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
SUBSIDIARIES AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Save as those disclosed in “Connected Transactions” of this
section and "Related Party Transactions” in note 28 to the
financial statement, there was no contract of significance
between the Company, or one of its subsidiary companies, and a

controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during the year.
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DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 8.10(2)

As confirmed by each of the Directors, during the year ended
31 December 2024, none of them was engaged in or had any
interest in any business that competed or was likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the Company’s business as
required to be disclosed under Rule 8.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Company
during 2024 or subsisted at the end of 2024.

RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no
effective restricted share award scheme of the Company and
there were no shares granted but remained unvested under any

previous restricted share award scheme of the Company.
SHARE OPTION SCHEME

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no
effective share option scheme of the Company and no share
options of the Company were granted, exercised, expired,
lapsed, cancelled or outstanding.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
the shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares of the
Company.
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R RESITBON B RG ~ HHEA DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

JBe oy B 6 5 O R i B I AT INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

E-_Z-_WNE+_A=+—8 ARAEZE As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
EE&ERITBABRARA AR AE (& Directors and chief executive in the shares, underlying shares
RES REE G ([FZH RBAEKG]) EXV and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
B 8RRty ~ MHEARD REFPHEE R ER & (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures

KB RARRIRIERE S KR & 535215 Ordinance (the “SFO")) as recorded in the register required to
HEzERME - SRE LM AR AIMERC3 be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or
FEl E BT AESEITES X S RIEESTR as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
(MEEFA BRI AR T R R TR & pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
KRBT Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing

Rules (“Model Code”), were as follows:

A) ARSI ZHELR — I (A) INTERESTS IN THE COMPANY — LONG POSITIONS:
ALT
REC
AR ZBAEA
RERK BRTRHA (B1-20045
BARR EfbgE  {iEIAREZ ZBAEAE 12A318)
EZ/BRIUASHES e RREE EERHEE & (RERfreRR) (ztr)
Approximate Approximate
% of issued % of the issued
Number of shares of the shares of the
Personal Other underlying Company Company
interest interest shares held (as recorded (asat 31
Name of Directors/ Number of ordinary under equity onthe Stock  December 2024)
Chief Executive shares held derivatives Total Exchange) (Note 1)
HEE:
Executive Directors:
E2fEE 262,000 - - 262,000 0.02% 0.02%
James Chun-Hsien Wei
B2 (i) 382,000 200,000 - 582,000 0.06% 0.05%
Han Chia-Yin (Note 2)
FHTEE:
Non-executive Directors:
B2 344,000 - - 344,000 0.03% 0.03%
Han Jia-Hwan
BRE Wi3) 3,534,000 300,000 - 3,834,000 0.38% 037%
Chao Tien-Shin (Note 3/

88  AME&S (M) A2 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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The Company's total number of issued shares as at 31 December
2024 was 1,016,189,000.

Mr. Han Chia-Yin is deemed to be interested in 200,000 shares held
by his spouse.

Mr. Chao Tien-Shin is deemed to be interested in 300,000 shares
jointly held by Mr. Chao and his spouse.

(B) INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS OF THE COMPANY

— LONG POSITIONS:

gL gL

Bend IFRZERR BEARGEAEA  ERORGZENEMM

£ £ BmitE RiER (B2 s (B11-2024512A31R)

Approximate % of

the relevant associated Approximate % of

corporation’s the issued shares

Interests in issued shares  of the relevant associated

Name of Name of associated Nature ordinary (as recorded on corporations

Directors corporations of interest shares held the Stock Exchange)  (as at 31 December 2024)

BET ARRACKREBRAAHE1) e 2 67433 0.01% 0.01%
Han Chia-Yau Great Wall Enterprise Co. Ltd. (Note 7) Beneficial owner

BREMWiH2)  AREALERDARAR R Es 12,444,845 1.39% 1.39%
Chao Tien-Shin Great Wall Enterprise Co. Ltd. Interest of spouse

Note 2)
BizE - Notes:

1. REEHEEBRDBR AR ([RKER
©E])  RBBTMALZENEEES
RS ETHAT - BARBNRKE

2. HMRERAEWBAEABER B
WERERERNMERRARMFN
12,444,845 B (D HEzs ©

B EXFIHBEN  RZTE-_WE+=A
=t—B EERERTBABRBREFNB
SARARR A A E AR A B BB I
RIBEES RS GG FE352&ER AR EERT
B MR IRERETAE MERRFHK
SRFTE D ~ AERER D B RERE R s SR

P

=

Great Wall Enterprise Co. Ltd. (“Great Wall Enterprise”), a company
incorporated in Taiwan and listed on Taiwan Stock Exchange
Corporation, is the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Chao Tien-Shin was deemed to be interested in the 12,444,845
shares held by CTS Investment Corporation controlled by his spouse.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of

the Directors and chief executive and their associates had any

interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or

debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations

that was recorded in the register required to be kept by the

Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise

notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.

—Z Y4 3R Annual Report 2024

89



EZEHE

Report of the Directors

SO By sk i 2 Z R A

REBEE—ZE_MNE+-A=+—HILFEEMA
B AR RISE ARG AR - MBS ERE
AR MBREWIFA R ANER —IHEE
BEEEA N R ER B BUEEANR R sk E A H
EAEBZRNREFESHENERZHEZ
e

/NGRS 3

M-ZB-PE+—A=1+—08 ' NAFIREE
% K BN E (GBI 533616/ TF 2 & 5 it LATE
ZHBAT (RARESRHZSITHRAERIN
AR R G RABRER (DR B RS KRR
LU

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2024 was the
Company or any of its parent companies, subsidiary undertakings
or its parent companies’ subsidiary undertakings a party to any
arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is,
to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the

Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions held
by the persons, other than a director or chief executive of the
Company, in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company

pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

RABRMNITE - Long positions in shares of the Company:
% BRMtE ROEE BAEAH
Nature of Number of Approximate
Name interests shares %
Waverley Star Limited Enlkn 375,899,946 36.99%
Beneficial interests
TMNERRITAR Bl 152,924,906 15.05%
Asia Nutrition Technologies Beneficial interests
Corporation
AR () AR A bR NI 5 620,150,852 61.02%
Great Wall International (Holdings) Ltd. Interests of controlled corporation (Hizt1)
(Note 1)
ARRBEERNERAR b [N £ 620,150,852 61.02%
Great Wall Enterprise Co., Ltd. Interests of controlled corporation (Hizt1)
(Note 1)
Great Wall FeedTech (Holdings) Ltd. Enikn 91,326,000 8.98%

Beneficial interests

ABEGH (35M) APFE2 ) DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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#i8 RERtE RSB BREAL
Nature of Number of Approximate

Name interests shares %

Hansen, Inc. Enkn 67,424,954 6.63%
Beneficial interests

rE= Batkn 50,978,000 5.02%

Sun Hui Ying Beneficial interests

Ffii5E1 © B&19 LAWaverley Star Limited * Great Wall
FeedTech (Holdings) Ltd. 5 2/l & & &7 A &)
#FEER © Waverley Star Limited, Great Wall
FeedTech (Holdings) Ltd. & 280 & & = IlT A
A% B AAKER (ER) BRA RN ENE
AE] - AR B (F2R%) AR A R AR R
TERNDERARTNZEMBAT - REBEFS
REAEIRG] - RRCBIRR (G5 RR) B R A 8] AR
R ERG BRI ER AR Waverley
Star Limited * Great Wall FeedTech (Holdings)
Ltd. R oM & B BT A R R A BT A AR A 7

Bl -
M EXXFIEEEN R _WF+ A
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1. BEREEEABRUEMEEZES

2. BERFEERARERECEZEEZNE
EEIF:

3. BRRELEBAKEMEEZEZNE
BEER

Note 1: The shares were registered in the name of Waverley Star Limited, Great
Wall FeedTech (Holdings) Ltd. and Asia Nutrition Technologies Corporation,
each of which was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Great Wall International
(Holdings) Ltd., which, in turn, was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Great
Wall Enterprise Co., Ltd. Under the SFO, both Great Wall International
(Holdings) Ltd. and Great Wall Enterprise Co., Ltd. were deemed to be
interested in all the shares held by Waverley Star Limited, Great Wall
FeedTech (Holdings) Ltd. and Asia Nutrition Technologies Corporation.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, no person,
other than the Directors and chief executive of the Company
whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’ and chief
executive's interests and short positions in shares, underlying
shares and debentures” above, had notified the Company of an
interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO.

The following Directors are directors/employees of a company
which had an interest or short position in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

1. Mr. Han Chia-Yin is a director of Great Wall Enterprise;

2. Mr. Han Chia-Yau is a director and the chairman of the

board of the directors of Great Wall Enterprise;

3. Mr. Harn Jia-Chen is a director and the vice chairman of
Great Wall Enterprise;
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Mr. Chao Tien-Shin is a director of Great Wall Enterprise;
and

Mr. Ting Yu-Shan is an independent director and the
chairman of the audit committee and the remuneration

committee of Great Wall Enterprise.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group carried out a number of connected

transactions with the following connected persons (as defined in

the Listing Rules), namely:

(1)

(2)

(3)

Great Wall Enterprise (being the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company) and its subsidiaries (being
associates of Great Wall Enterprise) excluding the Group
(the "Excluded Group”);

Marubeni Corporation (“Marubeni”, being a substantial
shareholder of a subsidiary of the Company) and FL4L (- )
BBRAF] (“Marubeni PRC”, being a subsidiary of Marubeni)
and subsidiaries of Marubeni PRC in the PRC (all being

associates of Marubeni);

Better Me Precision Nutrition Limited (“Better Me (BVI)"),
being a 30%-controlled company (within the meaning of
the Listing Rules) held by Mr. Han Jia-Hwan (a director
of the Company), and hence an associate of Mr. Han Jia-

Hwan and a connected person of the Company; and

DaChan Liangyou Foods (Shanghai) Co., Ltd (“DLF-SH")
(being a 30%-controlled company (within the meaning of
the Listing Rules) held by a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Great Wall Enterprise).
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The Group conducted the following connected transactions and
continuing connected transactions (other than those exempted
from the annual reporting requirements under Chapter 14A of

the Listing Rules) during the year ended 31 December 2024:

(@)  On 30 March 2023, the Company (for itself and on behalf
of other members of the Group) and DLF-SH (for itself and
on behalf of other members of DLF-SH and its subsidiaries
from time to time, the “DLF Group”) entered into the
master purchase (renewal) agreement (the “DLF Master
Purchase (Renewal) Agreement”) for a fixed duration
of 2 years and 8 months starting from 1 May 2023. The
DLF Master Purchase (Renewal) Agreement stipulates, in
summary terms, that (among others) (i) the Group agrees
to purchase and DLF Group agrees to supply products
(such as flour and wheat bran) on a non-exclusive basis
in accordance with contracts of purchase to be entered
into between the relevant members of the Group (as the
buyer) and the relevant members of the DLF Group (as the
supplier) from time to time during the said duration under
the DLF Master Purchase (Renewal) Agreement; (ii) prices
of the products shall be agreed on an arm’s length basis
and on normal commercial terms and within the range of
fair price prevailing on the market of the same or similar
products in the PRC for the time being; and (iii) prices for
the products shall be paid by relevant members of the
Group after the delivery of the products by the relevant
members of the DLF Group in accordance with the relevant
contract of purchase made in respect of such purchases.
In addition to the pricing terms provided in the DLF Master
Purchase (Renewal) Agreement, the Group also adopted a
set of internal policies to determine the prices and terms
of the purchases contemplated thereunder, the details of
which, together with other information regarding the DLF
Master Purchase (Renewal) Agreement, are set out in the

Company’s announcement dated 30 March 2023.
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During the year under review, the total value of products
purchased by the Group from the DLF Group under the
DLF Master Purchase (Renewal) Agreement amounts to
approximately RMB2,627 thousand. The Directors confirm
that the Group has followed the said pricing terms and
policies when determining the price and terms of those

purchases.

On 26 April 2021, the Company (for itself and on behalf
of PRC members of the Group) and Marubeni PRC (for
itself and on behalf of members of the Marubeni PRC
Group) entered into the master purchase (renewal 2021)
agreement (“Marubeni Master Purchase (Renewal 2021)
Agreement”) for a fixed duration of 3 years starting from
1 January 2022. The Marubeni Master Purchase (Renewal
2021) Agreement stipulates, in summary terms, that
(among others) (i) the Group agrees to purchase and the
Marubeni PRC Group agrees to sell coated flour for food
processing on a non-exclusive basis pursuant to sales
contracts to be entered into between the relevant PRC
members of the Group (as the buyer) and the relevant
members of the Marubeni PRC Group (as the supplier)
from time to time under the said duration under the
Marubeni Master Purchase (Renewal 2021) Agreement; (i)
prices of the products shall be agreed on an arm'’s length
basis and shall be on normal commercial terms and within
the range of fair price of the same or similar products
provided by the member of the Marubeni PRC Group to
independent third parties in the PRC; and (iii) prices for
the products shall be paid by the relevant PRC member of
the Group in accordance with the relevant sales contract
made in respect of such purchase. In addition to the pricing
terms provided in the Marubeni Master Purchase (Renewal
2021) Agreement, the Group also adopted a set of internal
policies to determine the prices and terms of the purchases
contemplated thereunder, the details of which, together
with other information regarding the Marubeni Master
Purchase (Renewal 2021) Agreement, are set out in the

Company’s announcement dated 26 April 2021.
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Report of the Directors

During the year under review, the total value of products
purchased by the Group from Marubeni PRC under the
Marubeni Master Purchase (Renewal 2021) Agreement
amounts to approximately RMB2,184 thousand. The
Directors confirm that the Group has followed the said
pricing terms and policies when determining the price and
terms of those purchases.

On 13 August 2024, the Company and Marubeni PRC
entered into a renewal agreement in respect of the
Marubeni Master Purchase (Renewal 2021) Agreement
(“Marubeni Master Purchase (Renewal 2024) Agreement”)
for a fixed duration of 3 years starting from 1 January
2025. The major terms of the Marubeni Master Purchase
(Renewal 2024) Agreement are substantially the same
as those of the Marubeni Master Purchase (Renewal
2021) Agreement. The details of which, together with
pricing policies and internal control measures regarding
price determination and other information regarding the
Marubeni Master Purchase (Renewal 2024) Agreement, are
set out in the Company's announcement dated 13 August
2024.
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On 26 April 2021, the Company (for itself and on behalf of
other members of the Group) and Marubeni entered into
the master supply (renewal 2021) agreement (“Marubeni
Master Supply (Renewal 2021) Agreement”) for a fixed
duration of 3 years starting from 1 January 2022. The
Marubeni Master Supply (Renewal 2021) Agreement
stipulates, in summary terms, that (among others) (i)
Marubeni agrees to purchase and the Group agrees to sell
meat related products as set out in the written purchase
order placed by Marubeni in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the Marubeni Master Supply (Renewal
2021) Agreement; (ii) prices of the products shall be agreed
by reference to the cost of production for the products
involved and using the same price determination basis as
that adopted by the relevant member of the Group from
time to time for sale of the same or similar products to
its other customers who are independent third parties;
and (iii) prices for the products shall be paid by Marubeni,
upon acceptance of the products tendered in conformity
with the purchase order placed by Marubeni, within the
period and manner as laid down in the said purchase order.
In addition to the pricing terms provided in the Marubeni
Master Supply (Renewal 2021) Agreement, the Group also
adopted a set of internal policies to determine the prices
and terms of the purchases contemplated thereunder, the
details of which, together with other information regarding
the Marubeni Master Supply (Renewal 2021) Agreement,
are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 26 April
2021.
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Report of the Directors

During the year under review, the total value of products
sold by the Group to Marubeni under the Marubeni
Master Supply (Renewal 2021) Agreement amounts to
approximately RMB62,161 thousand. The Directors confirm
that the Group has followed the said pricing terms and
policies when determining the price and terms of those
sales.

On 13 August 2024, the Company and Marubeni entered
into a renewal agreement in respect of the Marubeni
Master Supply (Renewal 2021) Agreement (“Marubeni
Master Supply (Renewal 2024) Agreement”) for a fixed
duration of 3 years starting from 1 January 2025. The
major terms of the Marubeni Master Supply (Renewal
2024) Agreement are substantially the same as those of
the Marubeni Master Supply (Renewal 2021) Agreement.
The details of which, together with pricing policies and
internal control measures regarding price determination and
other information regarding the Marubeni Master Supply
(Renewal 2024) Agreement, are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 13 August 2024.
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On 12 August 2022, the Company (for itself and on behalf
of other member companies of the Group) and Better Me
(BVI) (for itself and on behalf of its member companies
from time to time, the “Better Me Group”) entered into the
master supply (2022 renewal) agreement (the “BM Master
Supply (2022 Renewal) Agreement”) for a fixed duration
of 2 years and 4 months starting from 1 September
2022. The BM Master Supply (2022 Renewal) Agreement
stipulates, in summary terms, that (among others) (i)
relevant member companies of the Group shall supply and
the relevant member companies of Better Me Group shall
purchase processed chicken meat products processed,
manufactured, produced, sold or wholesaled by the
relevant member companies of the Group and the relevant
member companies of the Group and the relevant member
companies of Better Me Group shall undergo transactions
from time to time during the said duration in accordance
with the supply contracts entered into under the terms
of the BM Master Supply (2022 Renewal) Agreement; (ii)
prices of the products shall be determined on arms’ length
basis which will be in accordance with the production costs
of the products involved, with a pricing benchmark that
allows a certain level of profit margin, and shall comply with
normal commercial terms; and (iii) upon receipt of products
supplied in accordance with the supply contracts issued by
the relevant member companies of Better Me Group, the
relevant member companies of Better Me Group shall pay
the purchase price of those products in the manner listed
in the above-mentioned supply contracts within the period
specified therein. In addition to the pricing terms provided
in the BM Master Supply (2022 Renewal) Agreement, the
Group also adopted a set of internal policies to determine
the prices and terms of the sales contemplated thereunder,
the details of which, together with other information
regarding the BM Master Supply (2022 Renewal)
Agreement, are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 12 August 2022.
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Report of the Directors

During the year under review, the total value of products
sold by the Group to Better Me Group under the BM
Master Supply Agreement and BM Master Supply
(2022 Renewal) Agreement amounts to approximately
RMB69 thousand. The Directors confirm that the Group
has followed the said pricing terms and policies when

determining the price and terms of those sales.

On 9 August 2021, the Company (for itself and on behalf
of other members of the Group) and Great Wall Enterprise
(for itself and on behalf of other members of the Excluded
Group) entered into the master purchase (renewal)
agreement (“GWE Master Purchase (Renewal 2021)
Agreement”) for a fixed duration of 3 years starting from 1
January 2022. The GWE Master Purchase (Renewal 2021)
Agreement stipulates, in summary terms, that (among
others) (i) the Group shall purchase and the Excluded
Group shall sell products (namely (i) coated flour and (ii)
fermented soybean products) on a non-exclusive basis
in accordance with contracts for sale and purchase of
products to be entered into between the relevant members
of the Group (as the buyer) and the relevant members of
the Excluded Group (as the supplier) from time to time
during the said duration; (ii) prices of the products shall be
agreed on an arm’s length basis and shall be on normal
commercial terms and shall be within the range of fair price
prevailing on the market of the same or similar products
in the PRC; and (iii) prices for the products shall be paid
by the relevant member of the Group within 60 days after
receiving the relevant invoice(s). In addition to the pricing
terms provided in the GWE Master Purchase (Renewal
2021) Agreement, the Group also adopted a set of internal
policies to determine the prices and terms of the purchases
contemplated thereunder, the details of which, together
with other information regarding the GWE Master Purchase
(Renewal 2021) Agreement, are set out in the Company’s
announcement and circular dated 9 August 2021 and 24
September 2021 respectively.
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During the year under review, the total value of products
purchased by the Group from Great Wall Enterprise under
the GWE Master Purchase (Renewal 2021) Agreement
amounts to approximately RMB20,959 thousand. The
Directors confirm that the Group has followed the said
pricing terms and policies when determining the price and

terms of those purchases.

(h)  On 15 March 2024, the Company and Great Wall Enterprise
entered into a renewal agreement in respect of the GWE
Master Purchase (Renewal 2021) Agreement (“GWE
Master Purchase (Renewal 2024) Agreement”) for a
fixed duration of 2 years starting from 1 January 2025.
The major terms of the GWE Master Purchase (Renewal
2024) Agreement are substantially the same as those of
the GWE Master Purchase (Renewal 2021) Agreement.
The details of which, together with pricing policies and
internal control measures regarding price determination
and other information regarding the GWE Master Purchase
(Renewal 2024) Agreement, are set out in the Company's
announcement dated 15 March 2024.

Save as disclosed above, there are no other connected
transactions which require disclosure in the annual report in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Directors confirmed that the Company has complied with
the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules during the year of 2024.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have
confirmed that the above-mentioned continuing connected
transactions were entered into: (i) in the ordinary and usual
course of the Group's business; (ii) either on normal commercial
terms or on terms no less favourable to the Group than
those available to or from independent third parties; and (iii)
in accordance with the terms of the respective agreements
governing such transactions on terms that were fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the

Company as a whole.
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Report of the Directors

The auditor of the Company has reviewed the above-mentioned
continuing connected transactions pursuant to rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules and advised the Board in writing that nothing has
come to its attention that causes it to believe that such transactions:
(i) have not been approved by the Board; (ii) were not, in all material
respects, in accordance with the pricing polices of the Group
where the transactions involve the provisions of goods or services
by the Group; (iii) were not entered into, in all material respects,
in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such

transactions; and (iv) have exceeded the cap set by the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year of 2024, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers in 2024 and 2023 accounted for less than 30% of the
total sales of the Group. The aggregate purchases attributable to
the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% of
total purchases of the Group for both years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of
the Company's issued shares) had any interest in the five largest

customers or suppliers of the Group.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the Group is set up by its human
resources department and seeks to provide remuneration
packages on the basis of the merit, qualifications and

competence of the employees.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of
the Company will be reviewed by the Remuneration Committee,
having regard to factors including the Group’s operating results,
responsibilities required of the Directors and senior management

and comparable market information.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors of the
Company as at the latest practicable date prior to the publication
of this annual report (i.e. 16 April 2025), the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, other than service contracts with the Directors
or full-time employees of the Company, by which a person
undertakes the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of any business of the Company was entered
into or in force during 2024.
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Report of the Directors

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Company's Articles of Association, every Director
shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of
the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they or any of them shall or
may incur or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in or
omitted in or about the execution of their duty or supposed duty
in their respective offices except such (if any) as they shall incur
or sustain through their own fraud or dishonesty. Such provisions
were in force during 2024 and remained in force as of the date of
this report.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out in page 268 of the
annual report.

AUDITORS

KPMG as the Company’s auditors, will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM. A
resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as the auditors of the

Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board
James Chun-Hsien Wei

Chairman

Hong Kong, 7 March 2025
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Independent auditor’s report
to the shareholders of DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
DaChan Food (Asia) Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries
(“the Group”) set out on pages 113 to 264, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2024, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement
for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, comprising material accounting policy information

and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs"”) issued by International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’'s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code") together with any ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis

for our opinion.
KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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Assessing potential impairment of property, plant and equipment,

land use rights and investment property

Refer to note 13 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies in note 3(b).

The Key Audit Matter

As at 31 December 2024,
the Group held property,
plant and equipment, land
use rights and investment
property with a carrying
value of RMB1,952,108,000
which was used in the
Group's chicken meat,
processed food and feed
production operations.

The Group's property,
plant and equipment, land
use rights and investment
property is allocated to
relevant cash generating
units (“CGUs") for the
purpose of assessing if
there is any impairment at
the end of the reporting
period.

Management considered
that there were indicators
of impairment of property,
plant and equipment, land
use rights and investment
property at 31 December
2024 because certain CGUs
have sustained losses and,
therefore, management
assessed the recoverable
amounts of these CGUS at
the higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and
its value in use.

How the matter was addressed in

our audit
Our audit procedures to assess
impairment of property, plant and
equipment, land use rights and
investment property included the
following:

e evaluating management’s
processes and procedures for
the identification of indicators
of impairment of property, plant
and equipment, land use rights
and investment property;

e evaluating management’s
identification of CGUs and
the allocation of assets to
each CGU and management’s
methodology adopted in the
preparation of the discounted
cash flow forecasts with
reference to the requirements
of the prevailing accounting
standards;

e evaluating the key assumptions
adopted by management in their
preparation of the discounted
cash flow forecasts, including
revenue growth rates and profit
margin ratios, by comparing
with the financial budgets which
were approved by the directors,
our understanding, experience
and knowledge of the Group's
businesses and future business
plans;
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The Key Audit Matter

Value in use calculations
are based on discounted

cash flow forecasts.

The preparation of
discounted cash flow
forecasts involves the
exercise of significant
management judgement,
in particular in forecasting
revenue growth rates and
profit margin ratios and in
determining appropriate

discount rates.

We identified assessing
impairment of property,
plant and equipment, land
use rights and investment
property as a key audit
matter because of the
inherent uncertainty
involved in forecasting
future cash flows, in
particular in respect of
revenue growth rates,
profit margin ratios, and
the discount rates applied,
which could be subject to

potential management bias.

//
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How the matter was addressed in

our audit

comparing revenue, cost of
sales and other operating
expenses included in discounted
cash flow forecasts prepared
in the prior year with the
current year's performance to
assess the accuracy of the prior
year's forecasts and making
enquiries of management as to
the reasons for any significant
variations identified and whether
these had been considered in

current year's forecasts;

engaging our internal valuation
specialists to evaluate the
discount rates applied in the
discounted cash flow forecasts
by comparison with other

companies in the same industry;

performing sensitivity analyses
of the key assumptions adopted
in the discounted cash flow
forecasts, including the revenue
growth rates, profit margin
ratios, and the discount rates
and assessing the impact of
changes in the key assumptions
to the conclusions reached and
whether there are any indicators

of management bias; and
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The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in

our audit

e considering the disclosures
in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of the
impairment assessment,
including key sensitivities, with
reference to the requirements
of the prevailing accounting
standards.

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or

error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial

reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other

person for the contents of this report.
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken

on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and

related disclosures made by the directors.
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause

the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the Group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. WWe remain solely responsible

for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.
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HHBZEESEBNEET - BT From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,

EEH AR AEMBHRERNETRAREE we determine those matters that were of most significance
K R T F1E - R REPHE in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
MIELEEIE - RIBARER P AT ARKEE current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
LEEIE - ERmERNBERLT - MREIETE describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
HERMSBETEBESEERNAEEERE regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
BEANARIE @ KFIRE N EERS TR in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
MZEIA o should not be communicated in our report because the adverse

consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

AR ZEENREMENTHE AR ARN The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this

JEX ° independent auditor’s report is Ho Ying Man.
EERETHENERA KPMG

HMESERD Certified Public Accountants

BBPIR 8th Floor, Prince’s Building

HEFTE10%% 10 Chater Road

AT ARESHE Central, Hong Kong

—E-hF=RAtH 7 March 2025
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Consolidated Income Statement

HE-_ZT-_WNE+-_A=1+—RALEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
(RBEIEHIN - UARBFTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

b —E-mE —E=F

Note 2024 2023

ARET T ARETFT

RMB’000 RMB'000

A Turnover 4 5,834,604 6,418,966

SHEE B A Cost of sales (5,101,197) (5,756,276)

EF Gross profit 733,407 662,690

HAbsg B A Other operating income 5 24,930 25,192

Hith)F (B518), Was Other net (loss)/gain 5 (1,833) 317

DA Distribution costs (356,405) (337,792)

1THAX Administrative expenses (283,620) (248,739)

KRR Profit from operations 116,479 101,668

BT8R 2 Finance costs 6(a) (23,168) (17,738)
FE(h S AR AR] Share of profits of equity-

Al accounted investees 5,167 2,120
BRELRD A Profit before taxation 6 98,478 86,050
PS5t Income tax 7 (14,166) (10,670)
FREF Profit for the year 84,312 75,380
THIA TR : Attributable to:

/NG| S Equity shareholders of the

Company 58,831 47,024
FEIEAR I RS Non-controlling interests 25,481 28,356
FRERN Profit for the year 84,312 75,380
SREF Earnings per share
—EARREE - Basic and diluted 11 RMB 0.0579 RMB 0.0463

AR#0.05797t  AKH0.04637C

F120E £264 8 KM= 5 R TS SRR MU 4E K The notes on pages 120 to 264 form part of these financial
R4 o statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

BE-_FT-_NF+-_A=+—RALFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
(BRBEIEHRIN - UARBFTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

MisE b 113 ZT=F
Note 2024 2023
ARMTT AREETFIT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
F R F Profit for the year 84,312 75,380
FREMEEKE Other comprehensive income
for the year
HiEAsHoEEEn v HE ¢ Item that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:
MEEH =58 Exchange differences on translation 10 (3,096) (2,869)
FREMEEKE Other comprehensive income
i R (8,096 e
FRAZHEKNEEEE Total comprehensive income
for the year 81,216 72,511
THIA LA Attributable to:
ZIN/NG |8 Equity shareholders of the Company 55,398 43,918
FEIERR R Non-controlling interests 25,818 28,593
FARHEKRERE Total comprehensive income
for the year 81,216 72,511

F120E £264 B KM =T A8 R TSRk M 4E K The notes on pages 120 to 264 form part of these financial
2L o statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RZT-_MFE+=A=+—H
At 31 December 2024
(BREHEBIN - RARETFITZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

P T —ECEF —T-=F
Note 2024 2023
ARET T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
FRBEE Non-current assets
ME - R MR Property, plant and equipment 13 1,785,595 1,636,588
T b A Land use rights 13 115,167 119,451
E M E HE Investment property 13 51,346 54,356
B EE Intangible assets 8,917 9,917
REZABR2R QA MR Interests in equity-accounted investees 15 76,073 70,906
HEmea&E Other financial assets 1,948 1,948
EEFIBE E Deferred tax assets 25(c) 6,048 5,608
Al B R BRI Long-term tax recoverable 19 98,179 88,149
HiEmE&E Other non-current assets 66,062 58,616
2,209,335 2,045,539
RBEE Current assets
FE Inventories 16 587,915 526,849
EYEE Biological assets 17 110,990 129,957
EUE F RN Trade receivables 18 261,085 275,569
H b fE U R IE K FE 50E Other receivables and prepayments 19 238,158 276,647
He MREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 20 469,747 526,940
PR Sl 117 3R Restricted deposits 20 2,460 2,449
1,670,355 1,738,411
piEI=NE Current liabilities
FERTE S8R Trade payables 21 445,873 506,995
HAbERFRIA Other payables 22 376,365 308,744
GHBEE Contract liabilities 11,290 10,285
EEE Interest-bearing borrowings 23 235,629 276,269
HEAE Lease liabilities 24 2,159 1,687
BT ETSEL Income tax payable 25(a) 8,048 7,319
________________________________________________________________________________________ 1079364 1,111,299
ﬁ@JﬁEEE __________ Net current assets 590,991 627,112
EEAERABEE Total assets less current liabilities 2,800,326 2,672,651

F£120H £264 8 WM 3 AR &R AKX The notes on pages 120 to 264 form part of these financial

TR o statements.

—Z U3 Annual Report2024 115



A N

:-v_\é\ﬂjﬁ%ﬂﬁfﬂl%

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
R-ZTE-_ME+—_A=+—H

At 31 December 2024

(BBEHBIN - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

k=g —EF —T-=F
Note 2024 2023
AR®F T AREETFIT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
FRBEE Non-current liabilities
FAFEEE Interest-bearing borrowings 23 331,608 253,810
HEAR Lease liabilities 24 28,484 29,338
LTI B & Deferred tax liabilities 25(c) 10,543 8,490
___________________________________ 370,635 291,638
EEFE Net assets 2,429,691 2,381,013
B f#E Capital and reserves
&N Share capital 26(c) 97,920 97,920
i Reserves 26(d) 954,798 947,254
REBHEN Retained profits 1,117,994 1,070,140
RATRRREEEREE Total equity attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company 2,170,712 2,115,314
FEIERR R Non-controlling interests 258,979 265,699
ERaE Total equity 2,429,691 2,381,013

CHETEN _T_RAF= A+t A#ERRE Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 7

FE o March 2025.
2RE BXREH
James Chun-Hsien Wei Han Chia-Yin
FE HITEE
Chairman Executive director

£120H £264 8 KM 3 AR B & R 2= a48 5K The notes on pages 120 to 264 form part of these financial
ZH o statements.
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BRI
Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity

HE_T_WME+_A=+—HIEFE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

(BREHEBIN - RARETFITZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

ROFRREL
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

RE  BOEE  AREE  REE  EXBE  2REA At FERER  BREE

Non-
Share Share Merger ~ Statutory  Translation Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserves reserve profits Total interests equity
Bt (Mfatoelel)  (Wrskoe(di) (HfEE26la)) (KviEaelali)) —(Fvteld)(iv)
Note  (note26(c)) (note 26(d)(i)) (note 26(d)ii)) (note 26(d)iil) (note 26(d)(iv)
RIZZZFF2F  Balance at 31 December 2023
=t-Bfih 97920 583,596 396,064 141,113 (180,179) 1,070,140 2,115,314 265,699 2,381,013
ERigH Profit for the year - - - - - 58,831 58,831 25,481 84312
bty Other comprehensive income 10 - - - - (3.433) - (3433) 337 (3,096)
ER2EANEES  Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - - (3433) 58,831 55,398 25,818 81,216
HHBATLSHE  Profit distrbutions to minority
fELRAENR shareholders of subsidiaries 26(0) - - - - - - - (32,538) (32,538)
iy 1] Statutory reserves - - - 10977 - (10,977) - - -
R-E-MEL-A  Balance at 31 December 2024
t-RYES 97,920 583,596 396,064 158,750 (183612) 1,117,994 2,170,112 258979 2,429,691

F£120H £264 8 WM 3 AR &R AKX The notes on pages 120 to 264 form part of these financial
R4 o statements.
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MEEREER

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
HEZZ-NWF+-_A=+—HIFE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(BRBEIERIN - UARBFTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

HRARRES
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

R BbEE  AfRE  GRBE  ERBE  EREA A bR Baed

Non-
Share Share Merger Statutory  Translation Retained controling Total
capital premium TeServe Tesenves Teserve profits Total interests equity
M (e CRERoe) (26 (k2elalil) - (HtEE2ela)iv)
Note (note 26(cl)  (note 26(c)fi)  (note 26(a)ill  note 261clfii)  (note 26(d)liv)
RZF-Z%+-F  Balanceat 31 December 2022
=t-BiesH 97,920 h83,596 396,064 142,119 (177,073) 1028770 2,071,396 251,11 2323107
ERigh Profit for the year - - - - - 47024 47004 28,356 75,380
A2 EkE Other comprehensive income 10 = = = = (3,106 = 3,106) 237 (2.869)
ERE2ARELE  Total comprehensive income
for the year - - = = 3,108) 47004 43918 28593 7251
WHBATVSHER  Profi distributions to minority
{ELRHENR shareholders of subsidiares 26b) - - - - - - - (14,591) [14591)
EEEE Statutory reserves - - - 5,654 - (5,654) - - -
HEkARER Disposal of non-controling interests = - - = = - - [14) (14)
R-E-=F+-F  Balanceat 31 December 2023
=T-RiER 97,920 583,596 396,064 147713 (180,179) 1,070,140 2,115,314 265,699 2,381,013

264 EH MM T AN 5 R 2= B 4B K The notes on pages 120 to 264 form part of these financial

2 o statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

HE-_ZT-_NF+-_A=+—RALEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
(RBEIEHRIN - UARBFTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

ks b 11 3 —E-=%F
Note 2024 2023
AR¥ETTT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB'000
KT Operating activities
KETHMBES Cash generated from operations 20(b) 317,977 419,514
[SERIZIECS Income tax paid 25(a) (11,824) (12,262)
KE T RBREFE Net cash generated from operating
activities 306,153 407,252
REEH Investing activities
BUF & Interest received 8,223 10,709
BEYE  BERRBRR Payment for purchases of property,
plant and equipment (369,132) (546,279)
HEWME  BEMRIEFTSFHIE  Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment 18,663 6,569
PR 1) 14 7 SR A 0 Increase in restricted deposits (11) (2,449)
REZEFMARESFE Net cash used in investing activities (342,257) (5631,450)
A& EE Financing activities
B e 2 ERID Capital element of lease rentals paid (2,438) (2,765)
EfRHEeFEE D Interest element of lease rentals paid 13 (1,463) (1,504)
BEAFIE Interest paid (22,011) (15,375)
EEEPNSIES (S Profit distributions paid to minority
YEH B FIE 2R shareholders of subsidiaries (32,538) (14,591)
FTIGIRTTE RIS IR Proceeds from new bank loans 746,138 1,431,788
EEEE Repayment of borrowings (708,980) (1,278,949)
BEEE (FTA) FiBI4E®%  Net cash (used in)/generated from
R 11O T (21.292) D iecs
REeRREEEMRLDFE Net decrease in cash and cash
equivalents (57,396) (5,594)
RENZEERRSEEY Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year 526,940 532,274
ERSEHNTE Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes 203 260
RERZEESRESEEY Cash and cash equivalents at the
end of the year 20 469,747 526,940

F£120H £264 8 WM 3 AR &R AKX The notes on pages 120 to 264 form part of these financial

TR o statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(B SEHEBI - UARKETFITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

— BB

A Rm @M AERAT(AREDR
BHSEE N N—FH3FEM AR
(IR E RIEET) B22ER_ZTT+F
EATN\BERERSTMK LA
REREFERT  ARTREMBAR]
ATHEBIAER] - @RIAREAEIAR
SEEBDIZNEZEGH KB
RABRARNIRERABIERES -

ARABBRNR_ZZLETAODBRE
BHAERXSMARARERAFEES -

S 385 ik 3% A i L 1

(a) HEpEW

AP HRR REER & &R
ZEg((ERatENERES])
B BRI S R R (L 4R A
BREEREFTENZESRMHN
P &5 11838 A 1) CBRPR B AS S i 2
A1) (BRI R ELER ) ~ (A
FRERrERD (TRIFR &5 2RI ]) A
BE) UREFE (R BRG] BHK
BRERHE - 2P BHERTE
(ERMAERZMARARES
EMRAD (T EFRAD BBERE
BRE AEBRAZEANSS
BORBEZ#SIAT ©

ABEGH (35M) APFE2 ) DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

GENERAL INFORMATION

DaChan Food (Asia) Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 18 May 2007 as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman lIslands. The Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group” and
individually as the “Group entity”) primarily is involved in
the manufacturing and trading of livestock feeds, poultry

and chilled meat and processed food.

The Company publicly offered its shares on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 4 October
2007.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”), which collective term includes
all applicable individual International Financial
Reporting Standards, International Accounting
Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB")
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”). A summary of the material
accounting policies adopted by the Group is set out

below.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BBHEPI - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance (continued)

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption
for the current accounting period of the Group and
the Company. Note 2(e) provides information on any
changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that
they are relevant to the Group for the current and
prior accounting periods reflected in these financial
statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024 comprise the Company
and its subsidiaries and the Group’s interest in

associates and joint ventures.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except
that the following assets and liabilities are stated at
their fair value as explained in the accounting policies

set out below:

derivative financial instruments are measured at

fair value.

—Z = Q4 F 3R Annual Report 2024
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HEHEMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

2 WA S L ()

(c)

ABEGH (35M) APFE2 ) DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(c)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
entity in the Group are measured using the currency
that best reflects the economic substance of the
underlying events and circumstances relevant to
that entity (“functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB") (“presentation currency”), which is different
from the functional currency of the Company. The
Company's functional currency is United Stated dollars
("USD"). The functional currency of those subsidiaries
in People’'s Republic of China (“PRC") is RMB. As its
principal subsidiaries are located in PRC, the directors
of the Company consider that it is appropriate to
present the consolidated financial statements in
RMB. All financial information presented in RMB has
been rounded to the nearest thousand except when

otherwise indicated.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(d)

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of accounting policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.

Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimates are revised and in any future

periods affected.

Judgements made by management in the application
of IFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation

uncertainty are disclosed in note 30.

—Z = Q4 F 3R Annual Report 2024
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HEHEMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
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ABEGH (35M) APFE2 ) DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(e)

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amendments to
IFRSs to these financial statements for the current

accounting period:

o Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements — Classification of liabilities as
current or non-current (“2020 amendments”)
and amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of
financial statements — Non-current liabilities

with covenants (2022 amendments”)

° Amendments to IFRS 16, Leases — Lease

liability in a sale and leaseback

° Amendments to IAS 7, Statement of cash flows
and IFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures —

Supplier finance arrangements

None of these developments have had a material
effect on how to the Group’s results and financial
position for the current or prior periods have been

prepared or presented.

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current

accounting period.



3 ®EAGHECR
(a) FRfHedE
i EBELO

(ii)

BiEtEEEE A REE
REBERBREREBA
BE AR (BT EE3(@) (i) © Y2
BRE-—RAUARABER
B B ABRIFEE
IR o EfRIFTEL 2 R
R EEETRER » [
VEREB AR ME
BRIER - RHKNARNBFTE
X (REETERX
BAZLZBBEN)

EERETREAEFEND
B BEREENDE - %F
TR RNERRER o

ERENRAER U B
HIR AR BERR - DBR
BRIAREERTEE
HatE  ABEERNEREN
AR - BRI HAKERAR
EBEEZHREFHNIERRE

W °

B g 23 ] R FF FE IR it

M A REAEE LS &
B BAEEATRERS
BRAMEZAIEOR - B
BB BEHER S
B ERE - A%
EHZER - EiEAEE
EEHARENE  EZEE
BN (BAAREEREMA
T#HA) -

o<

//

B RS Rk M

Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of consolidation

@

(ii)

Business combinations

The Group accounts for business combinations
using the acquisition method when control is
transferred to the Group (see note 3(a)(ii). The
consideration transferred in the acquisition is
generally measured at fair value, as are the
identifiable net assets acquired. Any goodwill
that arises is tested annually for impairment.
Any gain on a bargain purchase is recognised
in income statement immediately. Transaction
costs are expensed as incurred, except if related
to the issue of debt or equity securities.

The consideration transferred does not include
amounts related to the settlement of pre-
existing relationships. Such amounts are
generally recognised in income statement.

Any contingent consideration payable is
measured at fair value at the acquisition date.
If the contingent consideration is classified as
equity, then it is not remeasured and settlement
is accounted for within equity. Otherwise,
subsequent changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration are recognised in

income statement.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the
Group. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the
Group has power, only substantive rights (held
by the Group and other parties) are considered.

—Z = Q4 F 3R Annual Report 2024
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HEHEMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 HEREFFIEUR (%) 3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(a) HREHEEYE(H) (a) Basis of consolidation (continued)

(i) BB A R FE s ()

(ii)  Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

126

ABEGH (35M) APFE2 ) DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated
into the consolidated financial statements from
the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases. Intra-Group balances,
transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-Group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-Group transactions are eliminated
in the same way as unrealised gains but only
to the extent that there is no evidence of

impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity
in a subsidiary not attributable directly or
indirectly to the Company, and in respect of
which the Group has not agreed any additional
terms with the holders of those interests which
would result in the Group as a whole having
a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial
liability. For each business combination, the
Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the

subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

(ii) ~ Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented
in the consolidated statement of financial
position within equity, separately from equity
attributable to the equity shareholders of the
Company. Non-controlling interests in the
results of the Group are presented on the face
of the consolidated income statement and
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or
loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between non-controlling interests and the
equity shareholders of the Company. Loans
from holders of non-controlling interests and
other contractual obligations towards these
holders are presented as financial liabilities in
the consolidated statement of financial position
in accordance with notes 3(l) or (m) depending
on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions, whereby
adjustments are made to the amounts of
controlling and non-controlling interests within
consolidated equity to reflect the change in
relative interests, but no adjustments are made

to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.
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3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(a) Basis of consolidation (continued)

(ii)

(iif)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition of a financial asset
(see note 3(a)(iv)) or, when appropriate, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an

associate or joint venture (see note 3(a(iii)).

In the Company's statement of financial
position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated
at cost less impairment losses (see note 3(f)
(i), unless the investment is classified as held
for sale (or included in a disposal Group that is

classified as held for sale).

Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group
or Company has significant influence, but not
control or joint control, over its management,
including participation in the financial and

operating policy decisions.
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3 HEREFFBUR () 3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(a) HRAHEEYECH) (a) Basis of consolidation (continued)

(iii) FE LA R G AL A (FE) (iii)  Associates and joint ventures (continued)
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A joint venture is an arrangement whereby
the Group or Company and other parties
contractually agree to share control of the
arrangement, and have rights to the net assets

of the arrangement.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture
is accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements under the equity method, unless
it is classified as held for sale (or included in
a disposal Group that is classified as held for
sale). Under the equity method, the investment
is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any
excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-
date fair values of the investee's identifiable net
assets over the cost of the investment (if any).
Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the
post acquisition change in the Group's share of
the investee's net assets and any impairment
loss relating to the investment (see note 3(f)
(ii)). At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether there is any objective evidence that
the investment is impaired. Any acquisition-
date excess over cost, the Group's share of
the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the
investees and any impairment losses for the
year are recognised in the consolidated income
statement, whereas the Group's share of the
post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’
other comprehensive income is recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income.
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ABEGH (35M) APFE2 ) DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(a)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

(iii)  Associates and joint ventures (continued)

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its
interest in the associate or the joint venture, the
Group's interest is reduced to nil and recognition
of further losses is discontinued except to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the investee. For this purpose,
the Group's interest is the carrying amount
of the investment under the equity method
together with the Group’s long-term interests
that in substance form part of the Group's net

investment in the associate or the joint venture.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its
associates and joint venture are eliminated
to the extent of the Group's interest in the
investee, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred, in which case they are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa,
retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the
investment continues to be accounted for under

the equity method.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 HEREFFBUR () 3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(a) HRAHEEYECH) (a) Basis of consolidation (continued)

(iii) FE LA R G AL A (FE) (iii)  Associates and joint ventures (continued)
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In all other cases, when the Group ceases to
have significant influence over an associate or
joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
investee, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest
retained in that former investee at the date
when significant influence or joint control is lost
is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition

of a financial asset (see note 3(a)(iv)).

In the Company's statement of financial
position, investments in associates and joint
venture are stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 3(f)(ii)), unless classified as
held for sale (or included in a disposal Group

that is classified as held for sale).
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ABEGH (35M) APFE2 ) DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(a)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

(iv)  Other investments in equity securities

The Group's and the Company’s policies for
investments in equity securities, other than
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint

ventures, are as follows:

Investments in equity securities are recognised
on the date the Group commits to purchase the
investment. The investments are initially stated
at fair value plus directly attributable transaction
costs, except for those investments measured
at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) for
which transaction costs are recognised directly
in profit or loss. For an explanation of how
the Group determines fair value of financial
instruments, see note 29(g). These investments
are subsequently accounted for as follows,
depending on their classification.
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3 HEREFFBUR () 3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(a) HRAHEEYECH) (a) Basis of consolidation (continued)
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(iv)  Other investments in equity securities (continued)
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Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVPL unless the equity investment is not held
for trading purposes and on initial recognition of
the investment the Group makes an irrevocable
election to designate the investment at FVOCI
(non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in
fair value are recognised in other comprehensive
income. Such elections are made on an
instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only
be made if the investment meets the definition
of equity from the issuer’s perspective.
Where such an election is made, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income
remains in the fair value reserve (non-recycling)
until the investment is disposed of. At the time
of disposal, the amount accumulated in the
fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred
to retained earnings. It is not recycled through
profit or loss. Dividends from an investment
in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised

in profit or loss as other income.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
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3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b)

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and

impairment losses (see note 3(f)(ii)):

- right-of-use assets arising from leases over
freehold or leasehold properties where the
Group is not the registered owner of the

property interest; and

- items of plant and equipment, including right-
of-use assets arising from leases of underlying

plant and equipment (see note 3(c)).

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-

constructed assets includes the following:

the cost of materials and direct labour;

- any other costs directly attributable to bringing
the assets to a working condition for their

intended use;

- when the Group has an obligation to remove
the asset or restore the site, an estimate of the
costs of dismantling and removing the items
and restoring the site on which they are located;

and capitalised borrowing costs (see note 3(v)).

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property,
plant and equipment (calculated as the difference
between the net proceeds from disposal and the
carrying amount of the item) is recognised in profit

and loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is
probable that the future economic benefits associated

with the expenditure will flow to the Group.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual values, if any, using the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lives, and is

generally recognised in profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives for the current and

comparative periods are as follows:

- Land use rights are depreciated over the unexpired term of lease.

-
- Buildings

- HERF

= Leasehold building
- BN

- Plant and machinery
- BRI KB RRE

- Furniture, fittings and equipment

= Y
- Motor vehicles
— B REEE

- Other right-of-use assets

FEHN - AERFHRFR
BESFEMALI(EHFE (WE
R e

2-25%F

2 — 25 years
1-154F
1-15 years
10-124F

10 - 12 years
5-64F

5 -6 years
4-5%

4 -5 years
1-3%F

1 -3 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values

are reviewed annually and adjusted if appropriate.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
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3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b)

(c)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Construction in progress represents office buildings,
various infrastructure projects under construction and
equipment pending installation, and is measured at
cost less impairment losses (see note 3(f)(ii)). Cost
comprises direct costs of construction and the initial
estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling
and removing the item and restoring the site on which
it is located during the periods of construction and
installation. Capitalisation of these costs ceases and
the construction in progress is transferred to property,
plant and equipment when the asset is substantially
ready for its intended use, notwithstanding any delays
in the issue of the relevant commissioning certificates

by the relevant authorities.

No depreciation is provided in respect of construction
in progress until it is completed and ready for its

intended use.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration. Control
is conveyed where the customer has both the right
to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that

use.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(c) Leased assets (continued)

@)

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease components
and non-lease components, the Group has
elected not to separate non-lease components
and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single

lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability, except for short-term leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less and leases
of low-value assets which, for the Group are
primarily office furniture. When the Group
enters into a lease in respect of a low-value
asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise
the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease
payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense
on a systematic basis over the lease term.
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ABEGH (35M) APFE2 ) DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(c)

Leased assets (continued)

@)

As a lessee (continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable over the
lease term, discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be
readily determined, using a relevant incremental
borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortised cost
and interest expense is calculated using the
effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or
rate are not included in the measurement of the
lease liability and hence are charged to profit or
loss in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset
or to restore the underlying asset or the site on
which it is located, discounted to their present
value, less any lease incentives received. The
right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment

losses (see note 3(b)).



3 EAEEHBOR ()

(o) HTEHZE ()

@

TEZRTN ()

RERESMIBARER
R IBE A LA SH A AN FHE
MEBESRENSFTBER
HEREEESFAERE (R
FREEES(s) (i) FI3()(i))  #4E
DA EBENEREEZEN
EMEEFESBINNEE
R - At AEREE
EHIEA -

EARRESEX —EHET
REFMEEE - RFEAEE
TERRIE R E SR RN
ZeRHEE  FAEHE
REERTE BT KT
EEE - EHIR PREE
MELEE) - AGEHTE
MERE - T T AEH
EHERER  ERAREE
ZAREERIFERARE - 3
T (e A E E 2 BRI EE R
ET  RIRBERIIRK o

//

B RS Rk M

Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(c) Leased assets (continued)

@)

As a lessee (continued)

The initial fair value of refundable rental deposits
is accounted for separately from the right-of-use
assets in accordance with the accounting policy
applicable to investments in debt securities
carried at amortised cost (see notes 3(s)(ii) and
3(f)(i)). Any difference between the initial fair
value and the nominal value of the deposits
is accounted for as additional lease payments
made and is included in the cost of right-of-use
assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there
is a change in future lease payments arising
from a change in an index or rate, or there is a
change in the Group's estimate of the amount
expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or there is a change arising from
the reassessment of whether the Group will
be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase,
extension or termination option. When the
lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to

Zero.
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ABEGH (35M) APFE2 ) DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(c)

Leased assets (continued)

@)

As a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when
there is a change in the scope of a lease
or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract
(“lease modification”) that is not accounted
for as a separate lease. In this case the lease
liability is remeasured based on the revised
lease payments and lease term using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the

modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial
position, the current portion of long-term lease
liabilities is determined as the present value of
contractual payments that are due to be settled

within twelve months after the reporting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leased assets (continued)

(i)  As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines
at lease inception whether each lease is a
finance lease or an operating lease. A lease
is classified as a finance lease if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to the ownership of an underlying assets to
the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is

classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-
lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component
on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
The rental income from operating leases is
recognised in accordance with note 3(s)(iv).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the
sub-leases are classified as a finance lease or as
an operating lease with reference to the right-
of-use asset arising from the head lease. If the
head lease is a short-term lease to which the
Group applies the exemption described in note
3(c)(i), then the Group classifies the sub-lease as
an operating lease.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(d)

(e)

Land use rights

The purchase costs of land use rights are amortised
on a straight-line basis over the period of land
use rights. Land use rights are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses (see
note 3(f)(ii).

Investment property

Investment properties are land and/or buildings
which are owned or held under a leasehold interest
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation.
These include land held for a currently undetermined
future use and property that is being constructed or

developed for future use as investment property.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initially
recognition, investment properties are at cost less

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
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3 EAEHNBUR () 3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(h BRI R E W

(f)  Credit losses and impairment of assets

) AN IR R H A (i) Credit losses from trade and other receivables
WK (5 Bl 1A
REEEREWE Z R R The Group recognises a loss allowance for

Hits IR FREME B
BHEERE - ARARBE
ST ARSI RAE ST E A
RIEHEEERFEIDE -

BEREEBEREREEERN
B E o EEEBERN
FrETRMER &Rk (BN S%
BRESNOESNRSRE
AR BN R R 2R
Z R ER) MREM-E -

MRBHBMTEEA - T
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RO

expected credit losses (ECLs) on trade and
other receivables. Equity securities measured at

FVPL are not subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as
the present value of all expected cash shortfalls
(i.e. the difference between the cash flows due
to the Group in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the Group expects to

receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted
using the following discount rates where the

effect of discounting is material:

- EREZERERKEM —  trade and other receivables and contract
FBUWRERAEHE assets: effective interest rate determined

B RN E
PR A R EME

—  IDFELMEE
AR ERAE ¢

~  ARHEEKEER
LIRS

at initial recognition or an approximation

thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current

effective interest rate;

- discount rate used in the measurement of

the lease receivable;

—Z = Q4 F 3R Annual Report 2024

143



PR RAR MY

Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HEHEMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 EAREHEBUR () 3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

144

(F) 5 BRI A (A0

@

ABEGH (35M) APFE2 ) DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

K N SR KA
WS IRHI 17 B 18 ()

ST e (9D

Rt TREEEEREEE
R EHERAEBEHEE
ERBHHRA HHRE -

At ERHIEEERE - &
SEZRAENGEEME
FH BT BEOKANKER
EENER - GREEES
BRI AR SR
RIBAEEF -

BHEEBEEN THIES
—(EEEE -

—  12EAMEHEEES
18 EErERS A S
®12{B A A FREE AL

(continued)

(f)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

@

Credit losses from trade and other receivables

(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to

credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into
account reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort.
This includes information about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future

economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following

bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the

BB E BB reporting date; and
EiE: &

—  EEFEBNEHE - lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
BEEE : EizER expected to result from all possible default
R EEEEER events over the expected lives of the
K18 B R EFE S items to which the ECL model applies.
WNATE Al L B £ &Y
BROEHMERNE
B
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(f)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

@)

Credit losses from trade and other receivables

(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

Loss allowances for trade receivables is always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
ECLs on these financial assets are estimated
using a provision matrix based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast
general economic conditions at the reporting
date.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a
financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of default occurring on the financial
instrument assessed at the reporting date with
that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In
making this reassessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost
or effort.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(f)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

©)

Credit losses from trade and other receivables

(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial

recognition:

significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- it becoming probable that the debtor
will enter bankruptcy or other financial

reorganisation; and

- significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment

that have an adverse effect on the debtor.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on a
collective basis. The financial instruments
are Grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics, such as past due status and

credit risk ratings.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(f)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

@)

Credit losses from trade and other receivables

(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date
to reflect changes in the financial instrument’s
credit risk since initial recognition. Any change
in the ECL amount is recognised as an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The
Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for
all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a

loss allowance account.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of trade and other
receivables is written off (either partially or
in full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay

the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the

period in which the recovery occurs.
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3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(f)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)
(ii)  Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information
are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to identify indications that the following
assets may be impaired or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may
have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment, including
right-of-use assets (other than property
carried at revalued amounts);

- land use rights;

- biological assets;

- investments in subsidiaries; and

- interest in associates and joint ventures.

If any such indication exists, the asset'’s

recoverable amount is estimated.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(f)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(ii)  Impairment of other assets (continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is
the greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined
for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e
a cash-generating unit). A portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate asset (for
example, head office building) is allocated
to an individual cash-generating unit if the
allocation can be done on a reasonable and
consistent basis, or to the smallest group

of cash-generating units if otherwise.
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3

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(f)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(ii)  Impairment of other assets (continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in
income statement if the carrying amount
of an asset, or the cash-generating unit to
which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses recognised
in respect of cash-generating units are
allocated to reduce the carrying amount
of the other assets in the unit (or group
of units) on a pro rata basis, except that
the carrying value of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable) or value

in use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable

amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is
limited to the asset’s carrying amount
that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior
years. Reversals of impairment losses
are credited to profit or loss in the year in

which the reversals are recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(BEEEBH - UARKETTE5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(f)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(g

Biological assets

biological assets.

(iii)  Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to
prepare an interim financial report in compliance
with |AS 34, Interim financial reporting, in
respect of the first six months of the financial
year. At the end of the interim period, the
Group applies the same impairment testing,
recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at

the end of the financial year (see notes 3(f)(i)

Biological assets include broilers, broiler breeder
eggs, breeder poultry, and are stated at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses and where
appropriate, less any accumulated depreciation,
which the costs are not materially different from the

fair value due to short production cycle.

The cost of biological assets comprises its purchase

price and any costs attributable in raising the
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3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(®

(h)

Biological assets (continued)

For biological assets stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses,
the depreciation is calculated on the straight-line
method to write off the cost of these biological assets
over their estimated productive period of 9 months.
The expected productive period of these biological
assets is reviewed regularly, and adjusted when
appropriate. The carrying values of these biological
assets are reviewed for impairment when events
or changes in the circumstances indicate that the

carrying values may not be fully recoverable.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net

realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the

inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs

necessary to make the sale.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BBHEPI - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(h)

()

Inventories (continued)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal
of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as

an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue (see note 3(s)) before being
unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract
assets are assessed for expected credit losses (ECL)
in accordance with the policy set out in note 3(f)(i) and
are reclassified to receivables when the right to the
consideration has become unconditional (see note
3())).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue (see note 3(s)). A
contract liability would also be recognised if the Group
has an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable

would also be recognised (see note 3(j)).
When the contract includes a significant financing

component, the contract balance includes interest

accrued under the effective interest method.
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3 EHAEHBOR () 3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised
before the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract

asset (see note 3(i)).

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component are initially measured at their
transaction price. Trade receivables that contain a
significant financing component and other receivables
are initially measured at fair value plus transaction
costs. All receivables are subsequently stated at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method,
and including an allowance for credit losses (see note
3(f)(i)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’'s cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
cash flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents
are assessed for expected credit losses (ECL) in

accordance with the policy set out in note 3(f)(i).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

)

(m)

(n)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially
at fair value less attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing
borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any
difference between the amount initially recognised
and redemption value being recognised in income
statement over the period of the borrowings, together
with any interest and fees payable, using the effective

interest method.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at
fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and
other payables are stated at amortised cost unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in

which case they are stated at invoice amounts.

Financial instruments

(i)  Non-derivative financial assets and financial

liabilities — recognition and derecognition

The Group initially recognises loans and
receivables and debt securities issued on the
date when they are originated. All other financial
assets and financial liabilities are initially

recognised on the trade date.
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ABEGH (35M) APFE2 ) DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(n) Financial instruments (continued)

@

Non-derivative tinancial assets and financial liabilities

— recognition and derecognition (continued)

The Group's financial assets include cash and
cash equivalents, trade and other receivables,
and amounts due from related parties. Financial
assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire or,
the financial assets are transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the financial assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset's carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received is

recognised in income statement.

Financial liabilities of the Group include interest-
bearing borrowings, trade and other payables,
and amounts due to related parties. Financial
liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged,
cancelled or expired. The difference between
the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid is

recognised in income statement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(n)

(0)

Financial instruments (continued)

(i1)  Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised
initially at fair value on trade date. At the
end of each reporting period the fair value is
remeasured. The gain or loss on remeasurement
to fair value is recognised immediately in

income statement.

Share capital

Ordinary shares

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
ordinary shares, net of any tax effects, are recognised

as a deduction from equity.

Redemption and reissue of ordinary shares

When shares recognised as equity are repurchased,
the amount of the consideration paid, which includes
directly attributable costs, net of any tax effects, is
recognised as a deduction from equity. Repurchased
shares are classified as treasury shares and are
presented in the redemption reserve. \WWhen treasury
shares are sold or reissued subsequently, the amount
received is recognised as an increase in equity, and
the resulting surplus or deficit on the transaction is

presented within share premium.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(p) Employee benefits

@

Short term employee benefits and contributions to

defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits
are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the
effect would be material, these amounts are

stated at their present values.

Contributions to appropriate local defined
contribution retirement schemes pursuant to
the relevant labour rules and regulations are

recognised as an expense when they are due.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(p) Employee benefits (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Share-based payments

The grant-date fair value of equity-settled share-
based payments granted to employees is
measured using the binomial lattice model. The
amount is generally recognised as an expense,
with a corresponding increase in equity, over
the vesting period of the awards. The amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the number of awards for which the related
service conditions are expected to be met,
such that the amount ultimately recognised is
based on the number of awards that meet the
related service conditions at the vesting date.
The equity amount is recognised in the capital
reserve until either the option is exercised
(when it is included in the amount recognised in
share capital for the shares issued) or the option
expires (when it is released directly to retained
profits).

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the
earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and when
it recognises restructuring costs involving the

payment of termination benefits.
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3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(@)

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and
deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that it relates to a business combination,

or items recognised directly in equity or in OCI.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year
and any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable
in respect of previous years. The amount of current
tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the
tax amount expected to be paid or received that
reflects any uncertainty related to income taxes. It is
measured using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also

includes any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is

not recognised for:

- temporary differences on the initial recognition
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not
a business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences;
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Income tax (continued)

- temporary differences related to investment
in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture
to the extent that the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that they will not
reverse in the foreseeable future;

- taxable temporary differences arising on the
initial recognition of goodwill; and

- those related to the income taxes arising from
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to
implement the Pillar Two model rules published
by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities separately in relation to its lease
liabilities and right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which they
can be used. Future taxable profits are determined
based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary
differences. If the amount of taxable temporary
differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred
tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted
for reversals of existing temporary differences, are
considered, based on the business plans for individual
subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax assets are
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that the related
tax benefit will be realised; such reductions are
reversed when the probability of future taxable profits

improves.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(@)

(r)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if

certain criteria are met.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle
the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits

is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to
settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed
by another party, a separate asset is recognised
for any expected reimbursement that would be
virtually certain. The amount recognised for the
reimbursement is limited to the carrying amount of

the provision.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 EAEFHEOR () 3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(s) WA (s) Revenue recognition
WA T IRE WK ERKEN AR Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
BEE -  RELCEMNZA I/ consideration received or receivable. Provided it is
MAREE - U A R (25E probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
) Er ST ER - WAAIRIET Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can
P AEERRER - be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in the

income statement as follows:

i) HEESE (i)  Sale of goods
W A\ T 2 i ok AR 75 45 ) Revenue is recognised when control over
RZNE B TR A A R ER Y a product or service is transferred to the
ARESHE(TRE/RRSE customer, or the lessee has the right to use the
AR ER EBER asset, at the amount of promised consideration
F SR ANE#EEREE to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
FrigEed o WA B IEISER excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
SR HER - WAAHRIE third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax
AIZ S0 ° or other sales taxes and is after deduction of

any trade discounts.

i) FLELA (ii)  Interest income
B AR GRS B Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
FEATER © the effective interest method.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
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ABEGH (35M) APFE2 ) DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(s)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(iii)  Government grants

i)

Government grants are recognised in the
statement of financial position initially when
there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses incurred
are recognised as income in the income
statement on a systematic basis in the same
periods in which the expenses are incurred.
Grants that compensate the Group for the cost
of an asset are deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and consequently are
effectively recognised in the income statement
over the useful life of the asset by way of

reduced depreciation expense.

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases
is recognised in the income statement in equal
instalments over the periods covered by the
lease term, except where an alternative basis is
more representative of the pattern of benefits
to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in
income statement as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments receivable.
Contingent rentals are recognised as income in

the accounting period in which they are earned.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(s) Revenue recognition (continued)

(v)  Management fees

Management fees income is recognised when
the related services are rendered.

(t) Foreign currencies

@

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated
to the respective functional currencies of Group
entities at exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated to the
functional currency at the exchange rate at
the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities that are measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated to the functional
currency at the exchange rate when the fair
value was determined. Foreign currency
differences are generally recognised in income
statement. Non-monetary items that are
measured based on historical cost in a foreign
currency are not translated.
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ABEGH (35M) APFE2 ) DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

()

Foreign currencies (continued)

@)

(i)

Foreign currency transactions (continued)

However, foreign currency differences arising
from the translation of the following items are

recognised in other comprehensive income:

- an investment in equity securities
designated as at FVOCI;

- a financial liability designated as a
hedge of the net investment in a foreign
operation to the extent that the hedge is

effective; or

- qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent

that the hedges are effective.

Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations,
including goodwill and fair value adjustments
arising on acquisition, are translated into RMB
at exchange rates at the reporting date. The
income and expenses of foreign operations,
excluding foreign operations in hyperinflationary
economies, are translated into RMB at the

exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

(ii) ~ Foreign operations (continued)

Foreign currency differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income, and accumulated
in the translation reserve, except to the extent
that the translation difference is allocated to

non-controlling interests.

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its
entirety or partially such that control, significant
influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative
amount in the translation reserve related to
that foreign operation is reclassified to profit
or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.
If the Group disposes of part of its interest
in a subsidiary that retains control, then the
relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is
reattributed to non-controlling interests. When
the Group disposes of only part of an associate
or joint venture while retaining significant
influence or joint control, the relevant proportion
of the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit

or loss.

If the settlement of a monetary item receivable
from a foreign operation is neither planned nor
likely to occur in the foreseeable future, such
receivables is deemed as a net investment
in that foreign operation. Foreign currency
differences arising from such item are
recognised as “translation reserve” in other

comprehensive income.
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3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

()

()

Research and development costs

Research and development costs comprise all
costs that are directly attributable to research and
development activities or that can be allocated on a
reasonable basis to such activities. Because of the
nature of the Company’s or the Group's research
and development activities, no development costs
satisfy the criteria for the recognition of such costs
as an asset. Both research and development costs
are therefore recognised as expenses in the period in

which they are incurred.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as
part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs

are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of
the cost of a qualifying asset commences when
expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing
costs are being incurred and activities that are
necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or
sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs
is suspended or ceases when substantially all the
activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for
its intended use or sale are interrupted or completed.
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3 HEREFFBUR () 3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(w) BT (w) Related parties
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family, is related to the Group if that person:

- has control or joint control over the Group;

- has significant influence over the Group;
or

- is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group's

parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

- The entity and the Group are members of
the same Group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is

related to the others);

- One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a Group of which

the other entity is a member);

- Both entities are joint ventures of the

same third party;
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 EAGFHEHEOR () 3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(w) BT (48) (w) Related parties (continued)
(i) (HEEFAUTEIGYE (i) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
RIAR A AR EE A BE g following conditions applies: (continued)
€5)
- —AEE - One entity is a joint venture of a third

o aF
W
N
ot
pi

A= VNI RTE entity and the other entity is an associate
—HERRE=FE of the third entity;
il VNG

— ZEBARASHEH -  The entity is a post-employment benefit
AEEEHRERZE plan for the benefit of employees of
B8Nz BB R R A either the Group or an entity related to the
aTEl Group;

—  ZEEIROFAE —  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
B A 45 Il 3k H R 4% by a person identified in (i);
il

- ROFMTATEHALE — A person identified in (i) has significant
ZERBBEAYED influence over the entity or is a member
S RZER(KZE of the key management personnel of the
SRERRNZEEE entity (or of a parent of the entity);
BEKE

- ER 3—HEEz —  The entity, or any member of a Group
FRKERAE (A% of which it is a part, provides key
Bz —F5) mAs management personnel services to the
B HARREEE Group or to the Group's parent.
ZER ABRE -

ERIMERI A LAY 3R 5 B e Close members of the family of a person are

BREITR SRR s those family members who may be expected

LZERAL - HZZER] to influence, or be influenced by, that person in

ATHEHNREKES ° their dealings with the entity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(x)

(y)

Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per
share data for its ordinary shares. Basic earnings
per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss
attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year, adjusted for own shares
held. Diluted earnings per share is determined by
adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary
shareholders and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for own shares
held, for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares, which comprise share options granted to
employees.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the CEO of the Company for the purposes
of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business

and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated
if they share a majority of these criteria.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

4 BERA 4

AEENEIZEBEREENEESE
fR - REBRKEA - ARIIT R e
ERASEIEXRBRRDNEMFBR
BB RARMTE12 -

REBAEBRHEZESA NN

TURNOVER

The principal activities of the Group include manufacturing
and trading of livestock feeds, poultry and chilled meats
and processed food. Further details regarding the Group's
principal activities are disclosed in note 12 to these financial

statements.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

N by major product lines is as follows:
—ET-NF ZE=F
2024 2023
ARET T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB'000
HEBA Sales of chicken meats 1,542,116 1,832,717
HEBS BRI Sales of livestock feeds 1,720,637 2,263,279
HENTR S Sales of processed food 2,571,851 2,322,970
5,834,604 6,418,966

AEBNESERST - RRATEE
BE 2 5B A L AR A0%HF
F o ARBBRPEANEERRES Y
BRI 290 -

ABEGH (35M) APFE2 ) DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

The Group’s customer base is diversified and includes
no customer with whom transactions have exceeded 10
percent of the Group's turnover. Details of concentrations
of credit risk arising from the Group’s customers are set

out in note 29(a).
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

HABA W R HA 1 ()~ S OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND

W 4 OTHER NET (LOSS)/GAIN
TECMF ZT=F
2024 2023
AR¥ETT AREFIT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
HpgEg A Other operating income
FMEUA Interest income 8,223 10,709
2G| Government grants 11,907 8,074
WA Rental income 4,800 6,409
24,930 25,192
HMF (Fia) s Other net (loss)/gain
SN R FE Net foreign exchange gain 2,878 242

HEYE  BERREDF
B
W - RE R SR ERRRD

Net loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment (5,265) (6,577)

Reversal of impairment losses on property,

(FsE13) plant and equipment (note 13) - 3,308
Hth Others 554 3,344
(1,833) 317

—Z = Q4 F 3R Annual Report 2024
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

6  BRBEHTE A 6 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
BRA AR A TS H0BR A N B IB M ES Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:
—E-mE TECCF
2024 2023
AREFT ARBTFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
(a) BAFERAX (a) Finance costs
ARAFREEEER Interest on bank borrowings wholly
MIRTTEEFE repayable within five years 21,705 16,234
HEEEFE Interest on lease liabilities 1,463 1,504
23,168 17,738
(b) BIRAE (b) Staff costs
e IE - #e Salaries, wages, bonuses and other
MEMEF benefits 699,873 666,361
RINEFET B Contributions to retirement schemes 36,879 34,763
736,752 701,624
REE VAL EBPEARILME ([ The Group is required to participate in pension schemes
Bl D) BRATBUT & PR 5 El - AD organised by the respective municipal governments of the
REEREAFENBEAGBTEIKLEA People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") whereby the Group
FAEERETIEREE  1216% (=% is required to pay annual contributions for PRC based
Z=F 116%) Mt pl AP BES I employees at a rate of 16 percent (2023: 16 percent) of the
FERKRSHR o B L FZHERI - standard wages determined by the relevant authorities in
REEN et B E B R R A E R the PRC during the year. The Group has no other material
MEAREME - obligation for payment of retirement benefits to the

PRC based employees beyond the annual contributions
described above.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued)

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme"”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a
defined contribution retirement scheme administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the Group is
required to make contributions to the scheme at 6 percent
(2023: 6 percent) of the employees’ relevant income and
its employees are required to make contributions to the
scheme at 5 percent (2023: 5 percent) of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the scheme vest

immediately.
Save for the above schemes, the Group has no other

material obligation for payment of retirement benefits

beyond the contributions.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

6 BeBiErEAl () 6 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued)
(¢ HiwEH (¢) Other items
—ETIEF —E-=F
2024 2023
ARET T AREEFIT
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ZEEI B2 Auditors’ remuneration
— FEZERG — annual audit services 3,700 3,700
— H b BRT% — other services 120 120
3,820 3,820
WeEL N Depreciation charge
—BEWE - BENKKE — owned property, plant and equipment 162,633 121,635
—FREEE - right-of-use assets 6,063 5,877
—REMEHE — investment property 3,000 2,748
171,696 130,260
EMEETTE Depreciation of biological assets 8,113 8,192
R, (BERE) R E 5 Recognised/(reversal) of impairment losses
BRFOREETE on trade receivables 2,343 (1,252)
(BEE) /FERIFE MR (Reversal)/recognised write-down
of inventory (6,627) 8,057
B AR A Research and development costs 1,008 798
FERA* Cost of inventories* 5,093,433 5,743,386
* FERABFEEME TRA - @ Cost of inventories includes RMB589,655,000 (2023:

B R 2 AR 589,655,000
T(ZZE_=Z%: ARE#¥
535,004,0007T) * BREEREIN
FEAR £ FE6(b) BB H R
WZEEERIRSHEEASE
ﬂq °

RMB535,004,000) relating to staff costs, depreciation and
amortization expenses, which amount is also included in the
respective total amounts disclosed separately above or in
note 6(b) for each of these types of expenses.
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(BB HHMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

INCOME STATEMENT
FEBmANZIIETE (a) Taxation in the consolidated income statement
represents:
—ZomE —EB-=%F
2024 2023
ARMTT AREEFIT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
EHIRIE Current tax
FNEE Provision for the year 16,010 9,912
BEHFNRERE Over-provision in respect of prior years (3,457) (259)
12,553 9,653
IEFERIE Deferred tax
TR EENELE KD Origination and reversal of temporary
_iE2sb)  differences(note28) ... 1618 1017
BIEXH Tax expense 14,166 10,670
() RERSHESNABEZHE (i)  Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the

& ([RBELES]) HRA
KRB - REEBARFHES
HENEBELESHMNE

EEEETN

Cayman Islands and British Virgin Islands
(“BVI"), the Group is not subject to any income
tax in the Cayman Islands and BVI.
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7 HEBHEERNZ A () 7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT (continued)
(a) #HEBmERAZIHIEE: (&) (a) Taxation in the consolidated income statement

178

(ii)

ABEGH (35M) APFE2 ) DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

T FMEBFIG R
HRIZZFENMETER
BAEN166% (—FE—=
F:16.5%):TEH - EX
EERBRFASE AR $I1E
THAERR RN —RH B
A EAIBRIN o

HRUWEAR B8
B TT Y FE R R 12825 %
BB =B - HARIERTL A
HHE16.5% M TR - %
M AR B ATISHIRE
RIEZT - =FMERER
ZE - FEBNEREE
= R I BB RITTEE BT
BTHREAE-Z==/
ZRREE NN
100% * BEEHIEZEBRZR
#3,0008 (T =% :
R R NEER
=R 56,0005 7T + WHERT
E-T - =FHBRERER
EA) o

represents: (continued)

(ii)

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for
2024 is calculated at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) of
the estimated assessable profits for the year,
except for one subsidiary of the Group which
is qualifying corporation under the two-tiered

Profits Tax rate regime.

For this subsidiary, the first HK$2 million of
assessable profits are taxed at 8.25% and
the remaining assessable profits are taxed at
16.5%. The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax
for this subsidiary was calculated at the same
basis in 2023.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for
2024 takes into account a reduction granted
by the Hong Kong SAR Government of 100%
of the tax payable for the year of assessment
2023/24 subject to a maximum reduction of
HK$3,000 for each business (2023: a maximum
reduction of HK$6,000 was granted for the year
of assessment 2022/23 and was taken into
account in calculating the provision for 2023).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT (continued)

(@) Taxation in the consolidated income statement

represents: (continued)

(i) Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations
of the PRC, the Group entities incorporated in
the PRC are liable to PRC Corporate Income Tax
at a rate of 25 percent during the year (2023: 25
percent), except for Dongbei Agri (Changchun)
Co., Ltd. (“DBC-CC"). DBC-CC is subject to a
preferential tax rate of 15 percent (2023: 15
percent), as it has obtained the new high-tech

enterprise qualification since 2022.
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7 HEBERENZIEE () 7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT (continued)

b)) REANEFENTEIERE (b)  Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting
FHE AT T profit at applicable tax rates:
—E-MEFE —Eo=F
2024 2023
ARETT ARBTFT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
R 7 A v A Profit before taxation 98,478 86,050

LR BTSRRI Z25%  Income tax calculated at PRC's Corporate

TE PSR Income Tax rate of 25%* 24,620 21,513
T B B TS e e A A Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries
WEBARIM TR ERAFTE  operating in different tax jurisdictions 937 1,021
AR B ISR & Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 1,466 1,213
BERGMANT B E Tax effect of non-taxable income (8,718) (25,832)
RAERFS B 1B N 51 2= 2 Tax effect of the movement of tax losses
TG E and temporary difference not recognised (682) 13,014
BEHFHREBRS Over-provision in respect of prior years (3,457) (259)
BERFIERY Actual tax expense 14,166 10,670
@ 25% (ZZE =4 : 25%) FT5 %t & The income tax rate of 25 percent (2023: 25 percent)
HERIEAEEFZLEMERE represents the domestic tax rate in the jurisdiction where the
RO E MK o operations of the Group are substantially based.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BBHEPI - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT (continued)

(c)

Pillar Two income taxes

The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development (“OECD") published Pillar Two model
rules in December 2021, with the effect that a
jurisdiction may enact domestic tax laws (“Pillar
Two legislation”) to implement the Pillar Two model
rules on a globally agreed common approach. The
Group mainly operates in Mainland China and its
subsidiaries are located in Hong Kong. Hong kong
is the jurisdiction which is subject to the Pillar Two
legislation, after the respective jurisdiction has
completed its new tax law enactment process. As the
new tax laws are not yet effective for the year ended
31 December 2024, the Group does not recognise
any current tax relating to the Pillar Two model rules
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Group has applied the temporary mandatory
exception to recognising and disclosing information
about deferred tax assets and liabilities related to
Pillar Two income taxes and would account for
the tax as current tax when incurred. Due to the
uncertainties in enactment and interpretation of
Pillar Two legislation, and complexities in applying
the legislation and calculating taxable income, the
guantitative impact of Pillar Two is not yet reasonably
estimable. The Group is continuously monitoring
the law enactment progress of Pillar Two legislation
in relevant jurisdictions to assess the impact to the

financial statements of the Group.
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8 #HFM4L 8 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
BIEEB R FHEHIE383(1)ERA R (H Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383
BESNm AR RO 22048 E FrikFE (1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of
ZEEMET the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of

Directors) Regulation are as follows:

=t S
2024
e 28
REWEF 2N
Salaries, AR
EZH4E  allowances BfEf4  Retirement
Directors’  and benefits Discretionary scheme @t
fees in kind bonuses  contribution Total

ARBTR  ARE®TR ARBTR ARBTR  AR®TR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

£33 Chairman
E3d2 James Chun-Hsien Wei - 2,036 783 21 2,840
HiTES Executive director
BERE Han Chia-Yin - 299 - - 299
BUFHTES Independent

Non-executive directors
BER Lee Tsai, Yu-Ling 213 - - - 213
=R Kao, Koong-Lian 223 - - - 223
TEW Ting Yu-Shan 233 - - - 233
ByE Hsia Li-Yan 233 - - - 233
FHITES Non-executive directors
BXR Han Jia-Hwan 178 - - - 178
BZT Han Chia-Yau 178 - - - 178
HAE Chao Tien-Shin 178 - - - 178
BRR Harn Jia-Chen 158 - - - 158
FIRE Wei Anning 177 - - - 177

1,1mM 2,335 783 21 4,910

182  xm&® (TM) BFR2 T DaChan Food (Asia) Limited



7

B RS Rk M

Notes to the Financial Statements

(B BB

IARMETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

8 HHME (M) 8 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)
“Z-=F
2023
e 2
REWEF N
Salaries, A
521%  allowances EIETEAL Retirement
Directors'  and benefits ~ Discretionary scheme @it
fees in kind bonuses  contribution Total
ARETE  ARETT AREFT ARETT  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
& Chairman
ZER James Chun-Hsien Wei - 2,039 790 28 2,857
HTES Executive director
BREH Han Chia-Yin - 240 - - 240
BUFHTES Independent
Non-executive directors
BA(BHT - M=Z==% Chen Chih (Resigned,

NAZTRAER) with effect from 30 June 2023) 90 = = - 90
BAE@ET MZZ== Way Yung-Do (Resigned,

FRA=TEER with effect from 30 June 2023) 90 - - - 90
BT (EZ H=% LeeTsai Yu-Ling (Appointed,

“ZFEARZTRER  with effect from 30 June 2023) 90 - - - 90
SHEEZT R=F  Kao, Koong-Lian (Appointed,

“ZFEARZTRER  with effect from 30 June 2023) 90 - - - 90
TEW Ting Yu-Shan 180 - = = 180
BU=E Hsia Li-Yan 180 - - - 180
FHITES Non-executive directors
EXR% Han Jia-Hwan 135 - - - 135
EXT Han Chia-Yau 135 - - - 135
BEXE Chao Tien-Shin 135 - - - 135
EXR Ham Jia-Chen 135 - - - 135
FRE Wei Anning 136 = = = 136

1,396 2,279 790 28 4,493
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9 EmHMAL 9 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS
AfimmFMALTH  —f (2= Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one
F:—f)REF  HMSERNMES (2023: one) is director whose emoluments are disclosed in
EH SR - REBESRNA(ZT_= note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the
F M) RS FHMA L2 HBF B other four (2023: four) individuals are as follows:
T
—ETIEF —E-=F
2024 2023
ARMTT AREEFTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
T Mo EoAth Fr B Salaries and other emoluments 4,115 4,491
BIBIEAL Discretionary bonuses 718 647
RIRGT B Retirement scheme contributions 90 72
4,923 5,210
W (ZE=4F : O) e HBA LT The emoluments of the four (2023: four) individuals with
BN T RFIER - the highest emoluments are within the following bands:
—E-MEFE ZEZ=F
2024 2023
A AE
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
0/87C% 1,000,000/ 7T HKDO to HKD1,000,000 1 1
1,000,0018 T2 1,500,000/ 7T HKD1,000,001 to HKD 1,500,000 1 1
1,500,001%8 7L 22,000,000/ 7T HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 2 2
FR - AEBEBERAZZALIMNR No emoluments have been paid to these individuals as
I8 - ARSI E N AREESEAINAK an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
SE/RE - SERMERL 2 FHE - compensation for loss of office during the year.
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10 Al 4 i Wi 4 10 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

ZBIRF i S
2024 2023
BHASE  HEFE KUKSE BN HBYE  RikeHE
Before-tax Net-of-tax ~ Before-tax Net-of-tax
amount  Tax effect amount amount  Tax effect amount

ARETR AREBTR AR%TR ARMTR ARETT ARET:
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

WENTRIAMER Z8 :  Exchange differences on

translation of:

— BN ERTHAR — financial statements of
overseas entities 6,258 - 6,258 7,583 - 7,583
—AEARTERBE LR ~ intra-Group loans
REFENEEALT classified as net
HER() investment in PRC
subsidiaries (i) (9,354) - (9,354) (10,452) = (10,452)
Ei2EEE Other comprehensive income (3,096) - (3,096) (2,869) = (2,869)

(i) BE-Z—ZFi  ARAMERTRH
BARZOHE DR ([HEMBARDE
HEEBRARRMER - REARARE
FUAET([ETDAE - BTFE - &
B E QR HEEARRREFTIREE
H i A R E TR AR o

RZZE—HFTA=+H " ARAE
SHESERNRRRERERRLQA
R BB RRNRE TR MEE
AR REERESEREREEIT
TERA R -

RZZE-_NF+=-A=+—H &=
RAFIRERNIEEFREASHNAA
R#636,170,0007T ° fARIE X =58
AR#72,860,000 (ZFE =4 :
AR#63,510,0007T) BRI EES(1)
FrEt st BUR N AR B AR A R
Rtk R InEREE] o

(i) The Company lent intra-Group loans to certain of the Company’s
subsidiaries established in the PRC (the “PRC subsidiaries”) since
2010. The intra-Group loans were denominated in U.S. dollar (“USD")
and non-interest bearing. The PRC subsidiaries translated the intra-
Group loans to their functional currencies of RMB at the exchange

rate at the reporting date.

On 30 October 2015, the directors of the Company
approved the intra-Group loans form a part of the
Company’s net investment in the PRC subsidiaries, and the
settlement of the intra-Group loans is neither planned nor

likely to occur in the foreseeable future.

The principal amount of the net investment intra-
Group loans was approximately RMB636,170,000 as
at 31 December 2024. Related exchange difference of
RMB72,860,000 (2023: RMB63,510,000) was recorded as
“translation reserve” in the Group’s consolidated statement
of financial position, in accordance with the accounting

policy in note 3(t).
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11 T A B i 2 11 BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER
SHARE

BRERREERB N ERE AT TiER The calculation of basic and diluted EPS has been based on

AR A = F) RSP B BT e the following profit attributable to ordinary shareholders and

MR LN TR BRI weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding

ETE after adjustment for the effects of all dilutive potential

ordinary shares.

(a) 52 05 3t 3 A v ) (a) Profit attribute to ordinary shareholders
—Z2TME —Eo=fF
2024 2023
ARMT T AREETTT
RMB’000 RMB'000

NAEEBACAL R E(SEF]  Profit attributable to ordinary equity

shareholders of the Company 58,831 47,024
(b) ¥ 7 I B P 239 it 9 (b) Weighted average number of ordinary shares
LAk i TR S Weighted average number of ordinary shares
—E_MEFE =%
2024 2023
R—H—HBEETHE@MAX  Issued ordinary shares at 1 January 1,016,189,000 1,016,189,000
SR FIAED SEE R BIMRS 2 Effect of restricted share award scheme - =
RTEZA=+—HMEMIK Weighted average number of
T AR S ordinary shares at 31 December 1,016,189,000 1,016,189,000
HE-_T-_NFR=ZFT=_=F The Group has no dilutive ordinary shares outstanding
TZA=+—HIEFE A5E for the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
7 4B AT S B AR BT TSN - Therefore, there was no difference between basic
Eit - GRREAR R EE R FI & and diluted earnings per share.
ERo
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

12 SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are

organised by a mixture of both business lines (products

and services) and geography. In a manner consistent with

the way in which information is reported internally to the

Company's CEO for the purposes of resource allocation

and performance assessment, the Group has presented

the following three reportable segments. No operating

segments have been aggregated to form the following

reportable segments.

Processed food:

Livestock feeds:

Chicken Meat:

The processed food segment produces
and distributes pickled, pre-fried, and
instant food.

The livestock feeds segment
manufactures and distributes complete
feeds, base mix feeds and pre-mix
feeds for swine, layer, broiler, duck, and
breeder poultry under the brands of “Dr.
Nupak”, “DaChan” and “Green Knight”.

The chicken meat segment carries on
business of broiler farming, hatching of
broiler breeder eggs, contract farming,
processing and marketing of chilled and
frozen chicken meat marketed under
the brand of “DaChan” and “Sisters’
Kitchen".

—Z = Q4 F 3R Annual Report 2024
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12 AEP R ()

(a)

ABEGH (35M) APFE2 ) DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

SrEbEAE - B KR

D BEE RS D HENE
BOREME - BRATERTS
EEERZ 2RO AMEEZE
mBERARE:

DHEEBRMEBNEERR
BEE  WEEHBREEREM
REBERIN - D REBRES
BN B RS I G B RIS RS
HENERR - BT ERRERH
DEERMRITEER ©

BEWARFAXZTIZ2ER DA
EEMHER  UARED AR
SORXXE BB EEEE
T EREHEmMELENRAS D
REERATEHDE -

BEDE BB ERER
P

BRERERBENND BEMIN -
BRATEMEREARBLER
AN (BESEHEHEERE)  TER
BHHNORER - DEFEHER
T2 EZHNB AL BEETEEL
HERMAETERE °

12 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(a)

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources among segments, the CEO
monitors the results, assets and liabilities attributable

to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible assets and
current assets with the exception of deferred tax
assets and other corporate assets. Segment liabilities
include trade creditors, accruals attributable to the
manufacturing and sales activities of the individual
segments and bank borrowings managed directly by

the segments.

Turnover and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by
those segments and the expenses incurred by
those segments or which otherwise arise from the
depreciation or amortisation of assets attributable to

those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is

gross profit.

In addition to receiving segment information
concerning gross profit, the CEO is provided with
segment information concerning turnover (including
inter-segment sales), depreciation and amortisation.
Inter-segment sales are priced with reference to

prices charged to external parties for similar orders.
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12 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

Information regarding the Group's reportable
segments as provided to the CEO for the purposes

of resource allocation and assessment of segment

RUEEAAEERES L 2ER performance for the years ended 31 December 2024
Z5TF and 2023 is set out below:
N1RA BEEH Eng &t
Processed food Livestock feeds Chicken meat Total
e e S R AL
2024 03 2024 023 2004 003 2004 03
ARETR  ARETr  ARMTR  ARETn  ARMTR ARETn ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
RENERHENN Tumover fiom evtrl customers NG 239N T8 28 1SM6 IR0 GEMEM 641896
AUREERA Inter-segment tumover - - 81,997 1275751 530,625 459,754 1382622 1,735,508
Ait Total 2571851 232910 257264 3539030 201,14 22941 1211206 8154471
e Segment result 522,001 477886 143933 153597 67,483 3.0 133401 662,690
FAREEHARES Unallocated operating income and expenses - - - S - N 1%
TEkf] Proftfrom operations - - - - - - T4l 101688
5 Fiance osts - - - - - 31 I 1
EEERAZARDARH S of pofs of equityaccounted investees - - - - - = 5167 210
fiEh Income tax - S - S - - (14166 (10670)
A Proft forthe year - 5 - 5 - = 30 75380
ERAEREH Depreciaion and amortaton for the year (A 139 18611 19258 45,958 008 8% 1020
RN Reportable segment assets 1408487 101733 399,655 d748 13685 1579173 3203987 30m3%4
EMREEREIHEE Additionsto noncurent segment
assets during the year 260,281 105,864 12,983 B34 64,067 280900 B3 530,158
REndaE Reportable segment labiltes 553,835 32018 145,910 167726 359,994 40518 1,059,739 90,262
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12 AEP R () 12 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)
(b) HmELSERBWA - HEE - HE (b) Reconciliations of reportable segment turnover, profit
E=LiE -] or loss, assets and liabilities
iiE=s —EoF ZT=F
Note 2024 2023
ARET T AREFT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
A Turnover
Db & U A48E Total turnover for reportable segments 7,217,226 8,154,471
DEBMEALZU AIKEY  Elimination of inter-segment turnover (1,382,622) (1,735,505)
FaERA Consolidated turnover 5,834,604 6,418,966
BREL AR Profit before tax
SREDEBRTLRTF]  Total profit before tax for
wiE reportable segment 98,478 86,050
AR ATRF Consolidated profit before tax 98,478 86,050
&= Assets
WREDEEE Reportable segment assets 3,203,987 3,053,954
BEHIBEE Deferred tax assets 6,048 5,608
HE MRS ZE WA Cash and cash equivalents and
PR I 14757 30 restricted deposits 472,207 529,389
ROEC4aM SR XA T Unallocated head office and
=3 corporate assets 197,448 194,999
frEBERE Consolidated total assets 3,879,690 3,783,950
afE Liabilities
HwEDPAE Reportable segment liabilities 1,059,739 960,262
FE RS Income tax payable 8,048 7,319
ELEBIEAE Deferred tax liabilities 10,543 8,490
ATEEE Interest-bearing borrowings 232,163 240,308
AOEREHIER N 7a Unallocated head office and
BfE corporate liabilities 139,506 186,558
e aEEE Consolidated total liabilities 1,449,999 1,402,937

ABEGH (35M) APFE2 ) DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

12 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

i I R (¢)  Geographical information
TERETIER)RBEINEEF B The following table sets out information about the
RNEBEEWA R (VN EB B geographical location of (i) the Group's turnover
BEMREZ AR AT/ #E from external customers and (ii) the Group's tangible
= ([FERAFER BB E]) MM I {7 assets and interests in equity-accounted investees
BEM - EPAMIEMG BREIR (“specified non-current assets”). The geographical
HERBIRXNERNLESTE - location of customers is based on the location at
AR B & E R IR B IR IE which the services were provided or the goods
BEEBRMEME (WWBYWE - K delivered. The geographical location of the specified
F5 R 5 A) A48 & 5 75 BT AE 3 (40 non-current assets is based on the physical location
B ABR2R A AR ER) B of the asset, in the case of property, plant and
E ° equipment and the location of operations, in the case
of interests in equity-accounted investees.
REIMNBEFHLEWRA ERERBERE
Turnover from Specified
external customers non-current assets
—E-mE —EC=F —EImE TEC=HF
2024 2023 2024 2023
ARETFT ARETFT AREFT ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
i The PRC 5,519,176 6,157,786 2,042,897 1,885,561
B Japan 259,289 217,388 - -
HABIZR Other countries 56,139 43,792 - -
5,834,604 6,418,966 2,042,897 1,885,561
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13 P& - s Jesttti - LHbpEA 13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT,

RE VL B & 1 I vl LAND USE RIGHTS AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTY
(a) MR ¥R (a) Reconciliation of carrying amount
i %2
R i fEt
REIR HEREE  Fumiture, it il BiE
Construction BT Plantand fittingsand Motor 5 Land  Investment ot
inprogress  Buildings  machinery  equipment vehicles ~ Subtotal  use rights property Total

ARRTR  ARMTZ  ARRTR  ARRTR ARMTR  ARETR  ARBTR ARMTR  ARETR
RMB'OO0  RMVB0  RMB'000  RMBOO0  RMB'000  RMBOO0  RMB'000  RMB'0O0  RMB'000

s Cost
RZFRE-A-R A1 January 2004 117,148 106,483 2,786,716 160,889 28967 3200203 175,851 112540 3,488,594
RE Additions 195,207 3 129419 7899 1,039 31331 - - 31331
gf Transfers (282592) - 21,019 1513 - - - - -
{hE Disposals - (492) (63,022) (6,570) (308) (70,442) - (20) (70462)
EiZE Exchange differences - 2 - 2 - B - - B
RZTZRE At31 December 2024
+2A=1-H 29,763 109,766 3134192 163,752 29,648 3467121 175,851 112520 3,755,492

ZirE BERAE Accumulated depreciation,

amortisation and

impairment;
RE-RE-A-B A1 Janvary 2024 - 81,646 1,357,408 109,505 15,056 1563615 56,400 58,184 1678199
R Charge for the year - BB 146448 96% 288 16440 4284 300 17M6%
g Transfers - - - - - - - - -
if=3 Disposals - (362) (39,887) (5,962) (313) (46,524) - (10) (46,534)
EXZE Exchange diferences - 2 - 2 - pi] - - pi]

RE-RE At 31 December 2024

. N Do W MBI TR AN A G M IR
FiE: Canying values:
NEomE At 31 December 2024

+ZA=1-A 29,763 2,99 1,670,223 50,555 12,062 1,785,595 115,167 51,346 1952,108
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13 P3E - s Besttts - LHpEA 13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT,

RE DL B2 #5612 (4 LAND USE RIGHTS AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTY (continued)
(a) WA IR (%) (a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued)
2

& e &t
FrETE HEREE  Fumitre, Wt FE FHE

Construction BF  Plntand fitingsand Motor Dt Land  Investment &

In progress Buldings ~ machinery ~ equipment vehicles Sub-total Use rights property Total

ARRTR  ARRTn  ARMTR  ARRTR ARRTR ARMTR  ARRTR ARMTR ARRTR
RVBOMD  RVBOID  RMBOD  RMBOI)  RMBON  RMBOND  AMBOD  RMBOD  RWBON

A Cost
RZEZ=E-A-A At January 2023 298816 104,786 2136522 159,346 848 2721898 178,336 105,413 3,006,647
HE Addltions 416204 2157 92520 11,63 7540 530,0% £ - 530,158
B Transfers (597912 - B30 2% W (4,580 (2547 11 -
e Diposls - 1 N 1 N 121 - - W
EXZE Bxchange diferences - 3 - t] - 80 - . %)
e At 31 December 203

tZA=1-A 17,148 106,483 2,786,716 160,889 28%7 3,200,203 175,81 112,540 3488594
ZiMfE  BERAE Accumulated depreciation,

amortisation and
impairment;

WZBZZE-F-R A1 January 203 - 71,664 1,281,024 108,599 13674 148091 52837 5154 1,585,312
ERik Charge for the year - 534 105,110 9463 258 123079 4433 2748 130,260
g Transfers - = (3042 - - (3042 870 391 -
HEEERD Impaitment loss reversed - [1.814) (1173) [321) - 3308 = = (3,308
it Disposals = (121) (24511) (8,153) (1,200 (33,985) - = (33985)
EXZE Exchange differences - 3 = 83) - (80) - - (80)
it At31 December 2023
A L IO T IO O )
BEE: Camying values:
Ho5z= At31 December 2023

t2A=1-8 17,148 1837 1429308 51,384 13911 1,636,588 119,451 54,35 18103%
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13 W3~ Wi Kkl ~ LIAER 13
HEVL B 1 5 1 57 b s (460)

(a)  WRmIE EHR (4)

RENEHERKNARRFTITE
REMBEBRIE R=-F
“ME+—RA=+—H " BEERE
A AEEREEFBENRA
BEL R ARSS,698,0007T °

REZEZNFR-F_=F+=
A=+—8 BMEEFRIME
R FRITUMBE T AL
EHRITEE -

REBALP AT H 2 1 38 A

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT,
LAND USE RIGHTS AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTY (continued)

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued)

Investment properties are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
As at 31 December 2024, the management estimated
fair value of the Group’s investment properties
amounted to approximately RMB88,698,000.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, no buildings

and land use rights are pledged to banks for banking

facilities granted to the Group.

The carrying amounts of the Group's land use rights

EFERNRmENAT are situated in the following locations:
—E-mE TEC=F
2024 2023
ARBT T ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
H The PRC 115,167 119,451
1 ETHE Impairment loss

BHRETEBEURNBEREFR
BEEBEETHR BEERARE
EBEMEEDE - BEERB
FEEBEREFR LN _-_F N
FrZA=+—BETHHNE
EARYE - BB RRENAK
Bl&E8 °

B4 B e e 4 5 TR
1R IE AR G % B A B R IR
RenERE  HAMEE12%
fikst o

ABEGH (35M) APFE2 ) DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

As certain business units recorded a net loss for
the past few years, management considered that
indicators of potential impairment of property, plant
and equipment attributable to these business units
existed and performed an assessment to determine
the recoverable amounts of the related property, plant
and equipment as at 31 December 2024.

The recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units
were estimated based on the present value of the
future cash flows expected to be derived from the

cash-generating units, using a discount rate of 12%.
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(b)
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT,
LAND USE RIGHTS AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTY (continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use

ERIFEINTET : assets by class of underlying asset is as follows:
ZEMF ZT=F
2024 2023
ARMETTT AREETTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
THOfE AR Land use rights 105,262 108,688
HE T Leasehold land 9,905 10,763
BF Buildings 7,192 6,785
G IS Machinery and equipment 211 =
E Motor vehicles 1,050 1,391
123,620 127,627

—Z = Q4 F 3R Annual Report 2024
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13 P& - s Jesttti - LHbpEA 13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT,

RE DL B 3% 1k I b s (48) LAND USE RIGHTS AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTY (continued)

(b)  fHEAIRER E (4]) (b) Right-of-use assets (continued)
FAMEENRIERERNERH R The analysis of expense items in relation to leases
REDTEAT recognised in profit or loss is as follows:

—ECF —To=F
2024 2023
ARETT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB'000

FREEERBEEEERR Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets

WEXH - by class of underlying asset:

- Hb(F PR Land use rights 3,426 2,711
HE T Leasehold land 858 852
¥ Buildings 811 1,304
WeE KRR Machinery and equipment 72 =
B Motor vehicles 896 1,010

6,063 5,877
HEAERNE Interest on lease liabilities 1,463 1,504

ARG S HEN —Z /M4 Expense relating to short-term leases and

F=—ZF-=F+="HA=+—H other leases with remaining lease term

2 AEMNEAEREM  ending on or before 31 December 2024

HEMF X and 2023 18,766 8,248
M EREBEEEBBOFIS - Expense relating to leases of low-value

TREREEEEMSHMEE assets, excluding short-term leases of

low-value assets 3 4
HERSRHAELAEEAREN Details of total cash outflow for leases and the
B EAD HTEFIE 2 BIE AT EE20(d) maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out in
K24 o notes 20(d) and 24 respectively.
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13 P3E - s Besttts - LHpEA 13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT,

HE D) B 3% 1k 5 b s (4 LAND USE RIGHTS AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTY (continued)
(c) REMETHWE - BB L&H (¢) Property, plant and equipment Leased out under

operating lease

B £E
&1
S Furniture,
Plant and fittings and @5t
machinery equipment Total
AREFT ARETT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
B Cost:
W-B-=#-F—H At 1 January 2023 453 1,668 2121
HhE Addition 8,069 580 8,649
RZZZ=F+=RA=1+—H At 31 December 2023 and
E=Z-mE—-A—H at 1 January 2024 8,522 2,248 10,770
)= Disposals = (2) (2)
R-ZE-mF+=-A=1+—H At 31 December 2024 8,522 2,246 10,768
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13 P& - s Jesttti - LHbpEA 13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT,

RE DL B 3% 1k I b s (48) LAND USE RIGHTS AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTY (continued)
(0 REMETHWIE - WKk (c) Property, plant and equipment Leased out under
(%) operating lease (continued)
il #B
)&
[ R g Furniture,
Plant and fittings and st
machinery equipment Total
ARETFT ARETFT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ZETINE - BHRAE Accumulated depreciation,

amortisation and impairment:

WZZ-=£—-F—H At 1 January 2023 281 1,494 1,775
FRMR Charge for the year 6,743 471 7.214
RZE-=F+-A=t-HRk At 31 December 2023 and

—ZNE—-F—H at 1 January 2024 7,024 1,965 8,989
ERR Charge for the year 137 15 152
HE Disposals = @ &
RZZZWE+-A=+—H At 31 December 2024 7,161 1,980 9,141
REE Carrying values:
RZZZWF+-A=+—H At 31 December 2024 1,361 266 1,627
R-Z-=F+-A=1+-H At 31 December 2023 1,498 283 1,781
* ZETFESBEERAR,0007T ¥ The number represents an amount less than RMB1,000
ARBREEEHE LM M The Group leased out all machinery, equipment and
BRAENMAMKES - RERAE motor vehicles of one subsidiary and part of the

K B N R A o ies o
E-—RONFRBRAERF - HE
TEFEAEEENR - R|®ER
Hi - REBERARKHEHERAT
B EHERTHRTRE
ERBRARARBBBFARE
6,100,000 (ZE_=%F : AR
#6,250,0007T) © periods are RMB6.10 million per annum (2023:
RMB6.25 million).

Machinery of two subsidiaries under operating lease.
The lease typically runs for an initial period of 5 to
6 years. The lease does not include variable lease
payments. Undiscounted lease payments under non-
cancellable operating lease in place at the reporting
date will be receivable by the Group in the future
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14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains only the particulars of
subsidiaries which principally affected the results, assets or

A& An A3 m AR liabilities of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary:
ML BRTR
RIREEMZR BH BHRELR/
Place and date HfER
of incorporation/ Issued and fully FEfk Rt
G2 establishment paid up capital/  Attributable TEEK
Name of company and operation registered capital equity interest Principal activities
HE it
Direct Indirect
% %
Great Wall Northeast Asia Corporation HEHS 216,521,383% 100 = REER
("NAC") Cayman Islands USD216,521,383 Investment holding
—WAAETZA=H
3 December 1996
Impreza Investments Ltd. (“IIL") EBRIHE 14,700,000 7T - 100 REZR
BVI USD14,700,000 Investment holding
—ANAE+—AtR
7 November 1996
Great Wall Dalian Investment Co., Ltd. EBRETHE 24,500,000 7T - 60 REZR
("GWDL") BVI USD24,500,000 Investment holding
- ANEE-A=-1+=R
23 February 1995
AR m (RE) BRAF ([GWF-DL) HE 26,600,003 T - 60 AEREZBWEH
(Fit&E() ~ 2 53) PRC USD26,600,000 EEREERERK
Great Wall Food (Dalian) Co., Limited —ANEF+ZARA B NIKEERER
("GWF-DL") (notes (1), (2) and (3)) 6 December 1995 NERKRMMNT

Manufacturing and
trading of animal feeds,
husbandry and trading
of poultry and livestock,
processing and trading
of meat and meat
products and foods
processing

—Z = Q4 F 3R Annual Report 2024
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14 JAFRHE 2 Bl BB () 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
HEMAL BETR
RAIREEMER AH BHRER/
Place and date HER

of incorporation/ Issued and fully e
AR HE establishment paid up capital/  Attributable TEER
Name of company and operation registered capital  equity interest Principal activities
B i
Direct Indirect
% %
BEAREHEFARAA H 19,080,000 7T - 100 HEEREEIWEL
(FEEAR]) () - 2K(E) PRC USD19,080,000 EENEEFBRK
Liaoning Great Wall Agri-Industrial —NEFEATNA E NIREERNSE
Co., Ltd. (“"LGW") (notes (1), (2) 19 July 1990 RAER
and (3)) Manufacturing and
trading of animal feeds,
husbandry and trading
of poultry and livestock,
processing and trading
of meat and meat
products
Great Wall Agritech (Liaoning) Co., REBRUHS 21,594,944 T - 100 REER
Limited ("GWALN-BVI") BVI USD21,594,944 Investment holding
—WNEFNAT=RH
13 September 1990
AREHER (BE) BRAF BE 168,440,000/ T - 100 REER
([GWALN-HK]) Hong Kong HKD168,440,000 Investment holding
Great Wall Agritech (Liaoning) Co., —ANEELAZF+HEA
Limited (" GWALN-HK") 24 July 1990
AR (BRI AR hE 6,562,000 T - 100 EEREEZWSL
(TRETARK]) (EH() (2 &(3)) PRC USD6,562,000 Manufacturing and

Great Wall Agri (Heilongjiang) Co., Ltd. —ZZERFRA-1+TH
(“GWAHLJ") (notes (1), (2) and (3)) 25 May 2005

trading of animal feeds
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14 JAFHE 2 B BB () 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
MR/ BEITR
B KB B CHRER/
Place and date HER

of incorporation/ Issued and fully PR RE
AR EBE establishment paid up capital/  Attributable TEEY
Name of company and operation registered capital equity interest Principal activities
B B3
Direct Indirect
% %
Dongbei Agri Corporation (“DBC”) RERZHS 81,744,203 T - 100 RERR
BVI USD81,744,203 Investment holding
—NWNWAREFE+—RAZ++B
27 November 1996
AKER (D) ERAT Ll 17,700,000 7T - 100 4EREEDWEL -
(rgrARp])) (M) - 2RE) PRC USD17,700,000 MIKEENE
Great Wall Agri (Yingkou) Co., Ltd. —MNEERA—H KAER
("GWAYK") (notes (1), (2) and (3)) 1 April 1997 Manufacturing and
trading of animal feeds,
processing and trading
of meat and meat
products
AKER (B8 ERAR ([EEAK]) H 14,089,379% T - 100 4EREESMEL -
GENE) PRC USD14,089,379 EENEEFBRK
Great Wall Agri (Tieling) Co., Ltd. —NNALFRA+/RE B NMIREERSR
("GWATL") (notes (1), (2) and (3)) 16 May 1997 RAER
Manufacturing and
trading of animal feeds,
husbandry and trading
of poultry and livestock,
processing and trading
of meat and meat
products
FILEH(RE) ARAT H 1,093,000% 7 - 100  EEREESMEL
(FRiEER (&R D) () - 2RE) PRC USD1,093,000 Manufacturing and
Dongbei Agri (Changchun) Co., Ltd. “ZEERENAZT\R trading of animal feeds
("DBC-CC") (notes (1), (2) and (3)) 28 August 2006
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14 JAFRHE 2 Bl BB () 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
HEMAL BETR
RAIREEMER AH BHRER/
Place and date HER

of incorporation/ Issued and fully e
AR HE establishment paid up capital/  Attributable TEER
Name of company and operation registered capital equity interest Principal activities
B i
Direct Indirect
% %
R AR RS EE R AR ([DHFT)) HE 2,200,000 7T - 100  4EREEDWSAL
(HIZE(T) ~ (2R(3) PRC USD2,200,000 Manufacturing and
Hunan Greatwall Technologies & ZETRETANR trading of animal feeds
Feeds Co., Ltd. (“DHFT") 8 October 2006
(notes (1), (2) and (3))
Hwabei Agri Corporation (“HAC") RERUHES 69,013,436 T = 100 REER
BVI USD69,013,436 Investment holding
—ANANE+ZA=+=H
23 December 1998
AKEE (B8 BERAR ([FEAK]) BE 64,273,930 T - 100 RERR
DaChan Wanda (HK) Limited Hong Kong USD64,273,930 Investment holding
("DWHK") —NN\RERAZT7<A
26 June 1984
RKEE (RR) BRAR (TREARK]) HE AR 579,060,0007T - 100 HELEEHMEE -
(HIFE(T) ~ (2R(3) PRC RMB579,060,000 BEREERERK
DaChan Wanda (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. —NZF+AZt—H B MIREERER
("TWD") (notes (1), (2) and (3)) 21 October 1992 NEmR

Manufacturing and
trading of animal feeds,
husbandry and trading
of poultry and livestock,
processing and trading
of meat and meat
products
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(BEEEBH - UARKETTE5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

W BB 2 W] iR 3 (%) 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
ML BETR
RAIREEMER A BARER/
Place and date TMER
of incorporation/ Issued and fully PR RE
AR EBE establishment paid up capital/  Attributable TEEY
Name of company and operation registered capital equity interest Principal activities
B ik
Direct Indirect
% %
Union Manufacturing Limited (“UML") RERZHS 7,700,000 70 - 100 REER
BVI USD7,700,000 Investment holding
—NAAEZR+H
7 February 1996
AER (B8 ARAR ([ HERRK) HE 6,940,000 7T = 100 EmilT
(BHEE(1) ~ (20 %(3) PRC USD6,940,000 Foods processing
Greatwall Gourmet (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. —NWAENLARR
("GWGS") (notes (1), (2) and (3)) 5 September 1996
Great Wall Kuang-Ming Investment RERTHS 7,615,000 70 = 100 REZR
(BVI) Co., Ltd. ("GWKM") BVI USD7,615,000 Investment holding
—NNAE=RA+tH
17 March 1995
WK BHRHR AR AR HE AR 20,000,000 - 100 HEREEDWELK
(Tm)1IRRE) (1) R(3)) PRC RMB20,000,000 WEERMA - BEAE
DaChan Agricultural Technologies —EZ)\E\A=1+HHE K

(Sichuan) Co., Ltd. (“DAS")
(notes (1) and (3))

25 August 2008

Manufacturing and
trading of animal
feeds and related
additives, research
and consultation on
husbandry
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HEHEMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

14

T W RS 2 ) B 45 (A8)

14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
TR BETR
BIREEMER BH BHRER/
Place and date HMER
of incorporation/ Issued and fully e
AR HE establishment paid up capital/  Attributable TEER
Name of company and operation registered capital equity interest Principal activities
B i
Direct Indirect
% %
AR R (3E) BRAR (TAIEARK]) £ 54,080,000 7 = 100 ZEREERSMEL
(1) ~ (2 %(3) PRC USD54,080,000 MIEBENE
DaChan Food (Hebei) Co., Ltd. (“DFH") —ZT\F=A+H RAER
(notes (1), (2) and (3)) 10 March 2008 Manufacturing and
trading of animal feeds,
processing and trading
of meat and meat
products
ERFETHFABRAT hE 500,000 7T = 100 EERG
(b mEdkEs ) FREE() + (2)%(3) PRC USD500,000 Management services
Dongbei (Beijing) Consultant Co., Ltd. “EEN\FE+A=1+A
("DBC-BJ") (notes (1), (2) and (3)) 30 October 2008
SMZERSRMARAR hE ARH50,000,0007C - 100 EBFNEHE - FEK
(ImMzE RS (1) - (2RE) PRC RMB50,000,000 BEXBRRE ML
Yanzhou S&F Farm Co., Ltd. ("YDF") T \F=A=+H REBENBRAESR
(notes (1), (2) and (3)) 20 March 2008 Trading of animal feeds,

husbandry and trading
of poultry and livestock,
processing and trading
of meat and meat
products

ABEGH (35M) APFE2 ) DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(BEEEBH - UARKETTE5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
MR/ BEITR
B KB B CHRER/
Place and date HER

of incorporation/
establishment
and operation

Issued and fully
paid up capital/
registered capital

Attributable
equity interest

i B3
Direct

FEfh AR

Principal activities

Indirect
% %

IR R RMARA A
(R R M) (1 RE)
Bengbu DaChan Food Co., Ltd. (“BDF")
(notes (1) and (3))

Miyasun-Great Wall (BVI) Co., Ltd.
("Miyasun-Great Wall")

AKBERm(KE) BRAF
(IEERR)) (ME0) - 2RE3)
Miyasun - Great Wall Foods (Dalian)
Co., Ltd. ("Miyasun Foods")

(notes (1), (2) and (3))

AKERHBESBR AR
(TR EEHES]) (FiEE) -
(2)5%(3))

Great Wall Agritech Huludao Co., Ltd.
("GWAHLD") (notes (1), (2) and (3))

HE

PRC
—EEN\F+-A=H
3 December 2008
RERUHE

BVI
—WEF=A++A

17 March 1995

HE

PRC
—NEFRA=TA
20 May 1995

HE

~EAFLATER
15 July 2009

AR #366,860,0007T
RMB 366,860,000

5,015,000%7T
USD5,015,000

9,880,000 7T
USD9,880,000

3,800,000% 7T
USD3,800,000

- 100 EEHHYHEL  BEK

Trading of animal feeds,
husbandry and trading
of poultry and livestock,
processing and trading
of meat and meat

products

= 100 REER
Investment holding

= 100 KNI
Foods processing

- 100  HEREEHNMEL

Manufacturing and
trading of animal feeds
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HEHEMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

14 JAFRHE 2 Bl BB () 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
HEMAL BETR
RAIREEMER AH BHRER/
Place and date HER

of incorporation/ Issued and fully e
AR HE establishment paid up capital/  Attributable TEER
Name of company and operation registered capital equity interest Principal activities
B i
Direct Indirect
% %
RERKAE EDREHEERRF e AR#100,0007T - 100 Fra
(ITDPRI) (Bff&E() £(3) PRC RMB100,000 Research and
Tianjin DaChan Prospect Research And ZEENFT—ANRA development
Development Co., Ltd. (“TDPR") 9 November 2009
(notes (1) and (3))
FERAKAERSERAT HhE AR#100,0007C - 100  BEEE - BWER
(TEEE]) () R(3)) PRC RMB100,000 Rit&
Zhenglangi DaChan Eco-ranch Co., Ltd. —Z——%—-H%A Food service, animal
("ZLQ") (notes (1) and (3)) 5 January 2011 husbandry and selling
AEAKRMERBRAF (ITDFH]) EBRUHE 5,850,000% 7 - 6154 REER
Taixu & DaChan Foods Holdings Co., BVI USD5,850,000 Investment holding
Limited (“TDFH") —Z——F=A+H
7 March 2012
SEAKRMAERAR ([TDF]) BE 9,000,000% 7T - 40 RERKR
Taixu & DaChan Foods Co., Limited Hong Kong USD9,000,000 Investment holding
("TDF") B S Ry P N =
29 November 2012
SEAKARR(KE)BRAR HE ARH55,500,0007C - 40 HENERRAER
(ITDF-DLI) (BZE(1) ~ (2)K(3) PRC RMB55,500,000 Trading of meat and
Taixu & DaChan Foods (Dalian) Co., “E——_FRAA-1HH meat products
Limited (“TDF-DL") (notes (1), (2) 25 May 2012

and (3))
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

L AR E v s g b)) 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
ML BETR
RAIREEMER A BARER/
Place and date TMER
of incorporation/ Issued and fully PR RE
AR EBE establishment paid up capital/  Attributable TEEY
Name of company and operation registered capital equity interest Principal activities
B ik
Direct Indirect
% %
China S&F Farm Holdings Co., Limited KBRS 7,000,000%7T - 100 REER
("S&F") BVI USD7,000,000 Investment holding
—E—%+HAZ+H
20 October 2011
AR IR R A ] HE 3,000,000%7T - 100  HEREEMHEH
(MUEARRLD) BREE() « (2)%(3) PRC USD3,000,000 Manufacturing and
Shandong DaChan Biotechnology —T——%-A+=H trading of animal feeds
Co., Limited (“SDB") (notes (1), (2) 12 January 2012
and (3))
ANERERGAREHREERAR H AR #1,000,0007C - 40 FEEESREANEE
(IpLDCY) (FizE(1) R (3) PRC RMB 1,000,000 Poultry farms
DaChan Livestock Development —T——%;A+mWA construction & lease
Co., Ltd. ("DLDC") (notes (1) and (3)) 14 June 2012
AEAKRM(HER)ERAR HE AKH#40,000,0007 - 40 MIRBEENER
(ITDF-BBJ) (Hf3E(1)R(3) PRC RMB40,000,000 S
Taixu & DaChan Foods (Bengbu) —T— E+—A=t+hH Processing and trading
Co., Limited (“TDF-BB") 25 November 2016 of meat and meat
(notes (1) and (3)) products
AR () BRAF H AR #22,000,0007 - 100  AEREEIVEH
(fEE(1) ~ (2 ](3) PRC RMB22,000,000 Manufacturing and
Great Wall Agri (Hebei) Co., Ltd. “T-=%XA-1H trading of animal feeds
(notes (1), (2) and (3)) 20 June 2023

—Z = Q4 F 3R Annual Report 2024
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(BB HEHEMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

14 ARSI () 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

B & - Notes:

(1) /AE—J%EE’UQY%A‘@ﬁ%% P RER (1) The English translation of the company names is for reference only.
qﬂiﬁﬁqﬁkiﬂ’\jﬁﬁgﬂ’\]%%l«xqﬂXﬁﬁ The official names of these entities established in the PRC are in
EERT - Chinese.
ZERFBBREAKIME B AINGE o . ) )

Z KSR ER AR MRS R (2) These entities established in the PRC are wholly foreign-owned

enterprises.

B ZERTEEAKIMHEEIRBRE

(3) These entities established in the PRC are limited liability companies.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

i B 2 W] (48) 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
TREHNEBAREEDNME AR (K& The following table lists out the information relating to the
BAEERFERER)HER - TX subsidiaries of the Group which has material non-controlling
Fr25 2 M E RS E R A R ML HE AT interests. The summarised financial information presented
ZEHE o below represents the amounts before any inter-company
elimination.
“ECME CEocE
2024 2023
AEETT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000
GWDL TDF TDFH DLDC GWDL TDF TDFH DLDC
i SERI Non-contraling interests percentage 40.00% 35.00% 38.46% 60.00% 4000% 35.00% 38.46% 60.00%
NHEE Curent assefs 396,469 173,158 113,164 3791 424921 166,967 109,126 317
E Non-current assets 145,367 103,346 67,175 42,090 146,380 71,639 46,566 417
T Curent iabties (1048 (122,045) (79,88) (M245) (109464 (96,957) (63522 (71,415)
FiBEE Non-cument abies (7933) - - - (8490) - - -
HERH Netasses 423,755 154,459 100451 (5364 453347 141,649 9,169 {111
FEREEEEE Canying amount of noncontroling
nterests 169,502 54,061 38,635 (3.219) 181,339 49577 35,451 668)
YA Revenue 1,054,236 604,817 604,817 - 1,164,922 b47,063 547,063 -
BHREEAEEE  Pofitand total comprehensive income 32,501 25,084 16,259 (4,254) 28,068 31,126 20,178 (2,335)
PREIARES 2R Proftalocated to noncontroling interests 13,000 8719 6,253 (2,551) 11207 10,769 7761 (1.401)
IEERIER TR ZIRS  Dividend peid to non-controling interests (24.851) (4.484) (3,203) - [6.971) (4445) (3.175) =
AREHERERR  Exchange resenvealocated to
EXEE nonontroling interests 19 127 91 - 249 461 3% -
ETEHATE27E2RS  Cash flow from operating actites 61,616 65,316 65,315 (4527) 88,045 20,047 (1) 19
REEHERERE  Cashflow flominvesting actites 60,791 (46,282) (37.948) 10 U (10416) 8261 12
REEHE RS Cash flow from fivancing actites (133468) (6,559) (14,885) - (40,953) 2347 (8255 =
GWDLZ B &R 25|GWDL & GWF- The financial information for GWDL shows the consolidated
DL A %%E - TDFZHBER 27 results of GWDL and GWF-DL. The financial information for
TDFXTDF-DLZ 476 %4 ° TDFHZ Bt TDF shows the consolidated results of TDF and TDF-DL.
BER25|TDFH « TDF XTDF-DLZ 47 The financial information for TDFH shows the consolidated
BEE (TNEIETDF 2 FRIERIES) © results of TDFH, TDF and TDF-DL excluding non-controlling

interests of TDF.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

15 AR AR 2 2 W R £ 15 INTERESTS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED
INVESTEES
B &E b 11 3 ZT=F
Note 2024 2023
ARMT T AREETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
i NI Interests in associates (a) 76,073 70,906
a) BHEAW (a) Associates
TRINTAEEBLERRZE The following list contains the particulars of the
B REHME AR ARETE Group's associates, all of which are unlisted corporate
AR - WEMERE : entities whose quoted market price is not available:
Tt
Proportion of ownership interest
AEEAE
SRR REEH ZRATEE
PRERE gany ERER  ANELAA Held by
Form of Place of HER Group's B8 equity- ITEK
BENAIATE business  incorporation Registered effective Held by accounted Principal
Name of associates structure  and operation capital interest subsidiaries investees activities
TianJin Hai Rei Food Limited (HRFT.' Elia @ AKRH5,000,0007 40% 40% - EEREE
REERRRERAR Incorporated PRC R\B5,000,000 RERM
([X28%)) Manufactory&
trading of Frozen
Foods
Advent Prosperity Real Estate i mE AR4235000007 10% 10% - FHERE
Development Co,, Ltd. ["APRD") * Incorporated PRC RIVB423,500,000 RiaERE
REENAEEHEREERAR Real estate
([KzEmEL]) development &
related services
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(BBHEPI - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

15 A RE AR 2 B2 v i RE 22 15 INTERESTS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED
(%) INVESTEES (continued)
(a) BEAT () (a) Associates (continued)
Tt
Proportion of ownership interest
BERAR
SRR AEEH ]
PRANES  AEE EhiEE  HWELT Held by
Form of Place of HER Group's & equity- IEXH
BENAAR business  incorporation Registered effective Held by accounted Principal
Name of associates structure  and operation capital interest subsidiaries investees activities
Rupp & DaChan Foods (Tianjin] a4 mE ARM50,0000007 40% 40% - FEREE
Co,, Ltd. ["RDF-TJ") Incorporated PRC RMBS0,000,000 H5m
BEARAR (R ARAT Mandfacory &
([K2EE) trading of dairy

* MRERREHESRATES
REABARTE
7 BRSREEREEDRR

- WNCII

EMFFEE S A ARAESEA
Bl ARSI -

products

The Group has determined that it has significant influence
because it has representation on the board of the investee, so

APRD are classified as associates.

All of the above associates are accounted for using
the equity method in the consolidated financial
statements.

—Z = Q4 F 3R Annual Report 2024
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HEHEMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

15 JARE & AR 2 B A W) i BE g 15 INTERESTS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED

(%) INVESTEES (continued)
(a) BEAT () (a) Associates (continued)
TREBRBENRIZHEER - Summarised financial information of associates,
W E HEARE BB REA 2 REE reconciled to the carrying amounts in the consolidated
HEITHER financial statements, are disclosed below:
ZECRE
2024
REEMAE K2 REEE @t
APRD HRF-TJ RDF-TJ Total
Nk Gross amounts of the associates’
HRBEE Non-current assets 205,078 388 7,304 212,770
ROEE Current assets 396,474 3,158 41,857 441,489
FnBaE Non-current liabilities - - - -
AR Current liabiities (5,025) (3,696) (8112) (16,833)
3 Equity 596,527 (150) 41,049 637,426
WA Revenue 8,148 897 86,114 95,159
RERE (B8) /aHR {Loss)profit and total comprehensive
TEYESE income for the year (7,194) (1,339) 15,904 7371

HAEEREENAREZHE  Reconciled to the Group's

interest in the associates

BENfEEFE RT Gross amounts of net assets
of the associate 596,527 (150) 41,049 637,426
HBAREE Held by subsidiaries 10% 40% 40% -
REEREHENFL Group's share of net assets
BERE of the associates 59,653 - 16,420 76,073
GREBHRRMIRDE Carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements 59,653 - 16,420 76,073
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(B BB

IARMETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

15 INTERESTS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED

INVESTEES (continued)
Wi 23 W) (4) (a) Associates (continued)
—F-=
2023
REENAE REH REEE &
APRD HRF-TJ RDF-TJ Total
Nk Gross amounts of the associates’
¥nBEE Non-current assets 107,222 553 8,352 116,127
IS Current assets 503,477 4,534 25,927 533,938
¥nBak Non-current liabilities = = (2,500) (2,500)
REEE Current liabilties 6,976) (3,900) (6,631) 17,507)
4} Equity 603,723 1,187 25,148 630,058
WA Revenue 17,272 2,047 66,462 85,981
RERAET/ (B8 R Profit/loss) and total comprehensive
S ENESE income for the year 26,168 (549) (694) 24,925
HAEEREENAREZHE  Reconciled to the Group's
interest in the associates
BENfEEFE BT Gross amounts of net assets
of the associate 603,723 1,187 25,148 630,058
GEING Held by subsidiaries 10% 40% 40% -
FEEREHEDRL Group's share of net assets
BEEE of the associates 60,372 475 10,069 70,906
CRNBHRRMIRDE Carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements 60,372 475 10,059 70,906

—Z = Q4 F 3R Annual Report 2024
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BBHEPI - UARETT2)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
16 8 16 INVENTORIES

(a) HEMBORIEREE R : (a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial

position comprise:

—E-MmE —EC=F
2024 2023
AR¥ETT AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
YR Animal feeds 150,606 142,833
RERRENA Poultry and chilled meats 77,950 70,457
MIES Processed food 299,263 256,754
NERET Consumables 60,096 56,805
587,915 526,849
(b) W 2y B X B & A A (b) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as
T an expense is as follows:
—E-ME ZTZ=F
2024 2023
AR¥ETT AREETTT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
BHEFERAE Carrying amount of inventories sold 5,100,060 5,735,329
FERMR Write-down of inventories 3,163 8,124
& [0 77 EHURL Reversal of write-down of inventories (9,790) (67)
5,093,433 5,743,386
RZEBEZNFE+=—A=+—RH2Z On the consolidated statement of financial position as
FEMBIRAR  EAI BT at 31 December 2024, a provision of RMB13,258,000
BEEAREAE 2 FEELEEA (2023: RMB19,885,000) was made against those
R#13,258,0007t (ZE =4 : inventories with net realisable value lower than the
AFR#19,885,0007T) © Kt B carrying values. Other than this provision, none of the
G RZEBZER T =F inventories as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were
+ZA=+—8  WEFEEA carried at net realisable value.
BIFETIE o
BE E—FE2FEMRTIBER The reversal of write-down of inventories made
—E-_MEHREERBEFERRM in prior year was the result of sales of impaired

B o inventories in 2024.
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IARMETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

W& E 17 BIOLOGICAL ASSETS
EE REE
Breeder POEE Broiler &5
poultry Broilers breeder eggs Total
ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
IRENFE Net carrying amount
RZZE—=F At 1 January 2023
—HA—H 7,016 131,484 10,577 149,077
REEFAZEFTE Increase due to
N purchases/raising 14,915 1,737,891 143,589 1,896,395
FRITERE Depreciation provided
during the year (8,192) = = (8,192)
H=EH R4 Decrease due to
culling/hatching — (1,753,041) (150,099) (1,903,140)
EZEA KT Decrease due to
retirement and deaths (4,183) = = (4,183)
RIZE-=%F At 31 December 2023
+=—A=+—~” 9,556 116,334 4,067 129,957
REESIBFTB Increase due to
N purchases/raising 1,066 1,282,478 102,118 1,385,662
FATERE Depreciation provided
during the year (8,113) - - (8,113)
H=% M) Decrease due to
culling/hatching - (1,297,014) (96,993) (1,394,007)
AZEAMLTIHA  Decrease due to
retirement and deaths (2,509) - = (2,509)
R HF At 31 December 2024
+=-A=1+—8 - 101,798 9,192 110,990
EMBEEREER NERAHE - Biological assets comprise breeder poultry, broilers and

A - B8 MABERARAREMRE
BEIIR  HEAABEYESAE

Ho

broiler breeder eggs.

Broilers, breeder poultry and broiler breeder eggs are stated

at cost less any impairment losses, which are not materially

different from their fair value.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HEHEMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

18 MEWHE 5 Rk 18 TRADE RECEIVABLES
—ENF —Eo=F
2024 2023
ARMTT ARBTFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
FEME Z R Trade receivables 270,134 282,816
B SRR Less: allowance of doubtful debts (9,049) (7,247)
261,085 275,569
FEWE 5 8RS 5 AR B AR D A 2A As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
s € trade receivables is as follows:
—E-MmE —EC=HF
2024 2023
ARMETT ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
BHA Current 243,896 263,074
#E1 E 180K 1-180 days past due 19,292 14,598
#HI181E365K 181-365 days past due 2,437 306
B AR B 365K More than 365 days past due 4,509 4,838
eme® . Amountspasstdue ... 26238 19742
270,134 282,816
AEE—RATFEESAE0AZE600H] The Group normally allows a credit period ranging from 30
EEH - BEAASEEEBRENFER days to 60 days to its customers. Further details on the
HAHIEE29(a) © Group's credit policy are set out in note 29(a).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

19 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

PREPAYMENTS
—E-mE ZE=F
2024 2023
ARET T AREETTT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
B EEE R ) VAT recoverable (i) 245,785 259,039
& R IER (i) Deposits and prepayments (i) 77,964 94,318
B2RXFET Advances to staff 3,262 4,174
EAth Others 9,326 7,265
336,337 364,796
R AU SRR IR E R () Less: non-current VAT recoverable (i) 98,179 88,149
ED Current 238,158 276,647

() FIM I (E R HE AT S R AR H 1R
BEBOARBAEREER - K
BREEEER T ZEENHEE
BEFTRAREERZNEFE
BRHAETEIERMEL - &~
NAEZERE  BE-T-F
+—A=+—H8  REAEEY
BIEE AR — F &8 AR A IR
HEFAAREIS, 179,0007T (=
T=FF+ZA=+—H: AR
#88,149,0007T) °

The VAT recoverable represents the unutilised input
VAT eligible for offsetting against future output
VAT. The unutilised input VAT arose mainly due
to the insufficient output VAT on sales of chicken
meat to offset the input VAT on purchases of live
chickens from contract farmers. The directors of the
Company are of the opinion that the VAT recoverable
as at 31 December 2024 which will be utilised after
one year is RMB98,179,000 (31 December 2023:
RMB88,149,000) based on the Group's budget.
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(BRE=EEBH - UARKETTE5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

19 oAt RE Wk IE B T R OE (4) 19 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

PREPAYMENTS (continued)

(i) ZeREMRBEREE R (i) Deposits and prepayments consist of advance
)4 FE P 1 B0 TR e (T R R A payments made to suppliers for purchases of raw
AR - materials and other prepaid expenses.

Fir 75 H fth & Wk 18 (8145 & Uk R Bk 05 3K All of other receivables (including amounts due from related

R) BHR—FARKE -

parties) are expected to be recovered within one year.

20 BleRBIEHEY KBS 20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

T B

(a) BlERBEHFEY L -

OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

—EZMEF =%
2024 2023
ARETT ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
RITERAETFERE Cash at bank and on hand 472,207 529,389
T BRI R Less: Restricted deposits 2,460 2,449
RE R ER P RERE Cash and cash equivalents in the
REMERFTHREE R consolidated statement of financial
ReEEY position and in the consolidated
cash flow statement 469,747 526,940
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20 BleRBSFEYRILEE

mE R () OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(continued)
(b) BB i w6 A BRLAK 45 B) Fr 74 B (b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash
HRE - generated from operations:
s —E-MF —T-=F
Note 2024 2023
ARET T ARETTT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
FRERN Profit for the year 84,312 75,380
AT B IEFE - Adjustments for:
—FEhESE AR — Share of gains of equity-accounted
NG € investees (5,167) (2,120)
—FBHA — Interest income 5 (8,223) (10,709)
—HEWE - BEK&ER - Net loss on disposal of property,
B BEFE plant and machinery 5 5,265 6,577
—W%E - BE L& - Reversal of impairment losses on
VERIEY =L El property, plant and machinery 13 - (3,308)
—FERZ — Interest expense 6 23,168 17,738
—E — Depreciation 13 171,696 130,260
—EYEERH — Amortization of biological assets 17 8,113 8,192
—TFEHUR — Write-down of inventories 16(b) 3,163 8,124
— B B T E MU — Reversal of write-down of
inventories 16(b) (9,790) (67)
— DR (Bm) fEU - Recognised/(reversal) of impairment
B S RFOBERSE losses on trade receivables 29(a) 2,343 (1,252)
—E R ERFE - Net foreign exchange difference (3,299) (3,143)
—HIE B — Tax expense 7 14,166 10,670
HEESEE Changes in working capital:
FE M, E (Increase)/decrease in inventories (54,439) 136,113
EYEERD Decrease in biological assets 10,854 10,928
AHaEEMN Chd) Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities 1,005 (10,471)
JEUE SERF N H b fEUL Decrease in trade and other receivables
IR A 40,600 23,056
B E SRR R EMESR Increase in trade and other payables
FRIBLE N 34,210 23,546
KETHMBRS Cash generated from operations 317,977 419,514

Br RS R BT RE

Notes to the Financial Statements
MARBTT25))

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

(B BB

20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
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///////// Notes to the Financial Statements

(BRE=EEBH - UARKETTE5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

20 BeRBIEFEYRHAEHEE 20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

WmE R () OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(continued)
(c) REETEB)EENABZ B : (¢) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities:
BERRERFIE
Loans and HEaE
interest Lease
payables liabilities
AR¥T T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
RZE-ME—-A—H At 1 January 2024 530,079 31,025
MERERELE Changes from financing cash flows:
LRI TE RS HR Proceeds from new bank loans 746,138 -
BERITER Repayment of bank loans (708,980) -
BERFE Interest paid (22,011) -
B ZFELD Interest element of lease rentals paid - (1,463)
BENEE 2 ERED Capital element of lease rentals paid - (2,438)
BMERSRELH AT Total changes from financing cash flows 15,147 (3,901)
Hith &8 Other changes
FBRAX Interest expenses 22,011 1,463
FRERI A E ML A Increase in lease liabilities from entering
HEAE into new leases during the year - 2,056
AeRmes  Totalotherchanges 20m 3519
WZZE-mME+=A=+—H At31December 2024 567,237 30,643
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

20 BleRBIEEEYRHABEE 20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

mE R () OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(continued)
(0 MEFEHEEMAMBZHIER : (¢) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
(#8) activities: (continued)
B RERFE
Loans and HEARE
interest Lease
payables liabilities
AREFIT AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R=-Z=-=%—-F—H At 1 January 2023 377,240 31,717
MERSRELE Changes from financing cash flows:
ML RITE RS RR Proceeds from new bank loans 1,431,788 =
BERITER Repayment of bank loans (1,278,949 =
BERFE Interest paid (15,375) =
BN ZF B Interest element of lease rentals paid = (1,504)
ENHEE 2 ERED Capital element of lease rentals paid = (2,765)
BMERSRELH AT Total changes from financing cash flows 137,464 (4,269)
Hiti# 5 Other changes
FEFT Interest expenses 15,375 1,504
AR AT S & g oAy Increase in lease liabilities from entering
HEAE into new leases during the period = 2,073
Aefme@s  Totalotherchanges 15378 o 3577
M-ZE-=%+-A=+—H At31December 2023 530,079 31,025
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(BBHEPI - UARETT2)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

20 BeRBIEFEYRHAEHEE 20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

R (4) OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(continued)
d) FHEBS R A : (d) Total cash outflow for Leases:
HEMNRERERPEEUANTS Amounts included in the cash flow statement for
8 - leases comprise the following:
—E_MEFE =%
2024 2023
ARMT T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB'000
RIEERETREN Within operating cash flows 18,769 8,252
REERESREAN Within financing cash flows 3,901 4,268
22,670 12,520
ZEREETY B These amounts relate to the following:
b S —EC=F
2024 2023
ARMTT ARBTFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
2fHEERS Lease rentals paid 22,670 12,520
N
21 BN SRR 21 TRADE PAYABLES
—ZE-MF ZT=F
2024 2023
ARMTT AREEFTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
JEITE 5 AR Trade payables 445,873 506,995
PR AT E B IR IR —F Rt o The trade payables are expected to be settled within one
year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BBHEPI - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

21 TRADE PAYABLES (continued)

ik,

el As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of

LI CNE trade payables is as follows:

ZEMF ZT=F

2024 2023

ARMETTT ARETT

RMB’000 RMB'000

BN EA Current 234,542 221,009

DIAZ0K i Ef Less than 30 days past due 182,338 169,074

31E60KEHA 31 - 60 days past due 18,961 46,042

612 90K %1 HA 61 — 90 days past due 4,056 34,738

90K LA _E 1 Hf More than 90 days past due 5,976 36,132
eMe® . Amountspastdve ... 1331 285,986

445,873 506,995

Lt B ASF sk JE B B ok R Mgk Oy sk

22 OTHER PAYABLES AND AMOUNTS DUE

TH TO RELATED PARTIES
—ECUE —E-=4F
2024 2023
AR¥ET T ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
$HE =) Sales rebate (i) 23,859 22,554
e I8 Rek Salaries, wages, bonuses and
Hopth & (12 F other benefits payable 67,375 102,689
FEETEH Accrued expenses 100,458 60,810
RS Contract performance deposits 64,168 57,450
BEWE  BEMEREENTIE  Payables for purchase of property,
plant and equipment 66,270 5,276
e s 75 708 (728 (e)) Amounts due to related parties (note 28(e)) 42,600 42,600
Hity Others 11,635 17,365
376,365 308,744
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BBHEPI - UARETT2)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

22 LAt AT K OH B REAT BB D sk 22
IH (%0

OTHER PAYABLES AND AMOUNTS DUE
TO RELATED PARTIES (continued)

() REXKBSEFALEE  AEEE (i)
HAREEHE - R - S RE
EIAREEMES THRE Bl
MEZREEREE TH DA
B2 B o SEE B 08 B Al
& - AEBEFEAEHEEEER
SER)E AT ERESRE -

In order to promote the sales of livestock feeds, the
Group launched an incentive scheme where a rebate
as a percentage of sales amount is payable to the
sales agents if they can achieve certain criteria as set
by the Group. The incentive rebate resulted in variable
consideration. The Group estimated the amount of
variable consideration including in the transaction

price using the expected value.

P 7B EAt FE A< 3R IR K 8 A5 B g 77 IR TR
HIR—FAXN -

All of other payables and amounts due to related parties are
expected to be settled within one year.

23 GHEVEE 23 INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS
(a) ZAMERERWT (a) Loans were repayable as follows:
—BoE —EB-=F
2024 2023
ARBT T ARBTFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
RITER Bank loans
—BAR—FNEE — repayable within 1 year 235,629 276,269
— BN —FERERRENEE - repayable after 1 year but within 2 years 121,500 123,789
—BRMEERBREEANER - repayable after 2 years but within 5 years 210,108 130,021
L 287,23 530,079
EuegE Total loans 567,237 530,079
B DBAEREEARZBR  Less: Loans repayable within 1 year
—FREENEK classified as current liabilities 235,629 276,269
DERIFRBDEENER Loans classified as non-current liabilities 331,608 253,810

RREM
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

sl G B (4) 23 INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS
(continued)

(a) ZAMEHEFRWT : (&) (a) Loans were repayable as follows: (continued)
REEETRITHEXHRNE Some of the Group's banking facilities are subject to
FHHISERIF M o BN B BF S the fulfilment of covenants. Some of those relating
EEBEENEOIRITRET to the Group's financial metrics which are tested
FHTAG - EEEDSEEE semi-annually, as are commonly found in lending
MEEZHEFRRER - WS arrangements with financial institutions. If the Group
EEREE  HHRBEZTKRE were to breach the covenants the related loans would
KERE  ANEBEEFTRES become payable on demand. The Group did not
I EEFBEEMRE - 5 identify any difficulties complying with the covenants.
BRERAEEREE ©RER Further details of the covenants and the Group's
EENE - SFBHNWE management of liquidity risk are set out in note 29(b).
29(b) e R=ZZE-_MWF+ = A As at 31 December 2024, none of the covenants
=+—H HERNEERH relating to drawn down facilities had been breached
WRBEHIRERER(ZTE = (2023: $ nil).

F:FET) °
(b) K (b) Terms
—E P B =4F
2024 2023
ARET T AREEFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
MR ITEK Unsecured bank loans:
—BEERNENFEF270% - Fixed interest rate ranging from 2.70%
£359% (ZF =% : to0 3.59% per annum (2023: 3.45% to
HF3.45%%4.80%) 4.80% per annum) 31,937 314,326
—ZEFENFHZF3.85% - Floating interest rate ranging from 3.85%
521 % (ZE-=1%: t0 5.21% per annum (2023: 6.00% to
HF6.00%%6.28%) 6.28% per annum) 535,300 215,753
B4 Total loans 567,237 530,079
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(BB HEHEMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

24 MEARA 24 LEASE LIABILITIES
RZZE-_MFE+=-_A=+—H HES At 31 December 2024, the lease liabilities were repayable as
BER T HRER : follows:
—E_MEFE —To=%F
2024 2023
ARMT T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB'000
—FR Within 1 year 2,159 1,687
—FREMFRN After 1 year but within 2 years 1,442 1,261
MEEBRERN After 2 years but within 5 years 3,129 2,982
hFE After 5 years 23,913 25,095
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 28454 NN )
30,643 31,025
25 HZEEMBIRGESRHIIE 25 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) EEA MBI R WIBUE (a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of

financial position:

—E-ME =%

2024 2023

ARMT T AREFIT

RMB’000 RMB'000

REF] At the beginning of the year 7,319 9,928

FAMETEE Provision for income tax for the year 12,553 9,653

FAENER Income tax paid in the year (11,824) (12,262)

RER At the end of the year 8,048 7,319
& - Represented by:

FERTET1S L Income tax payable 8,048 7,319
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(BB HHMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

25 HEEWEHIRDLER BLE () 25 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)
(b) AENIEREBIEE R (f1K) 25 (b) Movement of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) during the
year
FRERGE A B KT R The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
MIEEHIBEEE(BRE) KHEK recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
HE REZSOT : position and the movements during the year are as
follows:
fTERE
BlBE
Depreciation HEEE-  BEEAR
allowance BlE  RfrEssE
inexcessof  FAEEE e BERE  Impaiment  Sales rehate
therelated  Right-ofuse Lease  Provision for loss-  and other ot
depreciation assets liabilities ~inventories receivables accruals Total

ARRTR  ARRTR  ARBTR  ARMTR ARMTR ARRTR ARETR
RVBOO  RMBOO  RMBOD  RMBON  RVBOM  RVBOD  RMBON

W5 -mE-A-A At 1 January 2024 (8,490) (7,145 1,756 1,669 986 2342 (2.882)
IMRABERIB) /A (Charged)credited to consolidted
(&) income statement (note 7(a) (2,083) 04 (95) (594) 554 m (1613)
WIEZMETZA=+-8  At31 December 204 10,543) (6941) 7,661 1075 1,540 213 (4,495)
RZ5-=F-f-A At 1 January 2023 (7.936) (7.481) 7929 1338 1593 2692 (1,865)
RGABEE(NR) /A (Charged)crecited to consoldated
(&) ncome statement (note 7(a) (554) 3% (173) B (607) (350) (1.01)
RIEZZFTZA=T-B  At31 December 2023 (8,490) (7145) 1756 1,669 986 2342 (2882)

=T = [Y4&F3R Annual Report 2024 )77/



Notes to the Financial Statements
(BBHEPI - UARETT2)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

25 HREEAEHIR LR b BLE () 25 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)
(¢) RGBSR DR B (¢) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial
position
—ECF —T=F
2024 2023
ARETT AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
RERE AR Deferred tax assets recognised in
HRAIELET A A E the consolidated statement of
financial position 6,048 5,608
REREFEARRE Deferred tax liabilities recognised in
ERRIELERIEAE the consolidated statement of
financial position (10,543) (8,490)
(4,495) (2,882)
(d)  REERIEAEHIEE A (d) Deferred tax assets not recognised
RIBFTEE3(q) PTE A & STHUR - In accordance with the accounting policy set out in
HREBEHREEEREREETA note 3(q), the Group has not recognised deferred
B = A ] HE A0 B I B 18 A R 2R tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of
R WAEBARAHRR RMB310,982,000 (2023: losses of RMB322,227,000)
FTHIIEEEARES310,982,000 as it is not probable that future taxable profits against
T(ZEZ=F : BEARK which the losses can be utilised will be available in
322,227,0007T) RIELEFIEE the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. The tax losses
E o BiEEER AERE - can be carried forward for 5 years.

228  Km&& (M) B2 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited



25 ERAEAEIR DL T BEIE ()

(e)

oA i 2 JEE A2 58 I £ £

RIEREEHLE - RIMEEE B
HIEERINEREMGHREA
X10%TEHH « BRIFEEZH
EERE - RBEFBEFTHENT
BATIERIE - AEBKREEH
BB ARE_ST+tF+=A
=T+ —BAIRD KR T 2 WA
BREREHMTAM - KL EH K
BERBEMRBARIBEZ=SFNF
—A— BNz AR 2 RIZE
IATEMB o Bt - EHRIERITE
RARKETDIRZmA - F5EH
BBt 18 A B R 5 R B8 17 & ) fe
RIBIERIA -

RZE-_W&E+_A=+—8 "
ELPN A Bl R 5 R i FI AR RA A
=245 AR693,441,000
T(ZEBE =% : AR
698,498,0007T) ° R ZEH &
AR IR B BUR AN A BE | &
BEREEAEERRETE DR
wmA M ER R D IR S BT
BRI 2 BT B R IE LR 18
BEARK69,344,000L (=%
—=% : AR#¥69,850,0007T) °

//

Br RS R BT RE

Notes to the Financial Statements
(BBHEPI - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

25 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)

(e)

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

Under the new PRC tax law, dividends received by
foreign investors from their investment in foreign-
invested enterprises are subject to withholding tax
at a rate of 10 percent unless reduced by treaty.
Pursuant to the grandfathering treatments of the new
PRC tax law, dividends receivable by the Group from
its PRC subsidiaries in respect of its undistributed
profits prior to 31 December 2007 are exempted
from the withholding tax. Dividends receivable by
the Group from its PRC subsidiaries in respect of its
profits earned since 1 January 2008 will be subject to
the withholding tax. Accordingly, deferred tax would
be recognised for undistributed retained earnings of
the PRC subsidiaries to the extent that the earnings

would be distributed in the foreseeable future.

At 31 December 2024, temporary differences relating
to the undistributed profits of subsidiaries amounted
to RMB693,441,000 (2023: RMB698,498,000).
Deferred tax liabilities of RMB69,344,000 (2023:
RMB69,850,000) have not been recognised in respect
of the tax that would be payable on the distribution
of these retained profits as the Company controls the
dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it has been
determined that it is probable that these profits will

not be distributed in the foreseeable future.
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(BB HEHEMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

26 BA - filifh RS 26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(a)  REARAH BLHR 43 R 52 B) (a) Movements in components of equity
AEBLLEE P SELKIT D The reconciliation between the opening and
HIERF) B BRI R A BRI AR - EHR closing balances of each component of the Group's
GEEREHER - AAaliExRE consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated
RIAE R B D BV ) B R B =F statement of changes in equity. Details of the
BESNAT changes in the individual components of equity of the

Company between the beginning and the end of the

year are set out below:

s RiteE NS B ]
Share Share  Contributed  Translation Retained @t
capital premium surplus reserve profits Total
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFT AREFT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(zae)  (Hzoe@n)  (WeEaeii) — (BEE26(d))
(note 26(c))  (note 26(d)(i) (ot 26(al(il) ~ (note 26(d))fiv)

R=E-ME-A—H At 1 January 2024 97,920 583,596 741,215 (29,276) 537,185 1,931,240
EnEiE Loss for the year - - - - (23.423) (23.423)
Eth2EkE Other comprehensive income - - - 28,585 - 28585
RZZ-MF+-A=1+-H  At31 December 2024 97,920 583,596 741215 (691) 514,362 1,936,402
RZEZ=E-f-H At 1 January 2023 97,920 583,596 741215 (61,595) 546,847 1,907,983
FREE Loss for the year = = = - (9,062) (9,062)
o2 ERE Other comprehensive income = = = 32319 - 32319
RZFZ=F+-A=1+-A  At31 December 2023 97,920 583,596 741215 (29,276) 537,785 1,931,240
() HEHABHNACHEEE (i)  Contributed surplus represents the excess of
BEFE (RHFE26(d) (i) &7 the fair value of the shares of NAC determined
& ARBIENACK KD based on the basis of the consolidated net
AR EBEBAAATIER assets of NAC at the date of the reorganisation
R ¥ B 1T R 0 E A A 3P (see note 26(d)(ii)) over the nominal value of
% © the shares issued by the Company in exchange
thereof.
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(BB HHMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(continued)

(b) Dividends

JE AR 2 il R fog 14 % 4 (i)  Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the

JERIIREL -

Company attributable to the year.

R ZWFR T -=4F No final dividends were proposed after the end
i BRI M 2 R HARR of reporting periods of 2024 and 2023.
B o
Z HTRSEAF R AFE AL HE 1] (ii)  Profit distributions to minority shareholders of its
Bt 2 7] D BUR A i i 7Y subsidiaries attributable to the previous financial
IR - year, approved during the year:
—EMEF —E=F
2024 2023
ARBT T ARBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
mfft 8 A B DB Profit distributions to minority
EH R FE D IR shareholders of subsidiaries 32,538 14,591
FAIR BRI E AR D8 Profit distributions to minority shareholders of
REIEHAIFIED IR : its subsidiaries paid during the year:
e S 113 =%
2024 2023
ARETT ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
ElEYNEIEE Profit distributions to minority
YEH B FIE 5 K shareholders of subsidiaries 32,538 14,591
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

26 HEA - filfl RS (F) 26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(continued)
(c) JBA (¢) Share capital
i EEREETRAE (i)  Authorised and issued share capital
“ECmE ZT-=F
2024 2023
REE G
Number of 28 Numberof &8
shares Amount shares Amount
TR ARBTR T ARETET
‘000 RMB'000 '000 RMB'000
ZE Authorised:
W+=—A=+—H Ordinary shares of HKDO.1 each
BREBECETHERER  at 31 December 10,000,000 964,358 10,000,000 964,358
EETREACEEIK Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid:
R—RA—BR+=ZA=F—H At1Januaryand 31 December 1,016,189 97920 1,016,189 97,920
T RRFEARZAAQA The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to
TREIRZRERERAT] dividends as declared from time to time and
RERE EBERERIE— are entitled to one vote per share at general
T IBEEERRUAARZ meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares
FpEEMS =68 RZHE rank equally with regard to the Company's
A e residual assets.
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(i1)

S i B 2 A [ ff

Wi B AR B E(E
Ko AR R EELTRAD PR P
BRZANER - REMAS
BERRE - ARBRME
BB IR T AR B
R RERRAERRERS
DIKREE B - BReIE
EER—REFBIEZ 2]
&7 °

BOFEEZEARMERD R
FAEZBRMOBEEE A
B An AR R AR ©

AU

BRERBHEARFNE B
ABRGMBRAR R EH
MBS ([EA] - A2
A2 MNACE R IR R 31T
1,999,999 F AR E(H0.175
THERR - ERKEBRE
PR NACR IR LB - B
RAINACE AR 7S 48 %8 B
NGNS TR SR )
HENZRE  SREEEHR
BESGAMBHRERTNE
BFHEER ©
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BBHEPI - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

@)

(i)

Share premium and redemption reserve

The share premium represents the difference
between the par value of the shares of the
Company and proceeds received from the
issuance of the shares of the Company. Under
the Companies Law of Cayman Islands, the
share premium account of the Company
is distributable to the shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately following
the date on which the dividend is proposed
to be distributed, the Company would be in a
position to pay off its debt as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

Redemption reserve represents the historical
value of shares repurchased and held by the

trustee which are treated as treasury shares.

Merger reserve

Pursuant to the reorganisation plan of the
Group in preparation of the Company’s listing
in the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“the Reorganisation”), the
Company issued 1,999,999 ordinary shares
of HKDO.1 each to the then shareholders of
NAC in consideration of acquiring their equity
interests held in NAC. The difference between
the then shareholders’ total capital contributions
to NAC over the nominal value of the shares
issued by the Company in exchange thereof
was transferred to the merger reserve in the
consolidated financial statements as at the date

of Reorganisation.
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26 EA - MR E (48) 26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(continued)
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(d)

Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(iii)  PRC statutory reserves

Transfers from retained earnings to PRC
statutory reserves are made in accordance with
the relevant PRC rules and regulations and
the articles of association of the Company's
subsidiaries established in the PRC and were

approved by the respective boards of directors.

General reserve fund

The subsidiaries in the PRC are required to
appropriate 10 percent of their after-tax profit,
as determined in accordance with the PRC
accounting rules and regulations, to general
reserve fund until the reserve balance reaches
50 percent of the registered capital. The transfer
to this reserve must be made before distribution
of a dividend to shareholders.

Enterprise develooment fund

Certain subsidiaries in the PRC are required
to set up an enterprise development fund.
Transfers to this fund are made at the discretion
of the board of directors of the subsidiaries.
This fund can only be utilised on capital items
for the collective benefit of the subsidiaries’
employees such as the construction of
dormitories, canteens and other staff welfare
facilities. This fund is non-distributable other
than on liquidation. The transfer to this fund
must be made before distribution of a dividend

to shareholders.
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26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(continued)

(d)

(e)

()

Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(iv)  Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of
foreign subsidiaries outside of the PRC, and the
translation of intra-Group loans classified as net
investment in PRC subsidiaries.

Distributability of reserves

At 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount
of reserves available for distribution to equity
shareholders of the Company was approximately
RMB1,838,482,000 (2023: approximately
RMB1,833,320,000).

Capital management

The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base
S0 as to maintain creditor and market confidence and
to sustain future development of the business, by
pricing products and services commensurately with
the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a
reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a balance
between the higher shareholder returns that might
be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound
capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital
structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis
of a total liabilities-to-capital ratio. For this purpose,
capital is defined as total equity. In order to maintain
or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount
of dividends payable to shareholders, issue new
shares or return capital to shareholders.
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26 HEA - filfl RS (F) 26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(continued)

)  EAEE(H) (f)  Capital management (continued)
REZZEZMFER=ZZT==F+= Total liabilities-to-capital ratio at 31 December 2024
A=+—BzHafEmEERL K and 2023 was as follows:

LUNNE
e 122 ZT=F
2024 2023
ARET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
mEBE Current liabilities 1,079,364 1,111,299
SEMENBE Non-current liabilities 370,635 291,638
aE8eE Total liabilities 1,449,999 1,402,937
R Total equity 2,429,691 2,381,013
REBEEE AR Total liabilities-to-capital ratio 0.60 0.59
AR HEMB AR EEEEIN Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
EHEMAIE AT © subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
27 A 27 COMMITMENTS
RZZBZMFE+ = A =+ —HILRRER Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2024
B EMEIELBBEOEAAENAT ¢ not provided for in the consolidated financial statements

were as follows:

—EmEFE ZEC=F
2024 2023
ARET T AREETFTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
=EES] Contracted for
— B - BB MR — acquisition of property, plant and
equipment 45,114 70,827
EREERTA Authorised but not contracted for
—WEEYIZE - B AR — acquisition of property, plant and
equipment 93,814 227,107
138,928 297,934
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the related party information disclosed
elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group entered
into the following material related party transactions.

2R Y5k 7 44 1% % B B 5k 5 1) R 4 (a) Name and relationship with related parties
FR - BTIZEHTNRSEER
MRS

During the year, transactions with the following
parties are considered as related party transactions:

BN B8 EA A 7 I RBAMR
Name of party Relationships
Great Wall Enterprise Co., Ltd. (“GWE") AR A )

REKERBERDBRDF (KRR BED *

Great Wall International (Holdings) Ltd. (“GWIH")
AR B (FERR) B BR A & ([ARBEIRRD)

Great Wall Yung Huo Food (Beijing) Co., Ltd.

("GWYHB") bt R AR K FIE R A PR A 7 *

Total Nutrition Technologies Co., Ltd. (“TNT")
TREBRMRMARAR*

Tai Ji Food Co., Ltd. (“TJF")
BILEERmMBR AT

Beijing Universal Chain Food Co., Ltd. (“BUCF")
I RBHEFEHEBERBRA R

Great Wall Food (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (*GWF-TJ")
AR (RE)BRAF *

Ultimate holding company

PR A A

Intermediate holding company

ABRIBRHE (RR R B RAAERR A 7)) B H 8 2 7]
Subsidiary of GWE, ultimate holding company of
the Company

ABRIBREE (RR R RAAERRA R) B M 8 2 7]
Subsidiary of GWE, ultimate holding company of
the Company

ABRIBREE (R R B RAAERRA 7)) B M 8 2 7]
Subsidiary of GWE, ultimate holding company of
the Company

NP §=2 A= O NG e S 2li NI 1= NG
Subsidiary of GWE, ultimate holding company of
the Company

ARAKEIRR (AR R RN A R) BB R A
Subsidiary of GWIH, intermediate holding

company of the Company
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28 BRI A5 (4E) 28 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
(a) B 4 T K BBA Wk i R AR (a) Name and relationship with related parties (continued)
(%)
BN &2 EE AR 75 B B R
Name of party Relationships
DaChan Showa Foods (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (“DSF") ABEIER (AR R TR A R KK B A A
AKBARm (RE) BR AR Subsidiary of GWIH, intermediate holding

company of the Company

Great Wall FeedTech (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (“GWFT-BJ") RBCEIRR (AR RIEV AR MR A &) 9K R R
ANAGKEE BRI G ARAR* Subsidiary of GWIH, intermediate holding

company of the Company

Great Wall FeedTech (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (“GWFT-TJ") ARECEIRR (N2 RIAY R MMEAR A ) BT B A7)
ANAEGKEREE BRI () ARAE* Subsidiary of GWIH, intermediate holding

company of the Company

DaChan Liangyou Foods (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (“DLF-TJ") AR R 2 (AR RIH) SAAERL A R)) BB & A R
AKRKREm(KE)BRAR* Associate of GWE, ultimate holding company of

the Company

DaChan Liangyou Foods (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (“DLF-SH") RECRMMEE (R A RIERAIERR A B) RS A 7
AR EEm (8 BRAR* Associate of GWE, ultimate holding company of
the Company

Marubeni Corporation (“MAR") DR

Minority shareholder

Marubeni (Dalian) Co., Ltd. (“MAR-DL") Marubeni (A EHEER) BB E A A

Subsidiary of Marubeni, minority shareholder

Marubeni (Qingdao) Co., Ltd. (“MAR-QD") Marubeni (D) BIFTE A A

Subsidiary of Marubeni, minority shareholder
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28 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
8 W55 7 45 1% K BLBR W O i BE AR (a) Name and relationship with related parties (continued)
(4)
BN B8 EHREE S AR

Name of party

Relationships

Hansen Inc.

Dacheng Land Development Limited (“DLD")
RNt EZERGR A R*

Advent Prosperity Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
("APRD") REZREE I EREBR AR

Beijing Weixi Agriculture Development Co., Ltd.
("BJWX") LR EREERAR AT

Rupp & DaChan Foods (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (“RDF-TJ")
BERNKRm(RE)BRAR*

Mengcun Hui Autonomous County Construction
Investment Co., Ltd. (“"MCCI")
ANERBERBRE T RERIERRAA

Better Me Food Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (“"BMFT")
B ARRREH QLR AR AR

Beijing Beimi Food Technology Co., Ltd. (“BMFT-BJ")
IERERARMEHIER AR

TNT BIOTECHNOLOGY (TIANJIN) CO., LTD. (“TBCL-TJ")
RREVRHR(KR) ERAF

HERERE  BRELE  BRTFAENER
RAFEHRARZEHRBHIRA]

Mr. Han Jia-Hwan, Mr. Han Chia-Yin, Mr. Han
Chia-Yau and Mr. Harn Jia-Chen jointly own

100% interest of Hansen Inc.

Hansen Inc. 92 &M B A7)

Wholly-owned subsidiary of Hansen Inc.

B 8 2 B RO BgE i R ]

Associate of a subsidiary

B2 FAE 2 AT

Associate of a subsidiary

B8 & B RO Bgp i R ]

Associate of a subsidiary

MEARMERES

Investor of a subsidiary

BERRLLENB L AT

Associate of Mr. Han Jia-Hwan

BRESLENBLE AT

Associate of Mr. Han Jia-Hwan

ARBCRIB R EE (RR BB RAAERR A R) B f 8 2 7]
Subsidiary of GWE, ultimate holding company of
the Company
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

28 BRI A B (%) 28 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
(a) B 4 T K BBA Wk i R AR (a) Name and relationship with related parties (continued)
(%)
BN £ EE AR 75 B B R
Name of party Relationships
BEIJING FOOD CHINA ONLINE INFORMATION & KBRS (AR RIBVERAIE I A 7)) KBS A A
TECHNOLOGY LTD (“BJFC") Associate of GWE, ultimate holding company of
bR ERELRE BRI ER AR the Company
Great Wall FeedTech (Ningxia) Co., Ltd. (“GWFT-NX") KRB (KA BRFNIERAR) BB AT
EERPOKEEERMAR AR Subsidiary of GWIH, intermediate holding

company of the Company

- NEIBTENEEEEBESE - Z @ The English translation of the company names is for reference
FZRAREEBTBUARET ° only. The official names of these companies are in Chinese.
b) HEXBBIHTRS (b) Significant related party transactions
FRNERNBHB IR SHFEN Particulars of significant related party transactions
N during the year are as follows:
—E-mE —EC=F
2024 2023
AR®TF T AREEFIT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
HEEm Sales of goods 62,241 82,012
HIERA R E Purchases of material and goods 69,433 82,322
BERTE Management services 183 163
BiREHE SR Rental services provided 2,076 1,438
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28 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
FEAE P E A\ B4 (¢) Key management personnel remuneration
FTEEBEAENEERTLAEER Key management personnel are those persons having
FTEl - FBERIERIAEEEEN authority and responsibility for planning, directing
AB - TEEBREABNMEE and controlling the activities of the Group. The total
RRSIRAAE - remuneration of the key management personnel is
shown below:
—EMF =%
2024 2023
ARMET T ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
HHEREEF Short term employee benefits 4,843 4,744
RIRETEI LR Retirement scheme contributions 74 72
4,917 4,816
B st A TS TacA] (R Total remuneration was included in “staff costs” (see
F6(b)) ° note 6(b)).
JRRE VB I W iy ok Y (d) Amounts due from related parties
REREHR - AEEE AT EH As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had
T3 RS the following balances with related parties:
BiEE —EmEF ZE=F
Note 2024 2023
AR¥ET T ARBFIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
eI E SR Trade receivables (i) 2,522 3,501
H b fE U RIE Other receivables 11,334 5,800
13,856 9,301

() FEEEARERE SERTE
R R EREHR—FA
U e K== PFE+— A
=+—H  WEHZERE
EHBRREEE -

(i)  Trade receivables from related parties are
unsecured, interest free and are expected to
be recovered within one year. There was no
significant impairment loss made against these

amounts at 31 December 2024.
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JRE A B Wi 77 ik I

RIREIR - AEBH AT RIR
TT R

28 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
(e) Amounts due to related parties

As at the end of reporting period, the Group had the
following balances with related parties:

BosE —EEF T =4

Note 2024 2023

ARETT AREFT

RMB’000 RMB'000

FERTE SRR Trade payables (i) 7,081 7,987
HAb R FRIE Other payables 42,600 42,600
49,681 50,587

() EAETHENEBRNTIE
HH - 2R REMR—FR
&1t -

1 [5H BH 22 58 5 vy b v B 3 D

EXHINETAERRSHEK L
MRBIFE1AAZFT R EMRRER
HABEBERS - EMRAE
UABRENRESNEETSW
EIEERS ] -

ABEGH (35M) APFE2 ) DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

(i)  Trade payables to related parties are unsecured,
interest free and are expected to be paid or

settled within one year.

(f) Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to connected

transactions

Certain related party transactions listed above
constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules are provided in section
headed “Connected transactions” of the Report of
the Directors.
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

FAIR VALUES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and other
receivables, interest-bearing borrowings and trade payables
and other payables. Exposure to credit, interest rate,
currency, business, liquidity, and commodity price risks
arise in the normal course of the Group's business. The
Group is also exposed to equity price risk arising from

movements in its own equity share price.

The Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to

manage these risks are described below:

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty
will default on its contractual obligations resulting
in a financial loss to the Group. The Group's credit
risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables.
The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
cash and cash equivalents is limited because the
counterparties are banks and substantially all of the
Group's cash at bank are deposited in the reputable
banks which management assessed the credit risk to

be insignificant.
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29 < e B A B K% O SRR (B 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

FAIR VALUES (continued)
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(a)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country in which
the customers operate and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when
the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At the end of the reporting period,
11% (2023: 9%) and 18% (2023: 17%) of the total
trade receivables was due from the Group's largest

customer and the five largest customers respectively.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current
ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are due within 30-60 days
from the date of billing. Normally, the Group does not

obtain collateral from customers.
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29 Ll B A B K oy Ao fE AR (48 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(a) o B)EkE () (a) Credit risk (continued)

JEW B IR (#) Trade receivables (continued)

REBHEYE 5 R B R R The Group measures loss allowances for trade

HARERBEGFERHTERE receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,

BEEENESETE - HREE which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the

EEAE AEENELEEE Group's historical credit loss experience indicates

BEBRRITAEFPOBETREKXR significantly different loss patterns for different

TRBEER - ERa it customer segments, the loss allowance based on

BEEBREBEENAEETATSE past due status is further distinguished between the

RoEE—FRS - Group's different customer bases.

TEEREFRD AR EELE The Group distinguished the customers into 2 bases:

- B BEREELERE - Group 1: the clients in a normal operation
BWEP - status.

-  BH - AERYBEEK -  Group 2: the clients with significant financial
EEAWEREHNRS - difficulties or have entered bankruptcy.
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29 Sl A B K oy Ao fE AR (48 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(a) faB)EkE () (a) Credit risk (continued)
JEW BT S 5K (48) Trade receivables (continued)
TRHFHAREERERE 5 R The following table provides information about the
MEERBREEREEBEZE Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
#} o receivables.
—EF
2024
HIRMEE
TEEIETE R Gross EERE
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
% ARETT ARETT
% RMB’000 RMB’000
£—# Group 1
wE (REHR) Current (not past due) 0.4% 243,896 (1,029)
#HEI1=180H 1 - 180 days past due 8.8% 19,292 (1,698)
#mHR181E365H 181 — 365 days past due 74.4% 2,437 (1,813)
B HARIE365H More than 365 days past due 100.0% 4,509 (4,509)
270,134 (9,049)
2ol Browp2 SO -
270,134 (9,049)
TBHEEEERBE=FNER Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
EEEBRERTE  WREEL experience over the past 3 years. These rates are
SR W E SR A A EAR S © B AT adjusted to reflect differences between economic
B A A S B S R [ 3R R FE K conditions during the period over which the historic
HIEEN FRALBEMR N =8 2 [H data has been collected, current conditions and
HIZEREITHE the Group's view of economic conditions over the

expected lives of the receivables.
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29 < e B A B % O SRR (B 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

(a) R BB ()

FAIR VALUES (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

JEN B IR (48) Trade receivables (continued)
—Eo=F
2023
REREE
TEH s 1B R Gross EEREE
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
% AREFT ARKETTT
% RMB'000 RMB'000
£—#H Group 1
mEh (ki ER) Current (not past due) 0.5% 263,074 (1,423)
#HEI1E180H 1 - 180 days past due 4.7% 14,598 (690)
#mHR1812E365H 181 — 365 days past due 80.0% 51 (41)
B HARE365H More than 365 days past due 100.0% 4,838 (4,838)
282,561 (6,992)
oA BrouR2 25 (255)
282,816 (7,247)

—Z = Q4 F 3R Annual Report 2024

247



PR RAR MY

Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HEHEMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

29 Sl A B K oy Ao fE AR (48 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(a) faB)EkE () (a) Credit risk (continued)
JEW BT S 5K (48) Trade receivables (continued)
FR - REKESERREERE Movement in the loss allowance account in respect
R T ¢ of trade receivables during the year is as follows:
—ENF —Eo=F
2024 2023
ARMTT AREEFIT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
R—A—B&&EH Balance at 1 January 7,247 9,392
FREMEHFKIE Amounts written off during the year (541) (893)
FREER (BE)RE Recognised/(reversal) of impairment losses
E518 during the year 2,343 (1,252)
R+ A=+—Hi&ER Balance at 31 December 9,049 7,247
(b) WBE &E R (b) Liquidity risk
EEBRBESRRIE @ A& In the management of liquidity risk, the Group
EERTHBEREERRBEN monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
Re RRSZEWKFE  RAA equivalents deemed adequate by management to

SEMNEERTHES - WHRIER
HRERENDOTE - ARE
MW BHERBRBERRITER
URFES ERERBAM I E
MEFE  UnEAEEH RS

finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of short-term fluctuations in cash flows.
The Group's treasury department is responsible
for maintaining a balance between continuity and
flexibility of funding through the use of banking
facilities in order to meet the Group's liquidity

requirements.
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

i < ML B (%) (b) Liquidity risk (continued)
- 3 == E furaad . .
Z;Eg;fféfgﬁg%ﬂgwimli As disclosed in note 23(a), some of the Group's
RITARLVE IR 5a ) ek 1B . , _
. N banking facilities are subject to the fulfilment of
5 o RARBEREERE B covenagnts Some of thOS(i, relating to the Group's
SROMESLERTHN - & ovenants. Some ol gto P
EERS RN BT RE financial metrics which are tested semi-annually, as
B o 1ﬁ$$é&§é%‘% R are commonly found in lending arrangements with
Thug s BB S (R o N 2 (B 7 ST financial institutions. If the Group were to breach the
2 A R 8 B A covenants, the related loans would become payable
2o BANSREHRRDEAIER on demand. The Group did not identify any difficulties
PHZERITERNZHAZER complying with the covenants. Information about
BRTX: the covenants for those bank loans classified as non-
current at the end of the reporting period is set out
below:
B KM 5 LB EE i
Loans Carrying amount Covenants Timing to comply
with the covenants
“TomE  ZB-=F
2024 2023
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR
RERT 236,074 229021 fERABRR  EERERAGEEESE rE
United Overseas The borrower shall ensure that during each relevant period through the term  Semi-annually
Bank of the loan:
() EHERRERAEFE(CEAESRENRE - SH  AACHER
X - RENAE - RLERERROEERAERELERETHE
BE) RRRER 2 B R EER 365
(il Total debt to the sum of net tangible assets(defined as total equity less
goodwill, patent, capitalized research and development expenditures,
other intangible assets, operating lease right-of-use assets related to
land use right and deferred tax assets) and subordinated debt shall be
less than 1.3 times
i) BREEERESM.2MEG
(i) Debt service coverage ratio shall be higher than 1.2 times
PEERANERR - EETERAMNES BB -
The corporate guarantor shall ensure that during each relevant period
throughout the term of the loan:
) AEENEREEFEESNAKE,600,000,0007T
(il Net tangible assets of the Group shall be higher than RMB 1,600,000,000
i) AEBEHERRREEHELERENS
(i) Total debt to net tangible assets ratio of the Group shall be less than 0.80
MElERRIT 24,440 - ) RBEEERR100% TE
CTBC Bank (il Current ratio shall be greater than 100% Semi-annually

(i
fi
(i
(i

(iv)
fiv)

(B ER A E R AL R EEN56%

Total debt to total asset ratio shall be less than 56%

BHE B EREHMBNER SR E RIS

Ratio of earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation to
interest expense shall be higher than 3

®EEFERSN ARE1,500,000,0007C

Net tangible assets shall be higher than RMB1,500,000,000
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29 Sl A B K oy Ao fE AR (48 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(b) BN S JEFE () (b) Liquidity risk (continued)
TREFMPRE AR EE KA The following table details the remaining contractual
NEIBR TR HRE LM REEE maturities at the end of reporting period of the
REREBFAEZHEITEEHAR Group's and the Company’s non-derivative
(BIERENMEFEOTER financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
15 - MEFEAE - Bl RS undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
HRMEFE) - RAKERAR computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based
AIENHRFEAH on rates current at the end of reporting period) and

the earliest date the Group and the Company can be
required to pay:

—EComE
2024

BRER
BRRE —FUE MEALE
MELE —FRs  BORME  BOREEF
Total  RER{EE  Morethan  More than
SREE  contractual Within 1 year 2 years
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or but less but less
amount cashflow ondemand than2years thanb5 years

ARBTRE  ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

-4 Loans 567,237 581,566 241,583 126,218 213,765
BB ZER Trade payables 445,873 445,873 445,873 - -
Hib 58 Other payables 376,365 376,365 376,365 - -
HERE Lease Liabilities 30,643 52,894 3,557 2,761 46,576

1,420,118 1,456,698 1,067,378 128,979 260,341

250  Km&S (M) BRAF DaChan Food (Asia) Limited



29 il A BE e 4 e (RAE (A)

(b)

(c)

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

//

B RS Rk M

Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHMBIN - UARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

it B & 4 B () (b) Liquidity risk (continued)
“T-=F
2023
BRMR
HERE —FNUE ME L
mERE —ERy%  BLRWE  BIRDE
Total  RERER More than More than
EEILE contractual Within 1 year 2 years
Carrying  undiscounted 1 year or but less but less
amount cash flow ondemand  than2years  than5years
ARBTL  ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
- Loans 530,079 575,709 292,804 135,628 147,277
EHESES Trade payables 506,995 506,995 506,995 = =
HAb IR Other payables 308,744 308,744 308,744 = =
HEaE Lease Liabilities 31,025 54,696 3,120 2,623 48,953
1,376,843 1,446,144 1,111,663 138,251 196,230
2 Il kg (c) Interest rate risk

AEENXRERTIZREFTRE
E o U BN R REEN KRR
MIEENRIEARBERERS
MENERER LA EENEE

(G
AA

o

A B B BRI R R
HHEBRHI 23 - KRBT
AR E S IEL Tk Ere)
STERBHER -

The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from
interest-bearing borrowings. Borrowings issued at
variable rates and at fixed rates expose the Group to
cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest rate

risk respectively.

The interest rates and terms of repayment of
the interest-bearing borrowings of the Group are
disclosed in note 23. The Group's floating interest

rate borrowings are exposed to a risk of change in

cash flows due to changes in interest rates.

— = —

—
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29 Sl A B K oy Ao fE AR (48 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(c)  MIERJEFE (%) (c) Interest rate risk (continued)

RZB-_NME+=—A=+—8 -
FEFIREEEENNI00EEZ R E
MEHRFTENHET - A%
ERBR B m T B FRFIR D
HARH2,809,241 0 (ZFE ==
F: AK#¥1,801,5387L) °
it RAEENBERFN - 8
fRA R K E A3 M TS AR RS
@,

ERGUERMEDHT T RR AR EF)
ERBERRELLEANE
FENTERFTESRTA
P A RO R R EL R i /B HS o A0
100EEH REREHEET —
EREHMENEEA LR BN
FHl o AT ESER — T — = F4F
A o

it

REBABDELEWRANELE
NARKETRS - MARED
BEEREBRAING - MBS RA
REMINERZEBETEAR
RITREREEEINE O
BT ©

ABEGH (35M) APFE2 ) DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

At 31 December 2024, it is estimated that a general
increase of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, would have decreased
the Group's profit after tax and retained profits by
approximately RMB2,809,241 (2023: RMB1,801,538),
and there is no impact on other components of the
consolidated equity, except for retained profits of the

Group.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the end of reporting period and had been
applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for both
derivative and non-derivative financial instruments
in existence at that date. The 100-basis point
increase represents management’s assessment of
a reasonably possible change in interest rates over
the period until the next annual reporting period. The

analysis is performed on the same basis for 2023.

Currency risk

Majority of the revenue-generating operations of
the Group are transacted in RMB, which is not
freely convertible into foreign currencies. All foreign
exchange transactions involving RMB must take
place through the People’s Bank of China or other
institutions authorised to buy and sell foreign

currencies.
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(d) Currency risk

@)

Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group's exposure
at the end of reporting period to currency risk
arising from recognised assets or liabilities
denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the entity to which they
relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts
of the exposure are shown in RMB, translated
using the spot rate at the year end date.

SNESRE 5 R BRI (UARE T T251)
Exposure to foreign currencies

(expressed in thousands of Renminbi)

—E-MmE
2024

ESp AREE BT

USsD RMB HKD

R MIREEEY  Cashand cash equivalents 141 4,112 1,250
EREENKEAME  Net exposure arising from

ELEZFRBAE  recognised assets and
liabilities 141 4,112 1,250

—Z = Q4 F 3R Annual Report 2024
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29 <ol B A BE B 4 S (RAE ()

d) BWEkE (48)

G)  EEE AR ()

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

FAIR VALUES (continued)

(d)

Currency risk (continued)

@)

Exposure to currency risk (continued)

HNESTE B & E AARET T2
Exposure to foreign currencies

(expressed in thousands of Renminbi)

—E-=F
2023
=T AREE I
usD RMB HKD
BEMIREEEY  Cash and cash equivalents 94 898 1,225
DHEREENEAE  Net exposure arising from
EEZFRBAYE  recognised assets and
liabilities 94 898 1,225
(i) T (ii)  Sensitivity analysis

TE - BRAE A
RRBUERTE - RS
R AR E SRR
PORE A T - 3
{7 92 1 B4 1 98
FI (R BAERF) 4 B2
B - SRE ST REALE
DRI - TR
BT SR B P R M LA
B A A -

ABEGH (35M) APFE2 ) DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

The following table indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group's loss or profit after
tax (and retained profits) that would arise if
foreign exchange rates to which the Group has
significant exposure at the end of reporting
period had changed at that date, assuming all
other risk variables remained constant. The
sensitivity analysis includes balances between
Group entities where the denomination of
the balances is in a currency other than the
functional currencies of the lender or the

borrower.
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29 < e B A B % O SRR (B 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

FAIR VALUES (continued)

d) B EkE () (d)

Currency risk (continued)

(i) HUESET (4B)

(ii) ~ Sensitivity analysis (continued)

—ZTME —To=F
2024 2023

HERBZ HERBIE
= iy )N S i M K2
EH (T BEER EF(RFE) BEAN
Increase/ 0% Increase/ 2
(decrease) Effect on profit (decrease) Effect on profit
in foreign after tax and in foreign after tax and

exchange rate

retained profits

exchange rate

retained profits

I usD 5% 6 5% 5
(5)% (6) (5)% (5)

AR RMB 5% 174 5% 40
(5)% (174) (5)% (40)

BT HKD 5% 63 5% 61
(5)% (63) (5)% (61)

ERZFNNDHRAEER
AlEZE B MIRE R B
BRI IR NS 18 i e -
R E2H RN R EHR
EEMEMERBE S AR
WRTE R AT E -

BRI DT T R AR R B )
SESAREBFEMNIE
P14 T B HFE R R BRAE -
R P E b B (S ERZF
) MRTEMED o ST
EER T = = FHR o

B

Results of the analysis as presented in the above
table represent an aggregation of the instantaneous
effects on each of the Group entities’ profit or loss
after tax and equity measured in the respective
functional currencies, translated into RMB at the
exchange rate ruling at the end of reporting period for
presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in
foreign exchange rates had occurred at the end of
reporting period and had been applied to each of the
Group entities’ exposure to currency risk for non-
derivative financial instruments in existence at that
date, and that all other variables, in particular interest
rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on
the same basis for 2023.

—Z = Q4 F 3R Annual Report 2024
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(e)

ABEGH (35M) APFE2 ) DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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MEREREF  EEREAKE
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SRR & E PR £ ERE BRNE
RIREN T SR AR o

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

FAIR VALUES (continued)

(e)

Business risk

The Group is exposed to financial risks arising
from changes in prices of livestock and livestock's
agricultural produce and the change in cost and supply
of feed ingredients, all of which are determined by
constantly changing market forces of supply and
demand, and other factors. The other factors include
environmental regulations, weather conditions and
livestock diseases. The Group has little or no control
over these conditions and factors.

The Group is subject to risks relating to its ability
to maintain animal health status. Livestock health
problems could adversely impact production and
consumer confidence. The Group monitors the health
of its livestock on a regular basis and has procedures
in place to reduce potential exposure to infectious
diseases. Although policies and procedures have
been put into place, there is no guarantee that the

Group will not be affected by epidemic diseases.

The Group manages its exposure to fluctuation in the
price of the key raw materials used in the operations
by maintaining a large number of suppliers so as to

limit high concentration in a particular supplier.
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(BBHEPI - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

®

(9]

Commodity price risk

The Group is exposed to price risks arising from
any unexpected increase in the prices of corn and
soybean meal commodities before committing to
purchase of raw materials and any unexpected
decreases in the prices of corn and soybean meal
commodities following completion of purchases.
To protect the Group from the impact of price
fluctuations in corn and soybean meal commodities,
commodity derivative contracts are entered into
with independent futures trading agents. Changes
in the fair value of commodity derivative contracts
that economically hedge the price fluctuations in
corn and soybean meal commodities and for which
no hedge accounting is applied are recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

Fair value measurement

(1)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

In accordance with IFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurement, the Group defines the three
levels of fair value hierarchy. The level into
which a fair value measurement is classified is
determined with reference to the observability
and significance of the inputs used in the

valuation technique as follows:

—Z = Q4 F 3R Annual Report 2024
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ABEGH (35M) APFE2 ) DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

FAIR VALUES (continued)

(g) Fair value measurement (continued)

(1)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

(continued)

° Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured
using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the

measurement date

° Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured
using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable
inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not
using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which

market data are not available

° Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured

using significant unobservable inputs

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2024, there were no transfers between Level
1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level
3. The Group's policy is to recognise transfers
between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the
end of the reporting period in which they occur.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

30

FAIR VALUES (continued)

(g) Fair value measurement (continued)

@) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
carried at other than fair value. The carrying
amounts of the Group’s and the Company's
financial assets and liabilities carried at cost or
amortised cost are not materially different from
their fair values as at 31 December 2024 and
2023.

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:
(i)  Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less estimated costs of completion and distribution
expenses. These estimates are based on the current
market condition and historical experience of selling
products of similar nature. It could change significantly
as a result of changes in customer preference and
competitor actions in response to severe industry
cycles. Management reassesses these estimations
at the end of reporting period to ensure inventory is
shown at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
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(ii)

(iii)

ABEGH (35M) APFE2 ) DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Impairment of trade receivables (continued)

The Group estimates impairment losses for bad
and doubtful debts resulting from inability of the
customers to make the required payments. The
estimate is based on the ageing of the trade
receivable balance, customer creditworthiness,
and historical write-off experience. If the financial
conditions of the customers were to deteriorate,

actual write-offs would be higher than estimated.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group reviews the carrying amounts of the
property, plant and equipment at the end of each
reporting period to determine whether there is
objective evidence of impairment. When indication
of impairment is identified, management prepares
discounted future cashflow to assess the differences
between the carrying amount and value in use and
provided for impairment loss. Any change in the
assumptions adopted in the cash flow forecasts
would increase or decrease in the provision of the
impairment loss and affect the Group’s net asset

value.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(iv) Income tax

v)

Determining income tax provisions involves
judgement on the future tax treatment of certain
transactions. The Group carefully evaluates tax
implications of transactions and tax provisions
are set up accordingly. The tax treatment of such
transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into
account all changes in tax legislations. Deferred tax
assets are recognised for tax losses not yet used and
temporary deductible differences. As those deferred
tax assets can only be recognised to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the unused tax credits can be utilised,
management’s judgement is required to assess the
probability of future taxable profits. Management's
assessment is constantly reviewed, and additional
deferred tax assets are recognised if it becomes
probable that future taxable profits will allow the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Determining the lease term

As explained in policy note 3(c), the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term. In determining
the lease term at the commencement date for
leases that include renewal options exercisable by
the Group, the Group evaluates the likelihood of
exercising the renewal options taking into account
all relevant facts and circumstances that create
an economic incentive for the Group to exercise
the option, including favourable terms, leasehold
improvements undertaken and the importance of that
underlying asset to the Group's operation. The lease
term is reassessed when there is a significant event
or significant change in circumstance that is within
the Group’s control. Any increase or decrease in the
lease term would affect the amount of lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets recognised in future years.
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31 2] A IR D 31 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
iiE=s 122 ZE=F
Note 2024 2023
ARET T AREFIT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
EREBEE Non-current assets
AT B AR B E Investments in subsidiaries 1,845,760 1,818,620
UL BT /B A B FRIA Amounts due from subsidiaries 478,029 471,000
2,323,789 2,289,620
mEEE Current assets
Hth eI GRIE Other receivables 516 317
JEL BAHS: 5 SRR Amounts due from related parties 10,837 9,368
ReERRSEEY Cash and cash equivalents 4,357 5,029
15,710 14,714
RBARG Current liabilities
H b S 5/I8 Other payables 5,445 5,937
ATEEE Interest-bearing borrowings 104,692 190,964
JIE 1~ A 5 50E Amounts due to related parties 8,397 8,274
118,534 205,175
RBEERE  Netcurrentliabilites = (102824) (190,461)
AEREARBAE  Total assets less current liabilities =~~~ 2,220,965 2,099,159
E15 k0 h=F Non-current liabilities
FFEEE Interest-bearing borrowings 95,534 24,789
AN NG S Amount due to subsidiaries 189,029 143,130
____________________________________________________________________________________ 284,563 167919
BEFE Net assets 1,936,402 1,931,240
ERR G Capital and reserves 26(a)
%N Share capital 97,920 97,920
& Reserves 1,324,120 1,295,635
BIF & Retained profits 514,362 537,785
R Total equity 1,936,402 1,931,240

262 K& (M) B2 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BBHEPI - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE HOLDING
COMPANY

At 31 December 2024, the immediate parent and ultimate
controlling party of the Group are Waverley Star Limited
and GWE respectively, which are incorporated in BVI and

the Republic of China respectively.

GWE, which is listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange,
produces consolidated financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the
Republic of China, which are available for public use.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT
YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2024

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
IASB has issued a number of new or amended standards,
which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December
2024 and which have not been adopted in these financial
statements. These developments include the following

which may be relevant to the Group.

ETHE#HHEE
FIRE AR A
Effective for
accounting periods

beginning on or after

BIFR &S ERIFE 2158 (BRTAS)

 EF BB

27488 .
i

= R

Amendments to IAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates

—E-RF—-H—H
1 January 2025

— Lack of exchangeability
BIRR BTG S AR 95R (1R A) » 5 T A RBIBRMEHRELERNE7R - 2F LA - —ERF—HA—H

BE—H 2T A BT E81EET

Amendments to IFRS 9, Financial instruments and IFRS 7, Financial instruments:

1 January 2026

disclosures — Amendments to the classification and measurement of financial

instruments

—Z = Q4 F 3R Annual Report 2024
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(BRE=EEBH - UARKETTE5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

33 CHEffERREE_F T YE
+ZH=+—HILEEAERMN
fE5T ~ Pral e [ &2 B ¥ £

S ()

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT
YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2024 (continued)

ETHBEHHHEE
FamET BB AN
Effective for
accounting periods

beginning on or after

BRPEREEANFERE-F11E

Annual improvements to IFRS — Volume 11

BIBREA TS R ELERIF 185 - A IEHK A E 5 R IEE

IFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial statements

BRI TS 3REERISE195% - FF

IFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public accountability. disclosures

AEBEHAZSENBERY L ER
HRAMERNTE - E5AEEEM
BERAZFERL T KRS 4R A B 75
BREKBRT BN °

ABEGH (35M) APFE2 ) DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

FTEAENIBLA] - HFE

—E-RF—HA—H
1 January 2026

—ZE_+F—H—H
1 January 2027

—T-+F—HF—H
1 January 2027

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these developments is expected to be
in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant

impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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Corporate Information

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei (Chairman)
Mr. Han Chia-Yin

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Han Chia-Yau

Mr. Harn Jia-Chen

Mr. Han Jia-Hwan

Mr. Chao Tien-Shin

Mr. Wei Anning

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Ting Yu-Shan

Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan

Ms. Lee Tsai, Yu-Ling

Mr. Kao Koong-Lian

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Mr. Ting Yu-Shan (Chairman)
Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan

Ms. Lee Tsai, Yu-Ling

Mr. Kao Koong-Lian

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan (Chairman)

Mr. Han Chia-Yau

Mr. Harn Jia-Chen

Mr. Ting Yu-Shan

Ms. Lee Tsai, Yu-Ling

Mr. Kao Koong-Lian

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Ms. Lee Tsai, Yu-Ling (Chairman)

Mr. Harn Jia-Chen

Mr. Han Jia-Hwan

Mr. Ting Yu-Shan

Mr. Hsia Li-Yan

Mr. Kao Koong-Lian
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Windward 3, Regatta Office Park

PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

ABEGH (35M) APFE2 ) DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei (Chairman)
Mr. Han Chia-Yin

Mr. Lan Yung Hsu

Mr. Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Cho Yi Ping

LEGAL ADVISER
Wong & Tang Solicitors
Units 2001-2, 2012&2310,
20/F & 23/F, CC Wu Building,
302-308 Hennessy Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong

AUDITORS

KPMG

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with the
Accounting and Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building, 10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
1 Queen’s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park
PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108

Cayman Islands
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Suntera (Cayman) Limited
Royal Bank House — 3rd Floor,
24 Shedden Road,

P.0O. Box 1586, Grand Cayman,
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3% © +86-10-59047700

{5 : +86-10-59070176

FEH# : investors@dachan.com.cn
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Corporate Information

PRINCIPAL OFFICE IN HONG KONG
Suite 1806, Tower 1, The Gateway
25 Canton Road, Tsimshatsui,

Kowloon, Hong Kong

HEAD OFFICE IN THE PRC
Room 401, 4th Floor,

Office Tower C, Vanton Center,

No.6 Chaowai Street,

Chaoyang District,

Beijing 100020, China

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE
Suntera (Cayman) Limited

Royal Bank House — 3rd Floor,

24 Shedden Road,

P.O. Box 1586, Grand Cayman,

KY1-1110, Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE
Tricor Investor Services Limited

17/F, Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

WEBSITE

www.dfa3999.com

STOCK CODE
3999

INVESTOR RELATIONS

For enquiries relating to investor relations, please contact:
Senior Manager of Investor Relations

Tel: +86-10-59047700

Fax:+86-10-59070176

E-mail: investors@dachan.com.cn
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Five Years Financial Summary

BE+tZA=T-BLEFE

For the year ended 31 December

268

—E-_ME —T-=EFE —ZT--— 2% CZEZE-THF

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

BERANRRKBET) Turnover (RMB million) 5,835 6,419 6,195 9,350 9,279

EFAREBET) Gross profit (RMB million) 733 663 681 819 1,026

EHE (%) Gross profit margin (%) 12.6 10.3 11.0 8.8 111
FERFH/ (B8) Profit/(loss) for the year

(AR¥BET) (RMB million) 84 75 122 200 304

B/ (85) & (%) Net profit/(loss) margin (%) 1.45 117 1.98 2.14 3.27

ARFRRELSF,/ (B1B)  Profit/lloss) attributable to owners of

(AREBETL) the Company (RMB million) 59 47 92 155 203
SREN/ (E#) Earnings/(loss) per share

—ER(ARET) - basic (RMB) 0.06 0.05 0.09 0.15 0.20

o ION o - diluted (RMB) 0.06 0.05 0.09 0.15 0.20

Rt=A=+—H
At 31 December

—EoNE —T-=fF —T--F —T--F <-—ZT-FTE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

ARBEER AREBET AREBEET ARKBET AREKRER

RMB million RMB million RMB million  RMB million  RMB million

BEFE Net assets 2,430 2,381 2,323 2,270 2,272

BEME Total assets 3,880 3,784 3,571 3,441 4,329

IR ER Non-controlling interest 259 266 252 272 431

BfE%E Total liabilities 1,450 1,403 1,248 1,172 2,057

ABEGH (35M) APFE2 ) DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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